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09:00 – 11:00       Council  Meeting(Council Members Only)

11:00 – 11:20  Annual General Meeting (Chamber Members Only)
   
      Apologies
  Confirmation of Minutes
  Auditors Report     
  Confirmation of Auditors 
        Date and Place of Next Meeting
  Adjournment
   

11:30  Annual General Meeting (Chamber Members & Guests)
   
  Welcome Address :   Mr. Alfred Baku, 1st Vice President
    Solidarity Messages : Partners
  Remarks :   Mr. Sulemanu Koney, Chief Executive Officer
   Presidential Address :  Mr. Eric Asubonteng, President
  Keynote Address :  Hon. Samuel Abu Jinapor, MP, 
                 Minister, Ministry of Lands & Natural Resources 
  Closing Remarks : Mr. Eric Asubonteng, President
  Vote of Thanks :  Mr. Terence Watungwa, 2nd Vice President
  Media Interactions : Mr. Sulemanu Koney, Chief Executive Officer

Friday 4th June, 2021

93rd Annual General Meeting 

 “Positioning Ghana as a 
mining support services hub”       
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At the onset of 2020, there was widespread optimism 
in the global mining industry as the preceding year 
had heralded positive expectations. Fast forward to 
December 2020 and all that optimism had been 
replaced by a not-so-kind headwind resulting from 
the global pandemic. The prospects that the industry 
had hoped for were clearly punctured by a force of 
nature and, perhaps, a lag in planning. In response, 
mining companies all over the world kicked in to gear 
t h e i r  r e s p e c t i v e  b u s i n e s s  c o n t i n u i t y  a n d 
sustainability protocols to ensure the viability of their 
operations. Covid-19 had drastically impacted 
business projections and expectations, leaving many 
sectors reeling in its wake.

In the wake of the challenges presented by both the 
global pandemic and the business environment 
during the year, the Secretariat of the Chamber 
leveraged its pursuit of collaborations and 
partnerships to ensure that our members operated 
without much difficulty. This was highlighted in the 
mining industry being considered an essential sector 
for which reason the industry was allowed to operate 
during the pandemic induced lockdown announced by 
H.E. President Nana Akufo-Addo. Member companies 
continued to be focused on playing their role in the 
inclusive development of the country through their 
fiscal contributions to the State, spawning and 
providing business opportunities to local producers 
and suppliers of inputs as well as increased social 
investment in host communities. We were not going 
to be bogged down by the pandemic!

We at the Chamber are particularly pleased with the 
increasing expenditure by member companies 
towards social investments across the country and 
this includes both producing companies and mine 
support service providers. These expenditures go 
into infrastructure projects such as roads, 
healthcare, water, sanitation and educational 
facilities as well as socioeconomic interventions 
focused on livelihood empowerment. The painstaking 
processes adopted by members in rolling out 
community support initiatives meet global standards 
and could have yielded greater results if the 
statutory part of mineral royalties returned to the 
communities from the State was substantial enough 
and delivered in good time to complement the 
investments made by member companies in the year 
under review.

As we have highlighted on countless occasions, the 
Chamber will continue to play its role in providing 
leadership to shape more effectively, the dynamics 
and progressive changes in the linkages between the 
non-mining and minerals sectors of the Ghanaian 
economy. This we believe is crucial to building an 
integrated economy that offers greater value to all 
players and citizens alike. Our abiding desire is to 
assist in our collective quest to optimise the benefits 
of mining for our country and investors whilst 
working with our members and regulators to ensure 
that mine operations are not only safe but done in a 
responsible manner.

Among the many initiatives that the Chamber 
pursued in 2020 is  the commencement of 
disbursements from the Tertiary Education Fund 
after it was launched in 2019. Members contributed 
generously to begin implementing the activities that 
were earmarked as support for the University of 
Mines and Technology (UMaT) and it gives me great 
pleasure to note that due to the funding received in 
2020 from our members, the respective projects are 
underway to support teaching, research and 
learning at UMaT. It is heart-warming that whilst 

A MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Sulemanu Koney
Chief Executive Offier
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members are focused on boosting production, they 
are also interested in developing the human capital 
and the capacity of our workforce trained by our 
institutions of higher learning. I stand in the stead of 
the beneficiary students and faculty members of 
UMaT to commend member companies for the 
support extended through the TEF. 

The Chamber also embarked on a very important 
study to develop modalities to position Ghana as a 
mining support services hub in West Africa. The 
study is expected to map out the competitive 
advantage that Ghana has over other countries and 
to make recommendations to build and sustain the 
support services companies to provide inputs to the 
mining sector in the sub-region competitively. 
Harnessing opportunit ies that the African 
Continental Free trade Area presents, requires that 
we build resilient regional value chains around 
strategic sectors such as mining, which has become 
the bulwark in West Africa in the last few years. It is 
our considered view that the study will be the 
Chamber’s contribution to give sustainable 
competitive advantage to Ghana. I wish to commend 
the evaluation panel that reviewed the bids. It is our 
expectation that the final outcome will be one that 
can become a blueprint to support the government’s 
agenda for national development.

Due to the pandemic, the Secretariat’s engagement 
with key stakeholders in the regions was curtailed. 
Further to this, a number of online programmes 
were held to make up for the lack of face-to-face 
interactions. The situation forced the Chamber to 
postpone the 2020 West Africa Mining and Power 
Conference and Exhibition. As you are aware, the 
2021 edition had to be held online due to the need to 
adhere to the Covid-19 protocols. It is our 
expectation that with the ongoing vaccination, the 
Chamber will be able to organise the next edition of 
the Ghana Mining and Energy Summit, a flagship 
event for the mining and energy sectors in 2022.  

Such interactive platforms are key to educating the 
populace on developments in the mining sector and 
related national issues. It is the expectation of the 
leadership of the Chamber that the Secretariat will 
continue to roll out its roadshows in the coming 
years to educate the public about the mining 
industry and to showcase the sustainable operations 
of member companies. 

On this note, I want to express our profound 
appreciation to all our partners – both close and 
remote – for staying true to our bonds of partnership 
and collaboration that we have leveraged for the 
growth and development of the mining industry even 
in challenging times. We know that sometimes, our 
demands can be overwhelming, but we are grateful 
that you all favour mutual respect over any form of 
acrimonious working relationship. The Chamber 
remains committed to working with you all, 
particularly: The Ministry of Lands and Natural 
Resources, the Ministry of Environment, Science, 
Technology and Innovation, the Ministry of Finance, 
The Minerals Commission, the Environmental 
Protection Agency, the Bank of Ghana, Ghana 
Revenue Authority, Water Resources Commission, 
the Forestry Commission, the Ghana MineWorkers’ 
Union, Civil Society Organisations and our media 
partners. 

In the midst of a challenging global and local 
environment, the Chamber continued to receive 
unfettered support from its member companies. As 
I conclude, permit me to commend our President, 
Mr. Eric Asubonteng, and the other members of the 
Executive Committee as well as the Council for their 
support and guidance throughout the year. As we are 
wont to say, the Chamber derives its strength from 
its member companies, which is why we rely on our 
experts from within to help solve industry 
challenges. A huge gratitude goes out to the 
Chairpersons and members of the various 
committees of the Chamber for their support for our 
work. 

For the selfless staff of the Chamber’s Secretariat 
who are the engines propelling our programmes, 
let’s keep putting in the time and the invaluable 
effort. I believe I can continue to count on your 
cooperation and support as we collectively 
endeavour to create a progressive Chamber that 
spearhead the transformation of Ghana’s mining 
industry.

Do stay safe!

Thank you

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2020

11





PRESIDENTIAL ADDRESS

Eric Asubonteng
President

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2020

13

Introduction 
I bring you greetings from the membership of 
the Ghana Chamber of Mines on the occasion of 
the 93rd Annual General Meeting (AGM). It is 
my pleasure to present to you the Chamber’s 
annual report for 2020 and expectations for the 
years ahead. The impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on global economic activities 
stagnated growth and forced many companies 
into a downward spiral. Data available shows 
that the level of recession experienced in 2020 
is only outdone by what the world encountered 
during the two world wars and the great 
depression. 

Generally, the decline in the gross domestic 
product (GDP) of developed economies by 4.7 
per cent in 2020 affected the global economy 
adversely. However, increases in exports, 
government spending and private investments 
in China contributed immensely to the country’s 
growth of 2.3 per cent in 2020 albeit at a slower 
rate than that of the preceding year. 

In Africa, countries whose economies are built 
around hydrocarbons, non-precious metals and 
tourism, recorded negative growth rates whilst 
those with agriculture or precious metals-
oriented economies recorded modest growth. 
The world witnessed the near collapse in crude 
oil prices and the attendant reduction in exports 
across the year due to the pandemic. Obviously, 
Ghana was not left out of the challenges as the 
overall real value of measured economic 
activity in Ghana increased marginally from 
GH�165.30 billion in 2019 to GH�165.99 
billion in 2020, which translates into a 0.4 per 
cent growth. 

Production
The performance of Ghana’s minerals sector 
was muted in 2020 compared to the preceding 
year. The total volume of gold produced in-
country declined from 4.577 million ounces in 
2019 to 4.023 million ounces in 2020. Ghana 
continued to hold on to its position as the largest 
producer of gold in Africa and the sixth in the 
world even though the country recorded a 
decline in output by 12.1 per cent. Ghana’s 

closest rival and long-term leading producer, 
South Africa, also recorded a 13.7 per cent 
decline in production at 91 tonnes and remained 
in second place on the continent and tenth 
globally. 

It was not all gloomy on the continent, as 
Ghana’s West Africa neighbours, Burkina Faso, 
recorded a 19 per cent increase in production to 
74 tonnes on the back of increased production 
levels by that country’s leading gold producers. 
Permit me to state that whereas the decline in 
Ghana’s  product ion was because of  a 
combination of domestic issues and COVID-19-
related factors, that of South Africa was mainly 
due to structural problems related to declining 
grades, curtailment in the supply of electricity 
and the high cost of accessing ore bodies in deep 
mines. Africa’s production accounted for 21 per 
cent of global mine production in 2020 
(according to S&P). 

The 12.1% decline in production in Ghana is the 
highest year-on-year decline since 2004. While 
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the large-scale sub-sector dropped by 4.8 per 
cent to 2.847 million ounces in 2020, the small-
scale sector fell by 26 per cent from 1.588 
million ounces in 2019 to 1.175 million ounces in 
2020. A positive note, however, was the 
commencement of production at the Obuasi 
Mine of AngloGold Ashanti and growth in the 
output at Gold Fields’ operations as well as the 
Wassa Mine of Golden Star Resources.   

In a marked departure from past years, the 
volume of manganese produced by Ghana’s sole 
producer, Ghana Manganese Company, declined 
from 5.383 million tonnes in 2019 to 2.358 
million tonnes in 2020. The 56.2 per cent drop in 
p r o d u c t i o n  w a s  p r i m a r i ly  d u e  t o  t h e 
government’s directive to stop the company’s 
operation in the year under review, resulting in 
the suspension of manganese production in the 
first quarter of 2020. For diamonds, the 
downward trend in the purchases continued 
unabated due to the suspension of production by 
t h e  o n ly  l a r g e - s c a l e  p r o d u c e r,  G r e a t 
Consolidated Diamond Company. In essence, 
diamond purchases in 2020 reduced by 25.1 per 
cent to 25,292 carats from 33,789 carats in 
2019.  Additionally, Ghana’s sole producer of 
bauxite, the Ghana Bauxite Company, recorded a 
4.1 per cent improvement in its output. The 
expansion in the shipment of bauxite from 1.116 
million tonnes in 2019 to 1.162 million tonnes in 
2020 was principally due to an improvement in 
its operational activities. 

In terms of exploration expenditure in Africa, 
planned investments in gold exploration 
projects took a dip to USD 590 million in 2020 
compared to the USD 615.9 million in 2019. 
Ghana dropped from second position to fourth in 
2020 behind her West Africa counterparts - 
Cote D’Ivoire, Burkina Faso and Mali – in 
planned exploration expenditure on account of a 
significant increase in budgetary allocation for 
exploration in Cote D’Ivoire and Mali. Cote 
D’Ivoire’s planned expenditure stood at USD 
105 million in 2020 displacing Burkina Faso as 
the largest recipient of gold exploration capital 
in Africa. 

Direct Fiscal Contribution
Figures from the Ghana Revenue Authority 
showed that the mining and quarrying sector 
regained its position as the leading source of 

direct domestic revenue in 2020. The sector’s 
contribution to the national fiscal purse 
increased from GH� 4.013 billion in 2019 to 
GH� 4.172 billion in 2020. The 3.97 per cent 
increase in fiscal revenue was primarily due to 
the increase in mineral royalty receipts, which 
partially made up for the reduction in the other 
sources of revenue from the sector. The 
significant appreciation in the price of gold 
during the year under review increased mineral 
royalty revenue by 38.20 per cent from 
GH�1.007 billion in 2019 to GH�1.391 billion 
in 2020. Corporate income tax however declined 
from GH�2.269 billion in 2019 to GH�2.139 
billion in 2020. Similarly, employee income tax 
(PAYE) also fell from GH�736.256 million to 
GH�641.868 million over the same period. 
Other revenue sources from the sector also 
dropped from GH�674,312 in 2019 to 
GH�557.868 in 2020. The share of mining and 
quarrying in total direct domestic fiscal receipts 
was 18.1 per cent in 2020, which is not 
significantly different from the 18.3 per cent 
recorded in 2019. 

Merchandise Exports
The mining industry remained the main anchor 
of Ghana’s trade balance as data from the Bank 
of Ghana showed that the mining sector was the 
foremost source of foreign exchange receipts in 
2020. The mineral sector alone accounted for 
48.4 per cent of gross merchandise exports in 
2020. This compares favourably with the 42.6 
per cent recorded in 2019 and far outstripped 
the combined contribution of crude oil and 
cocoa in 2020 by more than 12 percentage 
points. The mining industry continued to 
support the economy by reducing the pressure 
on the local currency and its resultant impact on 
prices and other parameters. Proceeds from 
export of minerals increased from USD 6.678 
billion in 2019 to USD 6.998 billion in 2020, 
representing a growth rate of 4.8 per cent.  

Producing member companies of the Chamber 
returned USD 3.67 billion out of the mineral 
revenue of USD 5.14 billion to the country. This 
represents 71 per cent of the revenue of 
producing member companies.  The proportion 
of mineral revenue returned exclusively through 
commercial banks was more than the statutory 
t h r e s h o l d  p r e s c r i b e d  i n  t h e  v a r i o u s 
Development Agreements as well as the 
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Minerals and Mining Act 2006 (Act 703). This 
f u r t h e r  e m p h a s i z e s  t h e  C h a m b e r ’ s 
commitment to supporting the growth of 
Ghana’s economy.

Expenditure of Mineral Revenue
The Chamber and its producing member 
companies prioritize the sourcing of inputs 
from manufacturers and suppliers in Ghana. 
This is a direct way to retain minerals value in 
the country and to stimulate broad-based 
linkages across different sectors. Pursuant to 
this, producing member companies of the 
Chamber spent USD 4.387 billion in Ghana 
through payments to manufacturers and 
suppliers of goods and services, taxes, and 
financing of social investment projects. In 
essence, 85.7 per cent of producing member 
companies’ expenditure was retained in 
Ghana. As a Chamber, we will continue to 
stimulate local participation in the inputs 
market to create jobs and increase value to 
grow the economy.

It is important to indicate that in real terms, 
the gross value added by the mining and 
quarrying sub-sector to Ghana’s GDP declined 
from GH�13.6 billion in 2019 to GH�11.8 
billion in 2020. In percentage terms, the share 
of mining and quarrying in GDP reduced from 
8.6 per cent to 7.5 per cent in 2020. At the end 
of 2020, the mining and quarrying sub-sector 
was the third and fifth largest economic 
activity in the industrial sector and the entire 
economy, respectively. As many of you are 
aware, in 2020 the price of gold shot up around 
the period when the COVID-19 infection was 
declared a pandemic by the World Health 
Organisation. After that declaration, many 
investors sought to convert their assets into 
bullion and its related assets, which directly 
provided the needed momentum for a 
sustained rise in the price of gold. The 
increased demand for gold and other related 
assets also pushed the price upward to USD 
2,067 per ounce on 6th August. It is pleasing to 
note that the increases also went a long way to 
boost government revenue from gold 
production.

The Chamber, Collaborations and the 
COVID-19 pandemic
At the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in 
Ghana, the Chamber and its producing member 

companies rolled out initiatives to support the 
government to curb the negative impact of the 
pandemic. Producing member companies 
supported the national effort with USD$ 2 
million. This constituted a donation of:
! Twenty (20) ventilators and accessories to 

the Ministry of Health for distribution to 
hospitals across the country; 

! PPEs for frontline health workers;
! Logistics to test 25,000 COVID-19 cases at 

three public testing laboratories, namely
! Noguchi Medical Research Institute 
! Kumasi Centre for Collaborative Research 

in Tropical Medicine (KCCR) 
! N a t i o n a l  P u b l i c  H e a l t h  R e f e r e n c e 

Laboratory of the Korle-bu Teaching 
Hospital 

Individual member companies of the Chamber 
instituted stringent measures to protect 
e m p l o y e e s ,  c o n t r a c t o r s ,  a n d  h o s t 
communities from the pandemic to keep the 
mines running. These included extensive 
internal COVID-19 protocols at mine sites, as 
well as donations to health facilities, 
traditional authorities, local government 
institutions and community groups. As good 
corporate citizens, the Chamber and its 
members identify with progressive national 
efforts to protect the people and institutions in 
our host communities and the nation at large. 
We will continue to play that crucial role in 
support of efforts to keep the citizens of the 
country safe.

In 2020, the Chamber’s commitment to bridge 
the gap between the mining industry and 
academia continued to bear fruits as the 
Secretariat worked with a team of researchers 
from the University of Mines and Technology 
(UMaT), led by then Vice-Chancellor, Prof. 
J.S.Y. Kuma, who is the immediate-past 
occupant  of the Chamber’s chair on 
Environmental Studies, to undertake a study 
on the linkages between the minerals and non-
mining sectors. The overarching objective of 
the study is to inform policy formulation on 
ways to maximize the potential of the mining 
s e c t o r ’ s  s u p p ly  c h a i n  f o r  n a t i o n a l 
development. I am expecting a productive 
outcome that can be transformed into 
actionable items not only to support the 
growth of the value chain of the mining 
industry but to also harness the linkage 
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opportunities between the mining and the non-
minerals sector to ultimately build a resilient 
economy. 

Closely linked to this, is the operationalization of 
the Chamber’s Tertiary Education Fund (TEF) 
which is set to revolutionize training and 
research to support Ghana’s mining industry. In 
the year under review, the Chamber approved 
the construction of a USD $1.2 million 
ultramodern Ghana Chamber of Mines’ Mining 
and Mineral Resources Block. Additionally, 
fourteen (14) lecturers from UMaT were 
seconded to mining companies as a means to 
create the needed synergy between academia 
and industry. This was critical to enable the 
cross-fertilization of ideas between lecturers 
and the mining companies for better mine 
operational outcomes and more rounded 
products from the university. We will continue to 
support our institutions of higher learning to 
produce the best human resources that can hold 
their own in Ghana and anywhere in the world. 

Occupational Health, Safety and 
Environment in 2020
A critical aspect of our commitment as industry 
is the health and safety of our employees. In this 
regard, we continued to work tirelessly to 
implement safety protocols at our sites and 
communities. As far as we are concerned, if it 
cannot be done safely, then it should not be done. 
According to the Minerals Commission, the total 
number of injuries in Ghana’s mining sector 
decreased drastically from 554 in 2019 to 308 in 
2020. This represented a 44.4 per cent decline in 
the number of incidents recorded over the 
period. Unfortunately, the number of persons 
that were involved in incidents that resulted in 
death rose from 3 in 2019 to 5 in 2020. May the 
souls of our comrades who passed on rest in 
peace whilst we work tirelessly to avoid 
fatalities at the mines of member companies.  
The Chamber will continue to collaborate with 
the Environmental Protection Agency to ensure 
the adherence of environmental standards in the 
operation of the mines. 

Challenges
2020 was certainly a difficult year for almost all 
sectors of the economy, given the serious 
ramifications of the pandemic. As such it only 
served to deepen the woes of the mining 
industry which was only tempered by the price 

of gold. The sector continued to grapple with 
perennial challenges which required urgent 
attention from the government. We have taken 
the liberty to outline a few as the full range of 
issues are reflected in the 2020 Annual Report 
under the section, Performance of the Mining 
Industry in Ghana. I must admit that most of the 
issues are not new, and our expectation is that 
going forward, we will not have to enumerate 
them in the hope that we would have made 
progress in working constructively with our 
stakeholders in government  to continue to 
address them.

-  Security of Mining Companies
We are pleased to note that following extensive 
deliberations on the challenges with security on 
mine sites with the withdrawal of the military, it 
was agreed that a specialized unit of the Police 
Service would be set up to provide the much-
needed preventive security support to the 
mining companies. In 2020, the government 
approved the recommendation with a first batch 
of personnel expected to have been deployed by 
the end of the first quarter of 2021. The 
aftermath of the 2020 elections stalled the 
planned deployment. We are however pleased to 
note that with the active support and leadership 
of the Hon. Minister for Lands and Natural 
Resources, the Ghana Police Service has now 
trained and deployed this specialized unit of the 
police to the respective mines. It is our 
expectation that this arrangement will be 
sustained, to give comfort and assurance to 
current and would-be investors (local or 
foreign) of the security of investments in Ghana.  

-  Development of Host Communities and 
Utilization of Royalties 
The poor state of mining communities is largely 
a function of the development status of the 
countr y as well  as an outcome of the 
mechanism for allocating and utilising fiscal 
revenues realized from the extraction of mineral 
resources. Apart from the statutory proportion 
of mineral royalty that is returned to the host 
mining communities, all the other streams of 
fiscal revenue originating from the mining sector 
accrue to the central government. Even in the 
case of mineral royalty, only 13 per cent of the 
mineral royalty is returned to the communities 
where mining takes place.  Out of this amount, 
4.95 per cent accrues to the respective District 
Assemblies while the Mining Community 
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Development Scheme (MCDS) set up under the 
Minerals Development Fund Act, 2016 (Act 
912) receives 4 per cent. The remaining amount 
is disbursed to traditional authorities and stools 
in the host mining communities. In essence, the 
share of mineral royalty that is used to support 
development in mining communities is 
negl ig ible .  Obviously,  th is  is  woefully 
inadequate to address the infrastructure 
shortfalls in the hosts of the country’s mineral 
wealth. It is on this premise that the Chamber 
continues to urge government to  increase the 
host communities’ share of royalties to 30 per 
cent and earmark same for specific sustainable 
infrastructure projects in the host communities.

-  Incentives for Exploration Companies
Exploration is the single most critical activity 
that guarantees continuous production of 
minerals and discovery of new mineral 
resources to supplement production from 
existing mines or replace output of mines whose 
economic ore body is exhausted. However, 
minerals exploration investment in Ghana has 
declined significantly in recent years. This is 
alarming for a country to which mining is critical 
for forex and fiscal revenue generation. It is 
therefore crucial to put in place an incentive 
scheme that will reduce the cost associated 
with exploration and attract the required 
critical investments into this high-risk business 
of mineral exploration. As a first step, we urge 
government to exempt exploration companies 
from payment of VAT on big ticket cost items 
such as drilling and laboratory services. 
Effectively, the extent of actual exploration 
activity is diminished by upfront costs such as 
VAT on inputs and landholding costs. Thus, 
relieving the usually illiquid exploration 
companies from the payment of VAT as well as 
reducing the cost of landholding would not only 
improve their cash flow and reduce their 
operational costs but also enhance the Ghana’s 
image as a competitive destination for 
exploration investment. In the long run, this will 
guarantee continuous mineral production and 
flow of fiscal and forex receipts as well as other 
benefits from the minerals sector.

-  Deplorable State of Railway 
Infrastructure
The western railway line, which was the 
primary mode of hauling bulk minerals to the 
Takoradi port, has deteriorated over the years 

due to obsolescence and limited investments. 
Consequently, bulk mining companies, like the 
other producers of bulk export commodities, 
have had to make use of the more expensive 
road haulage option, which is estimated to be 
50% more expensive than rail.  Successive 
Budget Statements and Economic Policies 
consistently point out the intention of 
government to rehabilitate the western rail 
network. As an industry association, we believe 
that the benefits of a well-functioning railway 
system will not be a preserve of our industry but 
the entire economy. It will also serve as an 
alternative means of transporting people, 
foodstuff, and other commodities across the 
country. The Chamber is therefore pleased at 
government’s efforts to rehabilitate the 
country’s railway network, particularly, the 
western railway line.  We urge government to 
expedite action in that regard since it has the 
inherent potential to generate revenue to pay 
back the initial investment cost.   
 
2021 Forecasts
In 2021, increase in production from existing 
mines and easing of the COVID-19 restrictions 
signals good prospects for the mining industry. 
Similarly, the expected relatively high price of 
gold is likely to support growth in recycled gold 
and producer de-hedging. Overall, we project 
that global supply of gold in 2021 will exceed 
corresponding output in 2020. 

In 2021, the Chamber expects most of its gold-
producing member companies to recover from 
the drags that characterized their operations in 
the preceding year. Overall, the gold output of 
producing member companies for 2021 is 
forecasted to range between 3.0 million to 3.3 
million ounces. The industry also expects 
production of manganese by Ghana Manganese 
Company to increase with a sustained full year 
of production in 2021.

Conclusion
As I conclude, I would like to take the 
opportunity to commend all our partners and 
stakeholders for contributing to the sustenance 
of the industry and ensuring that responsible 
mining remained an important part of the 
Ghanaian economy. There is little doubt that a 
collaborative effort from all stakeholders; that 
is government, mining companies, local 
entrepreneurs, the media and civil society in 
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addressing the layered challenges will usher in 
an era of greater value to further anchor the 
economy. It is in our collective interest to 
consider mining as an enabler and catalyst for 
development and not just an avenue for rent for 
the state. Opportunities abound in the minerals 
and mining value chain for the nation to leverage 
to create a viable and competitive economy.

I wish to commend the Sector Minister, Hon 
Samuel Abdulai Jinapor, for making the 
Chamber a key partner since he assumed office. 
We appreciate your partnership. We also 
express our profound gratitude to the Minerals 
Commission and the Environmental Protection 

Agency as well as all other institutions who 
collaborated with the Chamber in diverse ways 
during the period under review. I also thank the 
Executive Committee, Council, members of the 
Chamber as well as the CEO and staff of the 
Secretariat for supporting the industry in this 
challenging pandemic era.

We look forward to more positive collaboration 
and enduring partnerships in the coming years.

Thank you

Eric Asubonteng
President



Introduction
The External Relations and Communications unit 
of the Chamber is responsible for planning and 
i m p l e m e n t i n g  s t a k e h o l d e r  r e l a t i o n s h i p 
management and institutional communication 
programmes designed to effectively engage 
interest groups and individuals who are integral to 
the sustenance of member companies' operations. 
The Directorate is also responsible for managing 
the resolution of environmental and sustainability 
issues facing member companies of the Chamber. 
Specifically, the unit is mandated to harmonise the 
promotion of sustainable mining practices in 
Ghana. The unit performs its role by directing the 
Chamber's advocacy and visibility plan to promote 
transparency in the industry as well as address 
negative perceptions and falsehoods. The unit 
operates under the guidance of the Public 
Relations Committee, made up of representatives 
of producing member companies and chaired by 
the Chief Executive Officer of the Chamber, as well 
as the Environment and Social Affairs Committee. 
The unit is headed by the Director, External 
Relations and Communications.

Public Relations Committee and Visibility
The Committee met four times in the course of the 
year. All meetings were held virtually and hosted 
by the Secretariat of the Chamber in Accra. Key 
issues addressed in the year under review have 
been presented herewith.

-  Stakeholder Engagements
The Committee extensively analyzed the need to 
strategically engage key audiences to showcase 
the sustainable practices of member companies. 
The committee pursued meaningful engagements 
with such groups from civil society, the media, as 
well as host communities to ensure that all 
misconceptions and misgivings are ironed out to 
deepen collaboration. This led to mine tours for 
selected groups and media discussions on 
selected media platforms across the country.

-  Image Building and the Changing Face of the 
Chamber
In view of the changing scenes of the mining 
industry and the responsibilities of the Chamber 
as an industry association, it became even more 
critical to shift from merely advocating for change 
to becoming an institution that changes the 
narrative. Pursuant to this, the Chamber 
refocused its attention to sustaining efforts on 
such palpable initiatives that can influence 
change in a broader perspective. The Executive 
Committee and the Council empowered the 
Secretariat to restructure its advocacy approach 
with a new corporate strategy in order to 
transform the Chamber into a more impactful 
entity supporting broad-based development and 
deepening the positive image of the member 
companies.

In anticipation of the new strategy, the Public 
Relations Committee was tasked to be in 
readiness to develop a two-year multifaceted 
Communication Strategy to support the 
overarching strategy. A sub-committee from the 
PR Committee was tasked to commence 
preliminary work on the strategy to align with the 
Chamber's mission/vision moving forward. 

- The General Elections and Challenges with 
Stakeholder Relations
The perennial operational difficulties for mining 
companies in election years predictably 
reemerged ahead of the 2020 General Elections. 
Member companies continued to engage national 
and host community level stakeholders in building 
consensus and developing requisite frameworks 
to address concerns with the invasion of 
concessions and other activities that threatened 
the operations of the mines.  

-  Communicating Sustainability amid Covid-19
Member companies intensified community 
education and support at the height of the Covid-
19 pandemic, providing communities with the 
much-needed information on how to avoid the 
infection and ways to maintain their health. These 
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included community demonstration durbars, 
radio interviews and the use of social media. The 
messages were tailored to suit the specific host 
communities and their cultural settings. The 
Chamber also produced radio jingles and 
television skits to support public education on 
the infection. 

All producing member companies further 
supported the host communities and regions 
with medical supplies and logistics such as hand 
sanitizers, detergents, surgical gloves, Veronica 
buckets and thermometer guns. These were 
instrumental in reducing the infections in host 
communities as well as provide support for those 
who were in isolation. 

Advocacy and Image Building

-  Engagement with Ghana National 
Association of Small-Scale Miners 

The leadership of the Ghana National Association 
of Small-Scale Miners (GNASSM) paid a courtesy 
call on the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Chamber to introduce the newly elected national 
executives of the association and to discuss 
germane issues pertaining to Ghana's mining 
industry. The meeting was held at the Secretariat 
of the Chamber on Friday, 10th July, 2020. On 
behalf of the GNASSM executives, the General 
Secretary, Mr Godwin Armah stated that the 
rationale for the courtesy call was, among 
others, to further strengthen the relationship 
between the two major private sector groups in 
the mining industry. Mr. Armah was of the view 
that a collaborative co-existence between both 
sub-sectors (large and small) of the industry will 
engender harmony among players and enhance 
productivity in the long run. He took the 
opportunity to acknowledge the efforts made by 
the Chamber to establish a relationship in spite of 
the long-standing perceptions about the 
intentions of large-scale players. He however 
gave the assurance that small-scale operators 
have recognised the value in collaborating with 
the Chamber due to the aligned interests.  

In his response, the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Chamber, Mr. Sulemanu Koney stated that while 
there is a history behind the suspicion between 
operators in the two subsectors of the mining 

industry, the need to forge a formidable and 
united front was long overdue. Reiterating the 
position of the Chamber on small-scale mining, 
Mr Koney averred that the Chamber supports 
small-scale mining and only stands against all 
forms of illegal mining, which have proven 
destructive to people's livelihoods and the 
environment.

The meeting focused on formalisation of the 
small-scale mining sector among others. These 
included:

! The need to support capacity building of 
members of GNASSM in the areas of health 
and safety as well  as environmental 
responsibility;

! Addressing the challenges with the collection 
of 3% tax on the production and export of 
bullion from small-scale miners by the Ghana 
Revenue Authority; 

! Continuous engagement between the EPA and 
the GNASSM to discuss permitting and 
monitoring gaps. 

President of the GNASSM, Mr. Philip Kwesi 
Akuffo expressed the readiness of  the 
Association to collaborate with the Chamber to 
achieve the common goal of creating sustainable 
employment opportunities and driving national 
development. Mr. Koney on his part, stated that 
the Chamber will continue to support industry 
players in order for mining to be given its right of 
place as the preeminent sector in Ghana's 
economic growth. He indicated that the report 
with action items from the meeting would be 
shared with the executives of GNASSM in due 
time. 

2020 National Safety Week

Due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 global 
pandemic, the Central Planning Committee of the 
National Inter-Mines First Aid and Safety 
Competition agreed to postpone the 2020 edition 
in order to protect host mines and community 
members from potential infections from the 
disease. The Inter-Mines First Aid and Safety 
Competition is an annual contest designed to 
educate mine workers, host communities and the 
citizenry on basic first aid tips as well as to foster 
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the adoption of basic safety measures. The 
competition underscores the importance that 
mining companies attach to safety protocols as 
well as educate employees and host communities 
on personal health, first aid and safety practices. 

There are two components of the competition – 
practical and oral.  The practical component of the 
competition usually requires participating teams 
to work together with regular physical contact; 
hence the decision to suspend the 2020 edition 
until the pandemic is brought under control. In the 
light of this, the Secretariat implemented a unique 
Safety Week programme from September 14-19, 
2020 to sustain public awareness of the efforts by 
member companies to improve health and safety 
measures on mine sites and in host communities. 
The media-focused programme sought to deepen 
public knowledge about the commitment of 
member companies to health and safety on mine 
sites and to showcase the collaboration between 
member companies and their respective host 
communities in safeguarding the wellbeing of 
staff and residents.
Short video skits were produced and broadcast on 
national television and on social media platforms. 
The skits were developed with appropriate voice-
overs and animations describing measures to 
safeguard lives in specific scenarios. Each skit was 
five (5) minutes long. 
Additionally, radio and television interviews were 
organised to discuss pertinent topics such as:
! Managing health and safety of mine staff in the 

face of the Covid-19 Pandemic: Lessons and 
Challenges;

! Mine sustainability and the implementation of 
strict protocols to protect the lives of staff and 
residents of host communities.

Health, Safety and Environment Managers of the 
various mines as well as officials of the St John 
Ambulance participated in the interviews.  The 
skits were broadcast prior to the interviews to set 
the tone for the discussions. All the interviews 
were in English and Twi to reach out to host 
communities of mining companies which are 
predominantly Akan speaking areas. 

Member companies also organised community 
level activities to commemorate the week. 
Activities included discussions on pertinent health 
and safety issues on community radio stations to 
educate the public on the need to adopt safety 
measures and acquire lifesaving first aid skills. 

In order to boost public engagement and 
information, infographics were developed and 
used along with the skits to further break down the 
message on health and safety to online audiences. 

6th Ghana Mining Industry Awards (GMIA)

The 6th Ghana Mining Industry Awards (GMIA) 
was held on Friday, 20th November 2020 at the 
Movenpick Ambassador Hotel in Accra. AngloGold 
Ashanti Iduapriem Mine was adjudged the Mining 
Company of the Year. The company's superior 
performance in environmental management, 
corporate social investment, occupational health 
and safety, mining innovation as well as fiscal 
contributions accounted for the win.

General Manager of Gold Fields Tarkwa Mine, Mr. 
Stephen Osei-Bempah, was awarded with the 
2019 Mining Personality of the Year Award for his 
stellar performance in steering the mine to 
improve its productivity. Similarly, Mrs. Catherine 
Kuupol Kuutor, Metallurgical Manager for Abosso 
Goldfields Ltd emerged winner of the 2019 Female 
Mining Professional of Year category. She fended 
off stiff competition from nine other top female 
mining engineers to win the award.
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Other big winners on the night were Newmont 
Ghana, Golden Star Resources and Gold Fields 
Ghana. Newmont Ghana's Ahafo and Akyem 
mines were winner and runner-up respectively in 
t h e  B e s t  P e r f o r m e r  i n  E n v i r o n m e n t a l 
Management category. The company's Ahafo 
Mine also emerged first runner-up in Best 
Performer in Exploration (Senior) category. 
Abosso Goldfields Limited Damang Mine swept 
the awards for Corporate Social Investment and 
Innovation while Golden Star Wassa Ltd won the 
Best Performer in Occupational Health and 
Safety as well as the Community Safety Brigade 
of the Year.

President of the Chamber, Mr. Eric Asubonteng 
praised the resilience of Ghanaian mining 
companies for putting robust measures in place 
to contain COVID-19. According to him, in-spite 
of the challenges posed by the pandemic, mining 
companies proved that effective management of 
the workplace is a sure way to safeguard the 
health and safety of staff as well as host 
communities. He stated that the Chamber will 
continue to adopt novel ideas and best practices 
to help national economic growth priorities. He 
urged Ghanaians to ensure that the reputation of 
Ghana as an oasis of peace in the subregion is 
maintained during and after the 7th December, 
2020 national presidential and parliamentary 
elections.
The Guest Speaker, Rev. Daniel Ogbarmey Tetteh 
– Director General of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, underscored the need for 
local mining firms to take advantage of the 
opportunities offered by the stock exchange to 

raise capital for their operations in Ghana. Rev. 
Ogbarmey Tetteh indicated that Ghana is able to 
learn from countries such as Australia and South 
Africa to utilize the unique opportunities 
presented by the stock exchange to support 
mining companies and to grow wealth among 
local entrepreneurs.

Minister for Lands and Natural Resources, Hon. 
Kwaku Asomah-Cheremeh, who was the Guest of 
Honour commended the industry for continuing 
to anchor Ghana's economy. According to him, 
the government will continue to create an 
enabling environment for the mining industry to 
thrive. He indicated that the country had 
benefitted immensely from the economic 
contribution of mining in the past decades. 

The Board Chairman of the Environmental 
Protection Agency and former Managing Director 
of AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi, Mr. Kwesi Enyan, 
was presented with the Lifetime Achievement 
Award for his contribution to the growth of 
mining in Ghana. Daily Graphic's Timothy 
Ngnenbe and Sani Abdul-Rahman of GTV won the 
Best Mining Reporter award for print and 
broadcast respectively.

Engagement of Political Parties

The Chamber engaged the two leading political 
parties in Ghana – the New Patriotic Party and 
the National Democratic Congress – in the 
crafting of their respective manifestoes ahead of 
the 2020 General Elections. This was to ensure 
that the nation's political parties would focus 
attention on the critical aspects of national 
development in relation to the mining industry to 
generate more value for the country.  The critical 

AngloGold Ashanti Iduapriem Mine was 
adjudged Mining Company of the Year

All award winners at the event
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issues presented to the political parties were:

! Create an attractive environment for mining 
investment

! Properly account for the contribution of mining 
to development including indirect and induced 
contributions 

! Gold Refinery and Goldsmithing and Jewellery 
manufactory mining coins

! Incentivise investment in minerals exploration

! Ensure timely release of funds for mine 
community development 

! Support a comprehensive National Supplier 
Development Programme to grow local 
content

! Identify and take advantage of opportunities in 
the Value Chain of mining in the regions

! Pass a Minerals Revenue Management Law

! Formalise small-scale mining and address 
illegal mining

! Support the development of industrial minerals 
to create jobs 

! Railway Development for the transportation of 
bulk minerals

Minerals Commission and the amendment of 
the Minerals and Mining Act, 2006 (Act 703).

The Ghana Chamber of Mines engaged the 
leadership of the Minerals Commission to discuss 
proposals on the impending amendment of the 
Minerals and Mining Act, 2006 (Act 703). The 
Chamber's general disposition was favourable to 
the proposals made and commended the regulator 
a n d  t h e  S e c t o r  M i n i s t r y  f o r  d e e p e n i n g 
collaboration and discussions around the 
impending changes in the law. Among the 
proposed amendments were the introduction of 
progressive and affirmative action towards 
increasing opportunities for women in the 
industry; review of stability agreements; 
cessation in the grant of development agreements 
as well as modalities for funding community 
development projects. 

Additionally, the regulator was seeking to change 

the duration of prospecting (exploration) licenses. 
At a day's meeting in Accra, members of the 
Chamber engaged officials of the Minerals 
Commission and offered suggestions on various 
aspects of the proposals, affirming their 
commitment to continue to collaborate with the 
regulators to ensure that the amendments are 
progressive and provide greater opportunities for 
the country to take advantage of its current 
position as Africa's leading gold proposal. The 
Minerals Commission has been engaging various 
organisations on its quest to amend the existing 
laws as it seeks to strengthen regulation and 
ensure mutually beneficial outcomes for 
stakeholders in the industry.

Indaba 2020

The Ghana Chamber of Mines participated actively 
in the 2020 edition of the Mining Indaba 
Conference held at Cape Town in South Africa 
from 3rd – 6th February, 2020. The Sector 
Minister, Hon. Kwaku Asomah-Cheremeh, led the 
country's delegation to the conference with a 
team from the Minerals Commission. This year's 
event was on the theme: “Optimizing growth and 
investment in the digitized mining economy”.

The CEO of the Chamber, Mr Sulemanu Koney, who 
led a team of players from the industry, took part in 
d i s c u s s i o n s  o n  m i n i n g  a n d  s u s t a i n a b l e 
development, investing in mining, workshop on 
Manganese and Chrome and a workshop 
organized by Rand Refinery. Similar to last year's, 

Mr. Sulemanu Koney, CEO of the Chamber 
participated in a panel discussion
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most firms from Ghana that took part in the 
programme exhibited in the Ghana Pavilion – 
which was a specialized one-stop contact for 
mining businesses in Ghana. The firms and 
organisations that exhibited at the Ghana Pavilion 
aside the Ghana Chamber of Mines were: 
Newmont Ghana, Minerals Commission, Rocksure 
International, Kinross (Chirano Gold Mines), 
AngloGold Ashanti Ghana, Zen Petroleum, Nexans 
Kablemetal Limited, and BCM.

It was agreed that in view of the positive feedback 
from the participation of Ghana in the event, the 
concept of Ghana Pavilion will be replicated at 
subsequent years to boost investment into 
Ghana's mining sector.

GHS11.5 Million Covid-19 Support to 
Government of Ghana

The Chamber at the onset of the Covid-19 
pandemic presented a package worth GHS11.5 
million (the equivalent of USD$2 million) to the 
Ministry of Health and allied institutions as part of 
the contribution of the Chamber to the fight 
against the pandemic. The Chamber, led by its 
President, Eric Asubonteng made the donation at a 
brief ceremony held at the Ghana Health Service 
on Thursday, 9th April, 2020.

The donation, which was made on behalf of the 
producing member companies of the Chamber, 
forms part of an industry-wide approach to 
tack l ing  the  pandemic .  Re i terat ing  the 
contribution of the Chamber to national efforts at 
stemming the tide, Mr. Asubonteng commended 
the President of the Republic, Nana Addo Dankwa 

Akufo-Addo, for taking swift measures to contain 
the spread of the infection and to ensure that those 
who have already been infected receive the best of 
care. 
The Chamber procured testing kits, PPEs, 
laboratory kits and other essentials to the Ministry 
of Health, the Noguchi Memorial Institute for 
Medical Research, and the Kumasi Centre for 
Collaborative Research in Tropical Medicine 
(KCCR) to support health workers who were at the 
forefront of combatting the COVID-19 infection. 
President of the Chamber said at the ceremony 
that as responsible businesses, the companies 
chose to step in to support the government's 
national effort against the pandemic. He called on 
Ghanaians to pay heed to the advice of the Ghana 
Health Service and the medical staff to safeguard 
the country from the effects of this pandemic.
The Deputy Minister for Health Hon. Tina Mensah 
represented the Minister at the event. She 
expressed delight at the quantum of support the 
Chamber had presented to the government and 
used the opportunity to call on other corporate 
bodies to follow suit.

Chamber Participates in 2020 Ghana Gold 
Expo
The Ghana Chamber of Mines participated in the 
Ghana Gold Expo 2020, organized by the Western 
Regional Coordinating Council at the Best Western 
Atlantic Plus Hotel, Takoradi. The three-day event 
which took place from 8th to 10th March, 2020 
brought together stakeholders in the mining 
value-chain from about thirty-five countries. First 
of its kind, the Ghana Gold Expo aimed at 
showcasing Ghana's sources of gold, its position 
as first in gold production in Africa, trade & exports 
and refinery technologies.
 
The event was characterized by an exhibition that 
displayed gold related technologies and 
equipment as well as conferences that provided a 
platform for about twenty speakers to share 
insights on topics around mining in Ghana, 
sustainability measures for investment in the next 
decade and responsible gold supply chain.

At the opening ceremony, awards were presented 
to individuals and organizations that have been 
supporting illegal mining reclamation and 
mercury recovery across Africa. The recipients of 
the awards included the Ghana Chamber of Mines, 

Mr. Eric Asubonteng, President of the Chamber presenting 
the cheque to Hon tina Mensah, Deputy Minister for Health
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Gold Fields Ghana Ltd, Dr. Sir Sam Jonah (Former 
CEO of AngloGold Ashanti), Professor Akilagpa 
S a w y e r  ( 1 s t  C h a i r m a n  o f  t h e  M i n e r a l s 
Commission), Mr. Sam Poku (Former CEO of Ghana 
Chamber of Mines). In his presentation, the CEO of 
the Ghana Chamber of Mines shed some light on 
the available opportunities in the mining industry 
in Ghana's value chain. He implored the investors 
gathered at the event to not just focus on gold 
production but the upstream and downstream 
l inkages that have potential  of  creating 
industrialized economies for Ghana and the sub-
region.

Mr. Koney explained that, the Chamber welcomes 
productive collaborations with local refineries 
that have fulfilled the international refinery 
certification requirements (specifically, that of the 
London Bullion Market Association-LBMA). He 
elucidated on how the Chamber has been 
providing technical support to Gold Coast Refinery 
to attain the LBMA certification and urged the 
government and all stakeholders to work together 
to see the local refinery's LBMA certification 
through. 

Mr. Alfred Baku, EVP of Gold Fields Ghana Ltd 
emphasised the need for the government to 
incentivize mining firms to attract investments. 
The EVP cited how the government's incentives 
provided to Gold Fields Ghana Ltd years back 
contributed to the growth of the company, which 
has in turn benefited the local and national 
economies.

Mr Gerhard Schubert, CEO of Schubert Consulting 
highlighted the need for Africa to urgently follow 
the lead of other major precious metals markets 
and create an African Precious Metals Association 
(APMA). The APMA will represent the African 
continent in the global precious metals industry 
and give Africa a regional voice on a global stage. 
He suggested that the base of the APMA be in 
Ghana given the strong support and commitment 
to mineral development in general and precious 
metals specifically, demonstrated by the 
government of Ghana. The Western Regional 
Minister, Hon. Dr. Kwabena Okyere Darko-Mensah, 
who hosted the event, called on mining companies 
operating in the Western Region to help develop 
the communities in which they operate.

2020 Expanded Council and Interactions with 
Stakeholders

Following a five-year break, Council approved the 
Secretariat's decision to convene an Expanded 
Council Meeting and Strategy Session from 20th 
to 21st February, 2020. The event brought 
together over sixty participants from the various 
categor ies  of  membership  and external 
stakeholders drawn from regulatory agencies and 
civil society organizations. The expanded council 
provides an opportunity for members to delve into 
the fundamental issues that confront their 
operations and to strategize on how to maintain 
productivity. 

The President  of  the Chamber,  Mr.  Er ic 
Asubonteng, who chaired the first day's session 
indicated that the industry had the potential to 
grow exponentially with the attendant benefits to 
stimulate job creation and value to the state. 

In a presentation on the topic, "Review of the 
Mining Industry's Relevance to Ghana and 
Strategy of the Chamber of Mines", the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Chamber of Mines, Mr 
Sulemanu Koney, gave a thorough overview of the 
mining industry in Ghana. He gave an overview of 
the global mining industry and indicated that the 
gold prices were relatively better in recent years 
as compared to the previous decade.  He added 
that the global production cost of gold has seen a 
downward trend in the last decade after the 
implementation of a number of measures that 
were aimed at curtailing cost.

The Co-Chair of Ghana Extractive Industries 
Transparency Initiative (GHEITI), Dr. Steve 
Manteaw, said sentiments towards the mining 
industry have improved in the last few years. He 
also urged the mining industry to have keen 
interest in non-mining sector policies or laws that 
are passed by the government, particularly those 
that will impact on the development of mining 
communities and the wellbeing of their residents. 

The Executive Director of African Centre for 
Energy Policy (ACEP), Mr. Ben Boakye, affirmed 
that the mining sector has been of great benefit to 
the country's economy. However, he argued that a 
lot more is expected of the mining industry. He 
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urged the mining industry to be accommodating of 
criticisms on their operations and contributions to 
the national economy. Mr. Boakye urged the 
Chamber to work with CSOs to reinforce advocacy 
on challenges facing the mining industry. Further, 
he urged the mining companies to undertake a 
stakeholder mapping programme to engage both 
critics and allies alike.

The Minerals Commission represented by the 
Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Mr Martin Ayisi and 
the Director of Policy, Planning and Monitoring of 
Minerals Commission, Mr. Collins Anim-Sackey 
re iterated the mandate of  the Minerals 
Commission and outlined some of the challenges 
that are being addressed to improve the 
operations of mining companies. He solicited the 
support of the Chamber and its members in 
remediating the issues as well as realising the 
objectives of the Minerals and Mining Policy. 

The Chairman of the Finance & Budget Committee 
of the Chamber, Mr. Edwin Acquaye, bemoaned the 
uncertainties in the wake of the promulgation of 
the Income Tax Act, 2014 (Act 896). He said the 
Chamber raised issues on some provisions in the 
Act with the Ministry of Finance and the Ghana 
Revenue Authority (GRA) but they were yet to be 
resolved. He indicated their pendency continued to 
be a disincentive to attracting additional capital 
into the mining sector. 

Deputy Minister of Energy, Hon. (Dr.) Amin Adam, 
also delivered an address on the outlook of the 
energy sector. In his opening address, the Deputy 
Minister asserted that the power sector had been 
fraught with challenges over the years and 
successive governments have done their best in 
resolving them. He also mentioned that the 
economy has been growing at a fast pace in the 
last few years and that has resulted in growth in 
demand for affordable power. He also emphasized 
on the financial challenges that was confronting 
the energy sector and outlined the initiatives to 
improve its liquidity, including the floating of bonds 
to retire legacy debts of state utility firms. 

Other issues discussed at the meeting were:

! The impact of government's decision to 
withdraw military from the Mines

! E n c r o a c h m e n t  o f  p r o d u c i n g  m e m b e r 
companies' concessions by illegal mining and 
the security and social risks

! Challenges with delays in the issuance of 
environmental permit and audits

The meeting ended with a resolution to continually 
improve collaboration between stakeholders in 
the sector and create a genial environment for 
responsible mining to thrive.
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Introduction
A critical role of the Ghana Chamber of Mines is to 
ensure that member companies operate 
sustainably in support of the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals 15 which is aimed 
at conserving and restoring the use of terrestrial 
ecosystems. Pursuant to this, the Chamber 
cont inued to  create  the avenue for  the 
maintenance of the factors and practices of 
producing member companies that contribute to 
the quality of the environment on a long-term 
basis. In the year under review, the Chamber 
continued to support member companies in the 
adherence of both national and global standards 
that are beneficial to the environment and host 
communities.  

Environment and Social Affairs Committee
The Chamber's environmental protocols and 
social affairs initiatives are spearheaded by the 
Environment and Social Affairs Committee 
(ENSOC).  The committee is  made up of 
environmental practitioners, community and 
social affairs professionals and sustainability 
officials from producing member companies, 
support services and associate institutions. The 
catchphrase of the Chamber: "Promoting 
environmentally and socially responsible mining", 
stems from the critical need to ensure that all 
business objectives are tied to the triple bottom-
line - i.e. People, Planet and Profit. In order to push 
the frontiers of environmental sustainability, the 
Committee held four quarterly meetings in the 
year under review at which deliberations focused 
on  address ing  key  issues  per ta in ing  to 
environmental and community sustainability 
matters. These issues included: 

Global Tailings Standard
The Committee expressed its commitment to 
implement the new standards in the management 
of tailings. Pursuant to this, member companies 
were urged to utilize the tailings management 
committee model to regularly focus on the tailings 
to ensure its safety and sustainability. The mine 
level implementation of such a standard has 
become even more crucial in the wake of 
discussion on the environmental impact of mining 

and the safety thereof.

Outstanding Environmental Permits
In-spite of the challenges with the issuance of 
environmental permits by the regulator, members 
of the Committee applauded the EPA for improving 
the situation for members from the beginning of 
the second quarter of the year. Members however, 
urged the regulator to improve its processes to 
ensure that member companies received the 
permits on time. Members agreed to revamp their 
respective internal permit review committees to 
proofread reports to reduce delays in the 
processing of permits.

Environmental Consultant
The Chamber's Environmental Consultant, Nana 
Andoh continued to provide environmental 
management support to member companies by 
visiting each mine and providing feedback on gaps 
in the management of environment and social 
systems on the mine. Even though Covid-19 
pandemic reduced visits to the mines to the barest 
minimum, the Consultant continued to share ideas 
with the Environmental Managers in the 
management of environmental issues. 

Reclamation Bond
The Committee continued to discuss issues 
pertaining to the Reclamation Security Agreement 
(RSA) and the Reclamation Bond. Member 
companies expressed concern about the 
encroachment of mine concessions by illegal 
miners who were increasing the environmental 
liabilities of the companies, thereby increasing the 
cost of reclaiming the destroyed aspects of the 
area. It was agreed that member companies that 
were disinterested in portions of their concessions 
should follow due process and relinquish it in order 
to reduce the potential impact on the reclamation 
bond.

Meeting with Executive Director of the EPA 
In deepening working relationship between the 
Chamber and industry regulators, the leadership 
met  with  the  Execut ive  Director  of  the 
Environmental Protection Agency, Hon. Henry 
Kokofu and his team on 13th October, 2020 to 
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discuss issues germane to environmental 
management in the mining industry. The meeting 
was attended by senior executives of producing 
member companies of the Chamber and the EPA. 
President of the Ghana Chamber of Mines, Mr. Eric 
Asubonteng, congratulated Hon. Henry Kokofu on 
his appointment as the Executive Director of the 
EPA.  He stated that the division to meet the 
Chamber executives to address pertinent 
concerns sent an important signal that the EPA 
was ready to work with the mining industry to 
champion environmental sustainability. He 
assured  Hon .  Kokofu  of  the  Chamber 's 
commitment to collaborate with the agency in an 
open and transparent manner.

On his part, Hon. Henry Kokofu underscored the 
importance of institutional collaboration between 
players in the mining industry and the agency. He 
intimated that interactions between the agency 
and the mining industry must be characterised by 
a high sense of responsibility to improve 
environmental sustainability and productivity of 
the mining companies. He therefore expressed his 
personal commitment to continue to collaborate 
with the Chamber to further enhance the benefits 
of mining to our environment, host communities 
and the economy.

He stated that the agency was in the process of 
reviewing the EPA Act, 1999 (Act 490), and 
related Legislative Instruments to effectively 
enforce environmental management across 
sectors. Hon. Kokofu urged member companies of 
the Chamber to support the renewed commitment 
of the agency to address concerns affecting the 
former's operations including delays in permit 
issuance for mine operations, as well as the need 
to review the Environmental Protection Act and its 
related legislations and guidelines to be in line 
with global developments.  

Chief Executive Officer of the Chamber, Mr. 
Sulemanu Koney indicated the Chamber's 
readiness to support the EPA in the reintroduction 
of the AKOBEN Environmental Performance and 
Rating Disclosure system that seeks to improve 
and sustain good environmental management on 
the concessions of large-scale mining companies. 

Engagement on Reclamation Security 
Agreement and Reclamation Bond
The Chamber engaged the Environmental 
Protection Agency and the Ghana Association of 
Bankers on a proposal to review the existing 
Reclamation Security Agreement (RSA). The Chief 
Executive Officer of the Chamber, Mr. Sulemanu 
Koney, commended the Executive Director of the 
Environmental Protection Agency, Hon. Henry 
Kokofu, and his team of experts for engaging 
stakeholders on the Reclamation Bond and the 
Reclamation Security Agreements (RSAs). He 
was of the view that the engagement was meant 
to ensure that all parties at the table acquiesced 
with the approach to reviewing the RSAs and the 
implementation same.

On his part, the Executive Director of the EPA, Hon. 
Henry Kokofu also expressed appreciation to the 
Chamber and its member companies as well as the 
banks for making time to participate in the 
meeting. He stated that the Reclamation Security 
Agreements and the Reclamation Bonds are in 
fulfilment of the 1992 Constitution which enjoins 
the state to do what is needful to protect the 
environment. 

The Chief Executive Officer of the Ghana 
Association of Bankers, Mr. John Awuah, indicated 
that the Association was working with the Bank of 
Ghana (BoG) and EPA on ways to infuse 
environmentally sustainable practices in the 
operations of mining companies to support banks 
with the associated risks. He stated that the 
discussions on the RSA were timely as it would 
further provide the banks with the requisite 
information to effectively assess risks associated 
with each mining company and the appropriate 
ways to engage them based on their specific 
circumstances. 

Among others, it was agreed that:

! There was a need to deepen collaboration 
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between regulatory agencies and industry 
players to ensure that relevant information and 
knowledge is shared among parties;

! Banks should continually strengthen internal 
processes to prevent a collapse in the event of a 
crisis that require banks to meet their bond 
obligations; 

! The Banks and Special Deposit-Taking 
institutions Act 2016 (Act 930), Section 62 
stipulates that beyond a certain threshold of 
unimpaired capital and surplus accounts, the 
bank is not permitted to lend or underwrite to a 
single customer. The value of this single obligor 
and the requirement for landed property as 
collateral could be a hinderance to mining 
companies obtaining guarantees from the 
banks even when syndicated. For a growing 
mining industr y with expected r ise in 
reclamation obligations, coupled with the fact 
that most mining companies do not hold landed 
property, this requirement will be a challenge.  
There is therefore a need to address the 
concerns inherent in the law.

! The EPA's continued assertion that mining 
companies were under-posting the required 
bonds without the requisite evidence had the 
tendency to undermine and derail the efforts of 
mining companies who endeavour to adhere to 
the requirements of the RSA.

Hon. Henry Kokofu assured the mining industry 
and banks of the EPA's commitment to collaborate 
with interested parties to ensure that the RSA 
remains a critical part of the mechanisms for 
protecting Ghana's ecology. Mr. Sulemanu Koney 
urged caution in the review of the RSAs and the 
management of the cash component because the 
bonds are meant to provide assurance that the 
country will be able to reclaim disturbed parts of 
mining concessions in the unlikely event that 
mining companies are unable to do so by 
themselves. 

Liaison Group for Mining in Production 
Forest Reserves 
The Chamber continued to play its role on the 
Liaison Group for Mining in Forest Reserves (LG) at 
the level of Heads of Institutions, the Technical 
Committee and the Communication Sub-
Committee. The LG continued to enforce its 
mandate of regulating all forms of mining in 
production forest reserves across the country. 
Apart from the regular monitoring and regulation 
of mining companies operating in production 
forest reserves, the LG also implemented a 
plethora of community development initiatives 
such as the road project in the New Abirem in the 
E a s t e r n  R e g i o n  a s  w e l l  a s  c o m m u n i t y 
development projects in the Bibiani-Awhiawso-
Bekwai catchment area in the Western North 
Region. 



Introduction
The Secretariat of the Ghana Chamber of Mines’ 
A d m i n i s t r a t i o n  a n d  H u m a n  R e s o u r c e s 
Department offers strategic support and direction 
to its management, employees, and member 
companies. The Department does this through 
deliberate actions directed at creating and 
maintaining the requisite engaged work 
environment and team equipped to proactively 
address the ever-changing requirements of the 
Chamber and the mining industry at large. 

As a critical Department within the Secretariat, 
the Administration and Human Resources 
Department focuses on meeting its strategic 
goals while supporting the other departments to 
do same. This target of the Department became 
even more critical with the onset of the pandemic; 
Novel Corona Virus (Covid-19). The Department 
had to provide the leadership and staff of the 
Ghana Chamber of Mines with the requisite 
resources to meet its strategic mission amidst the 
uncertainties engendered by the pandemic. The 
Administration and HR Department's success will 
be measured by its capability to align and 
integrate its internal and external processes with 
those of the Chamber and its member companies 
to mitigate the impacts of the pandemic while 
staying sustainable.  

In the coming year, the Administration and Human 
Resources Department will continue to explore 
innovative and proactive tools and resources to 
meet the changing demands of the Chamber's 
stakeholders, through its commitment to refining 
its apt service-oriented culture.

Administration
In the year under review, it became critical for the 
Administration and HR Department to review and 
recategorize its approach in order to provide the 
Secretariat with unique policies, systems, 
procedures, and manuals to mitigate the impact of 
the Novel Corona Virus pandemic, (Covid-19). 

Human Resource Management
Critical amongst the changes implemented at the 
Secretariat to mitigate the impact of Covid-19 by 
the Administration & HR Department was the 
transition to alternative work arrangements, like 
teleworking and rotational work schedules for 
staff of the Secretariat. The Department provided 
the Secretariat with the required additional tools 
and resources like computers, accessories, and 
virtual platforms to aid the smooth transition from 
the traditional ways of work to the “new normal” 
of remote work and virtual meetings, amongst 
others. The Department continued to ensure that 
the human resource at the Chamber was able and 
adequately resourced to support the work of the 
Chamber and the industry in the midst of the 
pandemic. The Chamber welcomed a new 
member of staff - HR and Administration 
Assistant.

Industrial Relations
Although the over-all industrial atmosphere in the 
country was tense due to the challenges posed by 
Covid-19, the mining industry had a generally 
harmonious atmosphere. While the pandemic led 
to uncertainties, the Department ably assisted 
member companies of the Chamber with germane 
support to the HR Professionals in the industry. 
This aided the HR Professionals to continue to 
manage their respective workforces with the 
emotional and psychological support required to 
meet targets of the Chamber's various member 
companies.  

The Department was able to facilitate the Joint 
Standing Negotiation Committee meetings with 
the Ghana Mine Workers' Union (GMWU) and the 
Ghana Manufacturing Metal Workers' Union 
(GEMM) to review the salaries and conditions of 
service for employees of both the PMSU and 
Branch Unions.

The interactions with the GMWU and GEMM 
included Salary Negotiations for 2020, review of 
m e m b e r  c o m p a n i e s '  w a g e  m o d e l s  a n d 
maintaining Covid-19 protocols amongst 
employees.

ADMINISTRATION & HUMAN RESOURCE (HR) DEPARTMENT
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The Ghana Mine Workers' Union as part of its 
stakeholder initiatives, invited members of the 
Branch and Professional Management Senior 
Staff Union (PMSU) to its National Executive 
Committee (NEC) meetings at the Ghana 
Shippers' Building.  

Capacity Building (Internal)
Talent development has always been a priority of 
the Secretariat of the Chamber. Amidst the 
limitations brought on by the pandemic such as 
the imperative for all to limit physical interactions, 
some staff participated in various virtual training 
programmes. These included:

! Alternative working arrangements by the 
Society for Human Resource Management

! Employment relations issues arising from 
Covid-19 and implications for businesses by 
the Ghana Employers' Association

! Leading remotely in times of uncertainty and 
managing flexi-work arrangements by the 
Ghana Employers' Association

! Reopening your workplaces by the Ghana 
Employers' Association

An employee enrolled in the American human 
resources professional certification: Society for 
Human Resource Management (SHRM). 

Strategic External Liaisons
The Chamber continued to engage with key 
strategic partners and stakeholders during the 
year under review. These partners included: 

Minerals Commission
Irrespective of the difficulties faced by member 
c o m p a n i e s  d u e  t o  t h e  p a n d e m i c ,  t h e 
Administration & HR Department facilitated 
interactions between members of the Chamber 
and the Minerals Commission on the following 
issues:
! Amendments to Minerals and Mining Act, 2006 

(Act 703)

! Review and comparative analysis of the 
Minerals and Mining (General) Regulations, 
2012 (LI 2173) and Draft Local Content and 

Local Participation Regulations

! 2020 Local Procurement Plans

! 2020 Procurement Mid-year and Annual 
Reports

! Renewal of exploration tenements

! Review of the Mining List

! Collaboration to promote female participation 
and inclusion in the mining industry

! Registration of mine support services 
companies under special consideration

Ghana Employers' Association (GEA)
In the year under review, the Department 
continued to foster a long-lasting relationship 
between the Chamber and the Association by 
facilitating the participation of employees of 
member companies to seminars and workshops 
organized by the GEA. 

The Administration and HR Department continued 
to attend the GEA Council's meetings and 
participated in webinars, mostly on the Novel 
Corona Virus and managing the workplace.  

The GEA continued to supply the Chamber's 
Human Resource Committee with its weekly 
employee relations publication; IR News, which 
brings to light events and court rulings in the 
Ghanaian industry.

Ghana Shippers' Authority (GSA)
During the year under review, the Administration 
& Human Resource Department represented the 
Ghana Chamber of Mines at the Authority's Board 
of Directors' meetings. The Department continued 
to liaise with member companies and the Ghana 
Shippers' Authority to ensure smooth and 
efficient transportation of inputs and products for 
members of the Chamber, especially during the 
global pandemic and its concomitant shipping 
challenges.

South African Mineral Processing Equipment 
Cluster (SAMPEC) and the Mining Equipment 
Manufacturers of South Africa (MEMSA)
MEMSA is an industry cluster of organizations 
aimed at advocating for and promoting the 
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interests of its members and the mining 
equipment manufacturers in South Africa. 
SAMPEC which is a sister company to MEMSA 
organizes and collaborates on matters of mutual 
interest. Specifically, SAMPEC aims to help drive 
policy and focus for the minerals processing 
sector in South Africa.

In the year under review, these two organizations 
showed interest in collaborating with the 
Chamber to advance their cause through joint 
ventures and partnerships, amongst others, with 
mine support services companies of the Chamber. 
The long-term goal of this partnerships will be to 
build local manufacturing and processing 
capacities of mine support services companies of 
the Chamber and eventually transfer ownership 
to the locals. The Chamber had meetings with 
these two organizations to understand their goal 
and to clarify the expectations of the Ghana 
C h a m b e r  o f  M i n e s  a n d  t h e s e  e x t e r n a l 
stakeholders. To further engage the entities, a 
draft Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) has 
been developed between the twin-organizations 
and the Chamber with the aim of providing 
guidelines for this commercial engagement.

Ghana Association of Bankers 
Towards its initiative of helping mine support 
services companies of the Ghana Chamber of 
Mines to improve capacity to meet the demands of 
the mining firms, the Administration and Human 
Resource Department facilitated meetings 
between the Chamber and the Ghana Association 
of Bankers. The aim of these engagements was to 
foster a working relationship with finance houses 
in Ghana through their Association for the 
provision of competitive funding to support the 
local content agenda of the Chamber. The two 
membership associations are developing special 
purpose vehicles for the implementation of supply 
chain financing for the mine support services 
companies of the Chamber. 

Internal Committees
The Administration and Human Resource 
D e p a r t m e n t  c o n t i n u o u s ly  p r o v i d e d  t h e 
committees of the Chamber with tactful and 
proactive support in order for the concerns 

impacting their operations to be addressed. The 
Committees of the Chamber under the support of 
this Department are: 
! Affiliate Committee
! Contractors' Committee
! Exploration Committee
! HR Practitioners' Committee
! Supply Managers' Committee
! Governing Board of the Tertiary Education Fund 

Affiliate Committee
Towards achieving its goal of providing goods and 
services to the mineral rights holders, the Affiliate 
Committee held its quarterly meetings in the year 
under review. As part of the safety measures 
implemented to curtail the spread of the Novel 
Corona Virus (COVID-19) in the country, the 
Committee like the other committees, adapted 
virtual meeting platforms for its quarterly 
meetings. The Committee engaged the various 
stakeholders to address issues influencing their 
operations. 

These issues included:

T r a n s i t i o n  o n t o  I n t e g r a t e d  C u s t o m s 
Management System (ICUMS): The introduction 
of the Integrated Customs Management System 
(ICUMS) by the government of Ghana which 
aimed at facilitating efficiency in the clearing 
processes while increasing revenue collections at 
the country's ports was saddled with challenges. 
These challenges affected the operations of 
businesses in the country including those of our 
member companies.  In this  regard,  the 
A d m i n i s t r a t i o n  a n d  H u m a n  R e s o u r c e s 
Department liaised with the Customs Division of 
the Ghana Revenue Authority for a meeting to 
expound on the usage of the new system. The 
engagement afforded members the opportunity 
to present their challenges and pertinent issues 
they encountered with the System and to have 
them addressed.

Industrial Visits: The Administration and HR 
Department, as part of its mandate accords 
member companies the needed support to 
improve their business operations. In this regard, 
the Department embarks on periodic industrial 
visits to familiarize itself with the operations of 
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member companies and provide guidance where 
necessary. In the year under review, the 
Department facilitated industrial visits to Riepco 
Ghana, B5 Plus Limited, and Nexans Kablemetal.

C a p a c i t y  B u i l d i n g  P r o g r a m m e :  T h e 
Administration and HR Department organized a 
virtual capacity building programme for the mine 
support services companies on the topic, 
“Sourcing, Procure-to-Pay Process Flows and the 
Rudiments of Invoicing”. The training programme 
afforded the supply chain professionals of the 
producing member companies, the opportunity to 
take their mine support services counterparts 
through the afore-mentioned topic. 

The Affiliate Committee members were taken 
through the various steps implemented by the 
mining firms in sourcing, tendering for goods and 
services as well as their respective processes for 
invoicing. The training offered mine support 
service companies the platform to familiarize 
themselves with new trends in the supply chain 
processes in the mining companies and to also 
afford them the opportunity to present their 
challenges to the Supply Managers.

 Human Resource Practitioners' Committee
With the advent of the Novel Corona Virus 
(COVID-19) in the country, members of the 
Human Resource Practitioners' Committee put in 
measures to ensure that the virus did not have 
deleterious impact on the operations of the 
member companies of the Chamber. One of the 

proactive initiatives taken to this effect, was the 
engagement with the Ghana Mine Workers' Union 
(GWMU) to discuss the effects of the pandemic on 
employees.

This engagement sought to outline measures 
taken by employers in the wake of the virus to 
ensure the welfare and wellbeing of the 
workforce. In addition to the foregoing, the Union 
was engaged to discuss ways of ensuring 
sustainability of the mining industry amidst the 
crisis.

The following were some of the issues the HR 
Committee dealt with during the year under 
review in addition to the aforementioned:

Human Resource Development: The Committee 
engaged a resource person from the Social 
Security and National Insurance Trust (SSNIT) to 
discuss issues bordering on the regulation of 
underground employees' retirement. Mr. Joseph 
Opoku, Pensions Manager at SSNIT elucidated 
Section 76 of the National Pensions Act 766 
relating to underground employees. In relation to 
health, the Human Resource Practitioners 
engaged a team from EuraCare Advanced 
Diagnostics & Heart Centre on the causes of 
cardiovascular diseases among employees and 
how the HR Professionals will seek urgent and 
specialist care right here in Ghana for their 
respective companies.

Continuous Professional Development: As has 
been the practice of the HR Committee, members 
contribute to their own capacity building and 
skills enhancement through the Continuous 
Professional Development (CPD) programme.  In 
the year under review, SGS Laboratory Services 
presented on the topic, “Improving staff 
engagement through wellbeing initiatives” to the 
rest  of  the members.  The presentat ion 
highlighted on the need for improved healthy 
lifestyles and wellbeing among staff as a means 
of enhancing employee engagement.

Engagement with Educational Institutions: In 
the year under review, the Department facilitated 
engagements among the HR Committee and three 
institutions namely; Henley Business School, 
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Lucas-Nuelle Training Solutions on Technical & 
Vocational Training Solutions and Education Sub-
Saharan Africa (ESSA).

Henley Business School presented on its 
executive education options and offered to design 
tailor-made courses to meet the unique needs of 
managers and leaders of the mining industry. 

Lucas-Nuelle, a German based organization 
experimenting with education-based optimized 
systems that lead to technical expertise and 
hands-on skills, showcased its success stories to 
the HR Committee. It offered to partner with 
member  companies  on the ir  respect ive 
apprenticeship programmes using technology.

Education Sub-Saharan Africa (ESSA) on the 
other hand is a charity educational organization 
based in the United Kingdom with the aim of 
increasing employment skills and opportunities 
for young people by improving tertiary education 
in sub-Saharan Africa. It has offered to partner 
mining companies in developing the skills of the 
youth in their respective host communities. The 
three institutions indicated their preparedness to 
partner with industry through their unique 
courses and programmes.

2020 Negotiations and Staff Benefits: The 
members of the HR Committee led their 
respective management teams through salary 
negotiations and review of Collective Agreements 
unabated in spite of the challenges posed by the 
Novel Corona Virus pandemic. Member companies 
that reviewed their Collective Agreements 
presented copies to the Secretariat for record 
keeping. The Committee collated data on staff 
benefits from member companies which provided 
the HR professionals with a database for 
reference during negotiations. This exercise was 
carried out to ensure that the minimum 
requirements of staff benefits are met within the 
industry.

Strategic COVID-19 Response: In the wake of 
the Novel Corona Virus, the Committee instituted 
an Ad-hoc Committee that drafted guidelines 
which were used to manage employment 
relations and conditions of service in the mining 

industry. The aim was to ensure the sustainability 
of operations while mitigating the impacts of the 
pandemic on member companies and employees. 

As part of the efforts to contain the spread of the 
virus at the various workplaces, the Department 
collaborated with the Ministry of Employment and 
Labour Relations and shared the latter's 
communiques with member companies to ensure 
compliance with the national Covid-19 safety 
protocols.  

Supply Managers' Committee
In the year under review, the Supply Managers' 
Committee continued to discuss pressing issues 
affecting the supply chain profession of the 
mining industry and shared best practices 
amongst member companies. Additionally, it also 
commenced some initiatives aimed at building the 
capacities of the Affiliate Committee. Among the 
issues addressed during the quarterly meetings 
by the Committee were:  

Mining Supply Chain Community of Practice: The 
evolution of the mining industry over the years has 
influenced the dynamic work of the supply chain 
professionals in the industry. To meet the ever-
changing demands of the profession, the 
Committee adopted strategies to enhance the 
capacities of future supply chain professionals 
who will work in the mining industry.  It is against 
this backdrop that the Committee initiated the 
planning of activities aimed at influencing the 
supply chain graduates being churned out by the 
tertiary institutions. In order for the students to 
be relevant to the practicalities and demands of 
the mining industry, the group has begun building 
mining related practical supply chain content 
while exploring avenues of integrating such 
content into the tertiary education's curricula. In 
that regard, the Committee engaged the Country 
Manager  of  the  Char tered  Inst i tute  of 
Procurement and Supply (CIPS), Ms. Stella Addo, 
to discuss the afore-mentioned agenda. Ms. Addo 
in turn shared the vision and roadmap of the 
Institute with members and welcomed the 
initiative of the Committee. She offered the 
support of CIPS in ensuring the success of the 
project. 
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Local Content Framework: The Committee 
engaged the Minerals Commission to explore 
effective ways of improving the mining industry's 
local content drive. During the annual local 
content performance review meeting in 
December, 2020; both parties agreed to work 
together to develop a comprehensive and 
progressive framework to address the challenges 
encountered by mineral rights holders and mine 
support service companies. This framework aims 
at guiding the engagement between the Supply 
Managers, the Secretariat, and the Commission 
towards achieving a laudable and mutually 
beneficial objective of building a more robust, 
meaningful and achievable local content. The 
Committee shared its draft Local Content 
Framework with the Regulator for inputs. It is 
anticipated that this framework will provide the 
guiding principles by which the mineral rights 
holders, the Ghana Chamber of Mines and 
Minerals Commission will progressively work 
together towards the achievement of the goals of 
the Local Content and Local Participation 
Regulation, L.I.2431.

Supply Chain Financing Programme: One of the 
decisions taken at the 2019 Local Content 
Workshop was the need to assist mine support 
services companies with competitive financing in 
order to meet demands of the producing 
companies. The Committee commenced the 
initiative in the year under review by engaging 
relevant stakeholders to explore the possibility of 
assisting the mine support services companies by 

building their capacities with the long-term 
objective of graduating some of them from 
stockists into manufacturing companies. A Tender 
Committee was instituted to oversee the 
implementation of the programme.  The members 
of the Committee are:

Clifford Adu-Biney   -  Chairman

Lawrencia Boahemaa Awuah   - Secretary

Simone Ayem   -  Member

Thomas Baffour-Awuah  -  Member 

As part of the  roadmap of the programme, the 
Ghana Association of Bankers (GAB) was engaged 
to facilitate the initiative with its members in order 
to provide sustainable financial solutions that 
would meet the short, medium, and long-term 
goals of the Ghana Chamber of Mines. Pursuant to 
this, some members of the GAB submitted their 
proposals  to  the Tender  Committee for 
consideration.

Minerals and Mining (Local Content and Local 
Participation) Regulations, 2020, (L.I. 2431): The 
Supply Managers' Committee participated in the 
series of stakeholder engagements organized by 
the Minerals Commission to review the contents 
of the Local Content and Local Participation 
Regulations, 2020 (L.I.2431). 

Exploration Committee
The Exploration Committee in the year under 
review held its quarterly meeing its operations. 
The Committee made progress tings to deliberate 
on issues influencwith pressing issues as reported 
below: 

2020 Local Procurement List Performance 
Review meeting
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Engagement with Ghana Institute of Surveyors: 
The Administrat ion and HR Depar tment 
facilitated an engagement between the Ghana 
Institute of Surveyors (GhIS) and the Exploration 
Committee to discuss among other issues, the 
high fees charged on surveying concessions. 
Through this meeting, the Institute assured the 
Chamber of its collaboration towards resolving 
the afore-mentioned issue. 

Renewal of Tenements:  The Department 
collaborated with the Minerals Commission and 
the Ministry of Lands & Natural Resources to 
progress on the renewal of the outstanding 
tenement applications of member companies. 

Meeting with Ghana Geological Survey Authority 
(GGSA): The Ghana Geological Survey Authority 
(GGSA) engaged the Chamber to discuss the full 
implementation of the Ghana Geological Survey 
Authority Act 2016 (Act 928). The meeting was 
also an avenue to foster the relationship between 
the two entities to promote the mining industry. 
The Chamber has since included a nominee of the 
Authority in the Exploration Committee.

Contractors' Committee
In the face of the difficulties brought on by the 
Covid-19 pandemic, members of the Contractors' 
Committee explored virtual options for their 
meetings. During these meetings, members 
stated that the pandemic had no major impact on 
their activities due to their strict adherence to the 
government and the Chamber's safety protocols. 
They did however, admit to increases in their 
operational costs as a result of additional 
expenditures they incurred from their adherence 
to the Covid-19 safety protocols. 

Engagements with Chief Executive Officer of the 
Chamber: To meet the unique demands of the 
Contractors' Committee, the Administration and 
Human Resource Department initiated the 
facilitation of the one-on-one meetings between 
the Chief Executive Officer of the Chamber and 
member companies within the Contractors' 
Committee. These meetings aimed at affording 
members the opportunity to discuss pertinent 
issues hampering their operations. The first 
meeting for 2020 was held with Rocksure 

International at the end of the year. The 
Department scheduled similar engagements with 
the rest of the contract mining companies in the 
following year.    

Tertiary Education Fund
The leadership of the Ghana Chamber of Mines 
launched the Tertiary Education Fund (TEF) on 
24th October, 2019 to advance teaching, learning, 
research and application of technological 
innovation in matters relevant to the mining 
industry.  In its initial phase which will be for a 
period of five (5) years, the Fund is targeted at 
students and faculty members of the University of 
Mines and Technology (UMaT). 
The Fund's primary source of revenue will be 
contributions from producing, contract mining, 
and explosive manufacturing member companies 
of the Chamber. It is anticipated that the 
contributions of these members will generate a 
total receipt of about $450,000 per annum into the 
Fund.

Within these first five years of its existence, the 
Fund shall be applied to the following support 
areas:

! Infrastructural development 

! Research grant for faculty members related to 
industry needs 

! Research grant for post-graduate students 
related to industry needs 

! Bursary for under-graduate students related 
to industry needs 

! Provision of Educational Resources

! I n d u s t r y  T r a i n i n g  P r o g r a m m e  f o r 
undergraduate students with exceptional            
performance  

Within the first year of its existence, the Governing 
Board carried out its mandate by implementing 
the following initiatives within the above-
mentioned support areas.

Ghana Chamber of Mines' Mining and Mineral 
Resources Block: An infrastructural assessment 
was performed by the Governing Board which 
revealed the urgent need to support the University 
with infrastructural development. The Board in 
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consultation with the Chamber's Council agreed 
to construct the “Ghana Chamber of Mines' Mining 
and Mineral Resources Block” for UMaT. The 
preliminary processes for the project, which 
include tendering and adjudication were done in 
the year under review. 

Secondment of UMaT's Faculty Members to 
Industry: To bridge the gap between academia 
and industry, faculty members of the University 
were granted the opportunity to be seconded with 
mining firms. The initiative was to enable 
lecturers and their host mining firms exchange 
knowledge and to share improvement ideas. The 
maiden edition covered fourteen (14) lecturers 
from the University for the programme. 

Bursary for undergraduate students: The 
Governing Board awarded scholarships to thirty 
(30) undergraduate students in UMaT for the 
2020/2021 academic year. The beneficiaries of 
the scholarships were students from the second 
to the final years and of different academic 
disciplines relevant to the mining industry. Some 
of the beneficiary students who will exhibit 
excellent academic performances will be enrolled 
onto the “Industry Training Programme”. 

2021 And Way Forward 

Affiliate Committee
In the coming year, the Administration & HR 
Depar tment  together  with  the  Affil iate 
Committee shall work with relevant stakeholders 
to address the following issues:

- Capacity Building: The Department will continue 
to facilitate workshops and seminars for 
members of the Committee which will aim to 
improve their operations and enhance their 
relationships with their supply chain counterparts 
in the mining firms. The Administration and HR 
Department will facilitate benchmarking of best 
practices amongst mine support services 
companies in order to meet demands of the mining 
firms.
  
-  Industrial Visits: The Department will carry on 
with its routine visits to member companies in 
order to continue with its familiarization of the 
operations as well as to provide them with the 
needed support. 

Human Resource Committee
The Administration & HR Department will 
continue to liaise with stakeholders to ensure the 
following concerns of the HR Committee are 
resolved. These will include:

-  Continuing Professional Development: The 
Department will proceed to work with members 
of the Committee to facilitate programmes that 
will enhance the capacities of the HR practitioners 
in the mining industry.

-  Staff Benefits: The Department will maintain its 
mandate of collating data on the salaries, 
allowances and benefits of employees to guide 
the members of the Committee in developing and 
reviewing Collective Agreements of their 
respective companies. 

-  Negotiat ions:  In the coming year,  the 
Administration and Human Resource Department 
will support members of the Committee with their 
salary negotiations and Collective Agreements 
reviews as has been the practice. Members will be 
implored to recommit to the habit of negotiating in 
good faith for the maintenance of continuous 
harmonious industrial environment.
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- Covid-19 response strategy: The Department 
will liaise with members of the HR Committee to 
ensure compliance with the Covid-19 safety 
protocols. Existing strategies will be reviewed to 
ensure that the spread of the virus in the mining 
industry is kept to the barest minimum.

Contractors Committee 
In 2021, the Committee commits to focus on 
partnering with the producing member companies 
to ensure the sustainability of the mining industry.

The Administration and Human Resource 
Department shall  design and implement 
innovative ways of providing support to the 
Contractors' Committee for long term growth.

Supply Managers' Committee
For 2021, the Supply Managers' Committee will be 
addressing the following issues:

- Ghana Chamber of Mines' Supply Chain Financing 
P r o g r a m m e :  T h e  A d m i n i s t r a t i o n  &  H R 
Department will maintain its partnership with the 
Supply Managers' Committee and the Tender 
Committee to execute its mandate of working with 
stakeholders to secure competitive sources of 
finance for the mine support services companies.

- Local Content Workshop: With the advent of the 
Novel Corona Virus, the Department will explore 
alternative opportunities of hosting a virtual Local 
C o n t e n t  Wo r k s h o p  a n d  E x h i b i t i o n .  T h e 
A d m i n i s t r a t i o n  a n d  H u m a n  R e s o u r c e s 
D e p a r t m e n t  w i l l  c o n t i n u e  t o  f a c i l i t a t e 
engagements with internal and external 
stakeholders to ensure improvement in the mining 
industry's local content.

- Standards for Electric Cables: The Department 
will continue to work in partnership with 
stakeholders l ike the National Technical 
Committee on Electric Cables to complete the 
development of electric cables for the mining 
industry. A launch of the standards being 
developed for electric cables in the mining 
industry will also be held.
 

- Mining List: In 2021, the Department will engage 
with the relevant stakeholders: Ministry of 
Finance, Ministry of Lands & Natural Resources as 
well as the Minerals Commission to ensure the 
publication of the 10th Edition of the Mining List. 

Exploration Committee
The Administration & HR Department in the next 
year shall maintain its support to the Exploration 
Committee to:

- Improve applications of tenements: The 
Administration & HR Department will continue its 
engagement with the Ministry of Lands & Natural 
Resources and Minerals Commission to ensure 
outstanding tenements of member companies are 
renewed.  

- Engage the Ghana Institute of Surveyors: The 
Administration & HR Department will continue to 
liaise with the afore-mentioned Institute to 
provide technical support which will ensure 
sustainable exploration in Ghana while attracting 
foreign direct investments.

- VAT on Exploration: In 2021, the Administration 
and Human Resource Department shall engage 
with the relevant parastatals for the review of VAT 
on exploration. This will give Ghana a competitive 
advantage in the sub-region while improving the 
level of exploration in Ghana for a sustainable 
mining industry.

Tertiary Education Fund
In the year ahead, the Governing Board of the 
Tertiary Education Fund will undertake the 
following activities in accordance with its 
mandate: 

- Infrastructural Development: The Governing 
Board will liaise with the Council of the Chamber 
to ensure that a contract is awarded for the 
construction of Ghana Chamber of Mines' Mining 
and Mineral Resource Block at the University of 
Mines and Technology (UMaT).

- Research grant for faculty and post-graduate 
students related to industry needs: The Board will 
collaborate with the Chamber's Technical and the 
Environmental and Social Committees as well as 
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the University to provide research grants to 
lecturers and post-graduate students who will 
undertake mining related research. 

- Provision of Educational Resources: The 
Governing Board will procure an interactive 
whiteboard software and hardware which put 
lesson delivery, assessment and student 
collaboration onto one ultimate suite.

- Industry Training Programme for undergraduate 
students: The Board will continue to coordinate 
with the Human Resource and Technical 
Committees to ensure that exceptional students 
under the bursary initiative will be assigned to 
member companies for industrial training. The 
two-to-three-year training programme will follow 
designed schedules during their academic and 
national service periods. 
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Overview of the Department of Analysis, 
Research and Finance

The Department of Analysis, Research and 
Finance is primarily responsible for collating and 
analyzing data as well as providing information on 
the minerals and mining sector to undergird the 
advocacy priorities of the Chamber. As well, the 
Department’s scope of work includes the review 
of statutes, policies, directives and other related 
enactments that have a bearing on the operational 
environment of member companies as well as the 
well-being of residents of mining communities. 

The Department has also been involved in the 
implementation of the National Assay Programme 
as the technical and commercial anchor since its 
roll-out in 2018. The Programme, which is 
implemented by the Precious Minerals Marketing 
Company (PMMC), involves the assay of doré or 
concentrate prior to exportation, comparison of 
assay reports produced by PMMC to that of 
refineries engaged by member companies of the 
Chamber and determining whether any resulting 
difference is within the tolerable threshold or 
otherwise.

The outputs of the Department are made available 
to member companies and external stakeholders 
in the form of research and analytical reports, 
position papers, policy briefs and other related 
literature. These publications are also intended to 
provide data in a timeous manner to inform the 
public’s discourse on the mining sector and 
influence policy formulation. In the case of the 
latter, the publications are expected to serve as 
inputs in the formulation of policies by the 
government and its Development Partners. As 
well, the Department’s outputs serve as credible 
reference materials for businesses, researchers, 
think tanks and other non-state actors. On the 
whole, the shared information contributes to 
providing a conducive business environment to 
support the operations of member companies.
Similar to the tiered administrative structure of 

the Chamber, the activities of the Department are 
also carried out with the support of four (4) 
Committees, namely; Technical, Security, Energy 
and Finance & Budget Committees. The mandate 
of the Technical Committee includes resolving 
issues bordering on the technical aspects of 
mining, promotion of technology and innovation as 
well as sharing of best practices in health and 
safety. On the other hand, the scope of activities 
undertaken by the Security Committee relates to 
fostering a conflict-free environment to support 
mining operations as well as safeguarding assets 
and lives at the mines. Penultimately, the Energy 
Committee provides support on issues involving 
the availability, pricing and other related 
parameters that impact the main types of energy 
consumed by member companies; electricity and 
diesel. The Committee also facilitates the 
adoption of renewable and other forms of low 
carbon energy technologies in the mining sector. 
Finally, the Finance and Budget Committee has a 
dual mandate. Firstly, it has oversight of the 
process leading to the preparation of the 
Secretariat’s budget and its execution. As well, it 
supports the Chamber’s external engagements 
with duty bearers and stakeholders on fiscal and 
economic issues that are germane to the minerals 
and mining sector.

The outbreak of COVID-19 and the sequel 
c o n t a i n m e n t  m e a s u r e s  n e c e s s i t a t e d  a 
modification of the traditional objectives and 
related activities undertaken by the Department 
in 2020. In addition to focusing on initiatives that 
will improve the business environment of member 
companies and deepen the public’s understanding 
of the mining sector’s contributions to the 
economy, the Department also assisted member 
companies to contain the spread and effects of the 
viral disease on their operations. The ensuing 
sections provide a summary of the activities that 
were undertaken in the year under review 
according to  the thematic  areas of  the 
Department.

DEPARTMENT OF ANALYSIS, RESEARCH AND FINANCE
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Technical Committee

The membership of the Technical Committee 
could be categorized into two broad cohorts. The 
first group comprises representatives of 
producing mines, Affiliates, Contract Mining and 
Exploration member companies. While the 
producing mines are represented by their Mining 
and Health & Safety Managers, the others have a 
representative each on the Committee. The other 
group with co-opted members drawn from 
Associate member companies consists of the 
Minerals Commission and University of Mines and 
Technology (UMaT). The Minerals Commission is 
represented by the Chief Inspector of Mines 
whereas UMaT is represented by a senior faculty 
member.

In 2020, the Committee held four quarterly 
meetings at AngloGold Ashanti Iduapriem 
Limited, Abosso Goldfields Limited, Adamus 
Resources Limited, and AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi 
Limited respectively. Apart from the first quarter 
meeting which was held in person, the remaining 
ones were held virtually due to the restrictions on 
public gathering precipitated by the outbreak of 
COVID-19. A summary of the core activities 
undertaken under the auspices of the Committee 
or directly by the Secretariat is presented in the 
next section.

Incident Notification and Emergency Response 
Portal
In line with the Chamber’s efforts to improve the 
dissemination of incidents at the mines and the 
associated learnings, the Technical Committee 
partnered with the Secretariat to finalize the 

setting up of the Incident Notification and 
Emergency Response Portal. The portal was 
launched at the Council meeting of 29th May 2020 
after a test run of its functionalities. 

Following the completion of the set-up of the 
portal, it will serve as the primary medium for 
sharing information on incidents at the mines. 
This is expected to not only apprise members of 
happenings at other mines but also to enable 
them to take the requisite measures to forestall 
analogous incidents. Furthermore, the portal, 
which was developed by a subsidiary of Mantrac, 
Unatrac, has the capability of allowing users to 
solicit assistance from other mines. 

Engagements on Local Refining of Doré

-  Working Visit to Rand Refinery Limited
The Secretariat, represented by the Chief 
Executive Officer, Mr. Sulemanu Koney, and the 
Manager, Research and Analysis, Mr. Christopher 
Opoku Nyarko, joined a delegation from the 
Ministry of Lands and Natural Resources, 
Minerals Commission, Minerals Development 
Fund and Precious Minerals Marketing Company 
to visit Rand Refinery from 7th to 9th February 
2020.

The visit, which was led by the Minister of Lands 
and Natural Resources, Hon. Kwaku Asomah-
Cheremeh, was primarily to obtain a first-hand 
appreciation of the operations of a refinery and 
workings of  the London Bull ion Market 
Association (LBMA). Moreover, the deliberations 
were expected to contextualize the government’s 
efforts to set up an LBMA accredited refinery in 
the country through PMMC. It also provided an 
opportunity for the delegation to learn and share 
best practices in the continuum of activities 
leading to the refining of the doré and sale of 
refined gold products, including assay of 
concentrates and doré received from mine sites.
 
The managers of the LBMA accreditation process, 
who were also part of the meeting, took the 
delegation through their requirements and 
support system for potential applicants. In terms 
of  the  pre-requ is i tes  for  in i t iat ing  the 
accreditation process, they outlined the following 

Some members of the Technical Committee
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conditions: 

F Be in existence for at least five (5) years and 
has been involved in refining the metal for 
which it is applying for at least three (3) years 
prior to the application;

F Has an established annual refined production 
(which need not be in the form of standard 
bars) of at least ten (10) tonnes in the case of 
gold and 50 tonnes in the case of silver, for the 
previous three years;

F Has a tangible net worth equivalent to at least 
£15 million or such figure as the LBMA may 
from time to time determine;

F Ownership, financial standing and reputation 
would allow it to satisfy the “Know-Your-
Customer” tests practiced in the London 
bullion market; and

F Must implement the LBMA Responsible Gold 
Guidance and/or the LBMA Responsible Silver 
G u i d a n c e  a n d  p a s s  a n  a u d i t  b e f o r e 
accreditation.

- Working Visit to the Royal Refinery Private 
Limited

As part of the Chamber’s efforts to support the 
development of the in-country capacity to refine 
doré, the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Sulemanu 
Koney,  led a two-man delegation of the 
Secretariat to pay a working visit to the yet-to-be-
completed Royal Refinery Private Ltd on 13th July 
2020. The refinery is located at the premises of 
Precious Minerals Marketing Company (PMMC) in 
the heart of Accra’s Central Business District 
(CBD).

The Managing Director of PMMC, Hon. Alhaji 
Sulemanu Alhassan, apprised the Chamber’s 
delegation that the parastatal has entered into a 
joint venture with an Indian Investor, Royal 
Refinery Private Limited, to establish the refinery. 
He explained that PMMC has 20 per cent free 
equity interest in the refinery with the remaining 
shares owned by the foreign partner. After 
introducing the representative of the joint venture 
partner, Mr. Eric Frimpong, the Managing Director 
mentioned that the project was under the direct 
supervision of the board of PMMC and that it will 
contract the gold output of small-scale miners to 
the refinery when it commences commercial 
production. The refinery is expected to have a 
capacity of 300 kilograms per day after its 
completion.
 
On his part, the country representative of Royal 
Refinery Private Limited also stated that the 
construction of the refinery was expected to be 
completed by August 2020. He further indicated 
that the expatriate consultants for the project 
were expected to travel into the country after the 
reopening of the country’s airport to international 
commercial flights[ As part of the measures to 
curb the spread of COVID-19, the country’s ports 
were closed by the government.]. In a similar vein, 
he averred that some of the imported equipment 
to be installed in the refinery were yet to arrive due 
to COVID-19 induced challenges with freight. He 
also assured the Chamber of the refinery’s 
commitment to apply for an LBMA accreditation 
when it commences commercial production.

- Gold Purchase Programme by the Bank of 

A section of the delegation at the gold 
room of Rand Refinery

The CEO of the Ghana Chamber of Mines, Mr. Sulemanu Koney, 
with officials of PMMC and Royal Refinery 
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Ghana
In line with the Bank of Ghana’s strategy to 
diversify its foreign reserves, the management of 
the Bank engaged the Chamber on a proposed 
programme to purchase a part of members’ 
refined gold. The Secretariat facilitated bilateral 
and group interactions between the Bank and 
producing member companies. It is expected that 
member companies will work with the central 
bank to  develop a  mutual ly  acceptable 
framework.

- Interaction with GoldRidge Ghana Limited
The Chief Executive Officer of GoldRidge, Dr. 
Sledge Nana Yaw Duodu, paid a courtesy call on 
the Chief Executive Officer of the Ghana Chamber 
of Mines, Mr. Sulemanu Koney, to discuss the 
firm’s intention to expand its operations to include 
refining services. He explained that the refinery 
will be sited at East Legon, in Accra, and that it will 
be completed by the end of 2021. 

Further, he apprised the CEO that the refinery will 
commence production by sourcing its input from 
the small-scale producers and progress to 
obtaining the same from the large-scale 
producers  after  apply ing  and obta in ing 
accreditation from the London Bullion Market 
Association (LBMA). The CEO of the Chamber 
undertook to visit the refinery in 2021 following a 
request by his guest, Dr. Duodu.

Engagement with Ghana National Association of 
Small-Scale Miners
As part of its stakeholder engagements, the 
Secretariat of the Chamber of Mines interacted 
with the leadership of the Ghana National 
Association of Small-Scale Miners (GNASSM) on 
10th July 2020. The Secretariat’s team was led by 
the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Sulemanu Koney, 
while that of GNASSM was its president, Mr. Philip 
Akufo. 

The pith of the discussions was on the under-listed 
issues:
! Formalization of small-scale mining
! Building of capacity of small-scale miners with 

assistance from the Chamber

! Right  of  first  refusal  to  concess ions 
relinquished by large-scale mines to the 
Minerals Commission

! Remediation of inefficiencies associated with 
the 3 per cent withholding tax applicable to the 
export of gold in the small-scale sector

The meeting concluded with a resolution for both 
parties to meet biannually to deliberate and 
explore solutions to issues of mutual interests.

Meeting with the Chamber of Bullion Traders 
Ghana (CBTG)
In its quest to build strategic alliances and keep 
members informed of developments in the mining 
industry, the Secretariat engaged the newly 
formed Chamber of Bullion Traders Ghana (CBTG) 
on 14th July, 2020. The interaction provided an 
opportunity for the Secretariat to have a better 
understanding of the objectives and membership 
of CBTG as well as explore areas of cooperation.

The Chairman of the Chamber of Bullion Traders 
Ghana (CBTG), Mr. Kwaku Effah Esuahene, 
mentioned that the organisation was established 
in the latter part of 2019 and that it represents the 
interest of firms in the business of bullion trading 
and allied activities. Specifically, he stated that its 
members, which stood at thirty (30), include 
licensed gold buyers, agents of gold dealers, 
small-scale mining companies,  financial 
institutions and suppliers of mining equipment. 
The ensuing discussions focused on the main 
challenges facing its members, such as the 
termination of transshipment services, high 
regulatory fees and administration of the 3 per 
cent withholding tax. 

To address the issues raised by the Chairman, the 
CEO suggested that the Chamber will convene a 
meeting among the CBTG, Minerals Commission, 
Ghana Revenue Authority and the Chamber; a 
suggestion which was accepted by the leadership 
of the umbrella organization for bullion traders 
(The planned meeting was called off as a result of 
concerns expressed by one of the stakeholders).  
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Coordination of the Chamber’s Response to the 
Outbreak of COVID-19
Prior to the outbreak of COVID-19 in Ghana, the 
Technical Committee supported the Secretariat to 
develop an emergency response plan for member 
companies. The plan, which was subsequently 
adopted by the Chamber’s Council, was primarily 
aimed at ensuring business continuity in the event 
of an outbreak in the country and at the mines. In 
the period following the recording of the first case 
and imposition of lockdown and other restrictions, 
the Secretariat liaised with relevant Ministries 
and parastatals to obtain reprieves from the 
measures for member companies. 

Further, the Secretariat liaised with the respective 
doctors of member companies to develop an 
advisory note on COVID-19 as well as coordinate 
the donation of medical consumables and 
equipment worth USD 2 million to the Ministry of 
Health and the main COVID-19 testing facilities; 
Noguchi Memorial Institute for Medical Research, 
Kumasi Centre for Collaborative Research in 
Tropical Medicine (KCCR) and National Public 
Health and Reference Laboratory.
 
The Secretariat also worked closely with the Food 
and Drugs Authority (FDA) to facilitate the first 
accreditation of a privately-owned laboratory to 
provide testing services for COVID-19. The 
laboratory, MDS-Lancet, was expected to provide 
testing services at the sites of some member 
companies. As well, the Secretariat assisted some 
member companies to set up autonomous COVID-
19 testing facilities at their respective sites. 
Similarly, the Secretariat brokered partnerships 
for COVID-19 testing services with accredited 
laboratories on behalf  of  some member 
companies. 

Inter-Mines First Aid and Safety Competition
The structure of the 2020 edition of the Inter-
Mines First Aid and Safety Competition was 
modified due to the outbreak of COVID-19 and the 
subsequent measures that were instituted to 
curtail its diffusion. In lieu of the oral and practical 
contests, the competition was commemorated as 
a week-long media campaign on best practices in 
health and safety on the networks of a leading 
private media firm, Multimedia. 

Specifically, the discussions on carefully selected 
topics were transmitted on the radio (Joy FM, Hitz 
FM and Adom FM), television (Joy News and Joy 
Prime) and social media outlets of the media 
house. The discussions were anchored by the 
chieftains of Health and Safety Departments of 
producing member companies as well as the 
Environmental Consultant of the Ghana Chamber 
of Mines, Nana Andoh. As well, the Secretariat 
worked with St. John Ambulance to produce short 
videos on how to administer first aid in the event of 
injuries at home, such as broken foot from slipping 
on a staircase.

Support to Mining Support Services and 
Manufacturing Firms
In line with the Chamber’s avowed commitment 
t o  a s s i s t  m i n i n g  s u p p o r t  s e r v i c e s  a n d 
manufacturing firms, the Technical Committee 
usually provides opportunities for such entities to 
interact with key decision-makers at its meetings. 
In the year under review, the mining support 
services firms that delivered presentations at the 
meetings of the Technical Committee were Riepco 
Ghana Ltd and Fortress Ghana Limited.

Interactions with the Inspectorate Division of 
the Minerals Commission
The Inspectorate Division of the Minerals 
Commission (IDMC) is a unit of the Minerals 
Commission that oversees the technical as well as 
health and safety aspects of mining in Ghana. In 
view of its central role in the mining industry, the 
Secretariat works closely with the Chief 
Inspector of Mines (CIM), who is the head of the 
Division, to enhance the outcomes of its 
regulatory activities. This is achieved through 
regular interactions with the CIM at the meetings 
of  the Technical  Committee and ad-hoc 

A delegation of the Chamber's Secretariat 
at the Premises of MDS-Lancet
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engagements on policy-related issues pertaining 
to the regulatory remit of the IDMC.

Akin to previous years, the forum of the Technical 
Committee was the main avenue through which 
the CIM interacted with mining companies on 
policy proposals and operational issues in 2020. 
The CIM or his representatives participated in the 
quarterly meetings of the Technical Committee 
and seized the opportunity to discuss issues 
r e l a t i n g  t o  c o m p l i a n c e  o n  r e p o r t i n g 
requirements, discussion of incident reports, 
review of fees and the schedule of exams for 
senior officers.

Industry-Academia Collaboration
In consonance with the Chamber’s commitment 
to bridging the gap between the mining industry 
and academia, the Secretariat, under the aegis of 
the Technical Committee continued to provide 
adjunct faculty support to the University of Mines 
and Technology (UMaT) and other tertiary 
institutions. This took the form of presentations 
by faculty members of the University and other 
researchers at the forum of the Technical 
Committee. The Secretariat and member 
companies also regularly engage the services of 
UMaT on research activities and the technical 
aspects of mining. 

In the year under review, the Secretariat 
continued to liaise with a team of researchers 
from the University, led by the Vice-Chancellor, 
Prof. J.S.Y. Kuma, to undertake a study on the 
linkages between the minerals and non-mining 
sectors. The outcome of the study, which will be 
shared with duty bearers and other relevant 
stakeholders, will inform policy formulation on 
how to maximize the potential of the mining 
sector’s supply chain for national development. 

Moreover, the Committee provided an opportunity 
for a doctoral candidate at the University of 
Newcastle, Australia, to share the findings of her 
research work on the topic “Health and Safety in 
Ghana’s Mining Industry: Mental Health in 
Perspective”. It is instructive to note that the data 
collection for the study was facilitated by the 
Technical Committee. Lastly, a faculty member of 
UMaT, Dr. Eric Stemn, delivered a presentation on 

the topic “Assessing the Quality of Incident 
Investigations and its Effects on Safety 
Performance of the Mining Industry”.

Memorandum of Understanding with the Ghana 
Institution of Engineering
The Technical  Committee  ass isted  the 
Secretariat to review a draft cooperation 
agreement between the Chamber and the Ghana 
Institution of Engineering. The agreement, which 
w a s  i n  t h e  f o r m  o f  a  M e m o r a n d u m  o f 
Understanding, was primarily intended to 
address technical and commercial engineering 
gaps in the supply chain of the mining industry. 
Overall, the remediation of these challenges is 
anticipated to enhance the implementation of 
local content initiatives in the mining industry.

National Assay Programme
Following the roll-out of the national assay 
programme in the large-scale mining sector in 
2018, the Secretariat has been assisting the state 
assayer, Precious Minerals Marketing Company, 
with the technical and commercial aspects of the 
programme. The technical component of the 
programme involves analyzing assay reports of 
PMMC and refineries of member companies to 
ascertain whether the assay values are within the 
acceptable tolerance range or otherwise. On the 
other hand, the commercial aspect relates to the 
settlement of fees due PMMC for the statutory 
assay services rendered to the mines. In 2020, 
the Secretariat ceded the commercial component 
of the programme to PMMC and focused solely on 
the technical and protracted commercial issues.     

Security Committee
The membership of the Security Committee 
consists of representatives from the producing 
member companies, Minerals Commission and 
state security agencies. Whereas the producing 
members are represented by their respective 
heads of security, the Minerals Commission, 
which is a co-opted member is represented by the 
Chief Inspector of Mines. As well, the state 
security agencies; Ghana Army, Ghana Police 
Service, National Investigations Bureau and 
National Security Council Secretariat, which are 
also co-opted members, are usually represented 
by senior officers. 
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In 2020, the Committee held its four quarterly 
meetings at AngloGold Ashanti Iduapriem 
Limited, Abosso Goldfields Limited, Adamus 
Resources Limited and AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi 
Limited. Except for the first quarter meeting, the 
others were held virtually due to the restrictions 
on public gathering triggered by the outbreak of 
COVID-19. The main activities that were 
undertaken by the Committee with support from 
the Secretariat are summarized in the following 
section.

Non-Deployment of State Security Officers
The Secretariat has been advocating for the 
deployment of police officers to replace the 
military personnel who were withdrawn from the 
mines in 2019. As an interim measure to bridge the 
security gap, the Secretariat liaised with member 
companies to find credible alternative solutions to 
the challenges. This primarily involved working 
with their respective local police officers to 
provide security for critical operations on an ad-
hoc basis. Notwithstanding, member companies 
recorded an appreciable hike in security breaches 
at their concessions in the year under review.  

 Interaction between the Ministry of National 
Security and Security Committee
Further to the Chamber’s advocacy on the 
deployment of security officers to the mines, the 
Ministry of National Security accepted to 
participate in a meeting of the Security Committee 
which was held on 12th March, 2020 at the 
Iduapriem Mine of AngloGold Ashanti. In the 
ensuing discussions, the Deputy Minister, Hon. 
Henry Quartey, expressed the Ministry’s 
inclination to deploy police officers to the mines in 
place of the military. The Security Committee 

supported the proposal by the National Security 
Ministry and therefore recommended that the 
Chamber should engage the latter on the subject.

Meetings with the National Security Ministry
The Chief Executive Officer of the Ghana Chamber 
of Mines, Mr. Sulemanu Koney, led a delegation 
comprising the Chairman of the Security 
Committee, Mr. George Anyema, and Manager, 
Research and Analysis, Mr. Christopher Opoku 
Nyarko, to interact with the National Security 
Ministry on the deployment of police personnel to 
the mines on 2nd July 2020. The Ministry of 
National Security was represented by its Chief 
Director, Col. Ababio Serebour, and an aide to the 
Deputy Minister of National Security, Mr. Samuel 
Amankwah.

The CEO apprised the Chief Director of the 
worsening security situation at the mines and its 
impact on operations at the mines as well as the 
investment decisions by prospective investors. He, 
therefore, appealed to the Ministry to deploy 
police personnel to safeguard the concessions of 
producing member companies of the Chamber. He 
pointed out that the presence of the uniformed 
officers at the mines would not only deter 
criminals but also enhance security in the 
contiguous communities. As well, he intimated 
that the measure would demonstrate the 
government’s commitment to providing security 
for private capital and investments.

In response to the CEO’s request, the Chief 
Director suggested that it would rather be 
expedient to set up a dedicated police unit for the 
mining industry as it obtains in the marine as well 
as oil and gas sectors. According to him, the 
recruits for the unit will be trained jointly by the 
police and military to imbibe in them a high sense 
of professionalism. The CEO expressed support 
for the proposal and mentioned that the Chamber 
could even participate in the training of the 
officers as well as resourcing the unit. In that 
regard, the Chief Director requested the Chamber 
to submit a proposal on how it would support the 
creation of the new police unit, a request that has 
since been honoured by the Chamber (The 
Chamber facilitated the training of the officers 

Some members of the Security Committee
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assigned to the newly created unit). 

Following a delay in the creation of the proposed 
unit and exacerbation in security breaches at the 
mines, the Secretariat appealed to the Minister of 
Finance, Hon. Ken Ofori-Atta, who in turn 
facilitated a meeting between the Chamber and 
Minister of National Security, Hon. Albert Kan 
Dapaah. The meeting, which took place on 27th 
August 2020, affirmed the government’s position 
to deploy specialized police officers to the mines.

Meeting with the National Security Advisor 
Following the Ministry of National Security’s 
decision to create a dedicated police unit for the 
mining industry, the Chamber interacted with the 
National Security Advisor, Brig. Gen. Emmanuel 
Okyere, on 29th October 2020. The meeting was 
also attended by the Director-General of 
Operations of Ghana Police Service, COP Kwaku 
Boadu-Peprah, who represented the Inspector 
General of Police. In the ensuing deliberations, 
both parties agreed on a framework for the 
deployment of the officers to the beneficiary-
producing member companies. The National 
Security Advisor requested the Secretariat to 
liaise with the Police hierarchy to finalize the 
deployment plan.

Meeting with the Ghana Police Service
Led by its Chief Executive, Mr. Sulemanu Koney, 
the Secretariat engaged the Ghana Police Service 
on 17th November 2020 to advance the 
discussions relating to the creation of the mining 
police unit. The Inspector General of Police, Mr. 
James Oppong-Boanuh, undertook to facilitate 
the deployment of the officers ahead of the 
national elections on 7th December, 2020. 
However, events leading to the elections made it 
onerous for the police administration to keep to its 
timelines. The police officers were expected to be 
deployed to the mines in 2021[ The officers were 
deployed to the beneficiary producing mines on 
6th May, 2021].

Withdrawal of Military Contingent of Operation 
Vanguard
The government announced the pullout of the 
military contingent of Operation Vanguard in 
March, 2020. Consequently, the anti-illegal mining 

task force comprised solely of police personnel, 
who sustained the efforts to stem illicit mining in 
the country. The Secretariat and member 
companies continued to offer the required support 
to the new leadership of Operation Vanguard.  

Voluntary Principles on Security and Human 
Rights
The Secretariat continued to participate actively 
in the Working Group meetings of the Voluntary 
Principles on Security and Human Rights 
(VPSHR). In 2020, the Working Group engaged the 
Commission on Human Rights and Administrative 
Justice (CHRAJ) to undertake a baseline study on 
human rights and security in the extractive 
industry. The consultant, CHRAJ, completed the 
fieldwork in December 2020 and it is expected to 
share the findings with the ICWG at the first 
quarter meeting of 2021. As well, the ICWG 
engaged a consultant, Mr. Ernest Lartey, to 
develop a curriculum on VPSHR. It is instructive to 
note that the activities of the ICWG were funded 
by the Voluntary Principles Association (VPA). The 
Secretariat also continued to monitor member 
companies’ level of compliance to the tenets of 
the VPSHR and there were no significant human 
rights violations by member companies or host 
community members in 2020. 

Energy Committee
The membership of the Energy Committee 
consists  of  the heads of  electr ical  and 
instrumentation units and other professionals 
that supervise the electricity and fuel needs of 
producing member companies. Representatives 
of state utility companies and regulatory bodies 
with oversight roles of the energy sector also 
participate in the meetings of the Energy 
Committee as co-opted members. These 
institutions include Volta River Authority (VRA), 
Ghana Grid Company (GRIDCo), Electricity 
Market Oversight Panel (EMOP),  Energy 
Commission and National Petroleum Authority 
(NPA).

In the year under review, the Committee held 
three (3) meetings and the discussions centered 
on security in the supply of electricity and diesel as 
well as their respective tariff structure. Overall, 
there were minimal interruptions in the supply of 
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electricity to the mines in 2020 relative to 2019. 
As in the preceding year, the tariff of VRA trended 
downwards due to the increased availability of 
gas and generation of electricity from gas-fueled 
plants. The next section summarizes the activities 
undertaken by the Committee in 2020.
 
Interaction with the National Petroleum 
Authority
The Head of Pricing of the National Petroleum 
Authority, Mr. Abass Tasunti, took part in the first 
quarter meeting of the Committee, which was 
held on 28th February, 2020, and he delivered a 
presentation on the pricing regime of gas oil 
(diesel) supplied to the mines. He explained that 
the tariff paid by mining companies comprises the 
ex-refinery price and taxes, levies and margin. The 
ex-refinery price is equivalent to the delivery price 
of diesel to the bulk distributing companies 
(BDCs) while the other components were mainly 
payments that accrue to the government and its 
agencies as well as dealers in fuel products. The 
ex-refinery price is determined by the NPA based 
on parameters which include the price of crude oil 
on the world market and freight charges.

Following his presentation, the Committee made 
the following recommendation to the Secretariat:
! Request the Ministry of Energy and NPA to 

deregulate the ex-refinery price of gas oil for 
industrial consumers as it pertains to the retail 
market

! Advocate the exclusion of the under-listed 
levies from the price build-up of gas oil 
supplied to the mines since they did not apply 
to the mining industry:

! Energy Debt Recovery Levy
! Price Stabilization and Recovery Levy
! Primary Distribution Margin
! BOST Margin
! Fuel Marking Margin
! Road Fund Levy

Meeting with the Ministry of Energy and the 
National Petroleum Authority
In line with the Chamber’s advocacy priorities and 
recommendations of the Energy Committee, the 
Secretariat held a joint meeting with the Ministry 
of Energy and National Petroleum Authority on 

25th August 2020 to deliberate on the pricing 
regime of gas oil supplied to the mines. The 
meeting concluded with a decision for the NPA to 
deregulate the ex-refinery price of gas oil supplied 
to the mines. As well, the Ministry of Energy 
undertook to liaise with the Ministry of Finance on 
the Chamber’s request for the exclusion of the 
under-listed levies and margins from the price 
build-up of gas oil supplied to the mines:
! Energy Debt Recovery Levy
! Price Stabilization and Recovery Levy
! Primary Distribution Margin
! BOST Margin
! Fuel Marking Margin
! Road Fund Levy    

Subsidization Programme for Consumers of 
Electricity
The government announced its decision to absorb 
50 per cent of the cost of electricity consumed by 
mining companies and other consumers of 
electricity for the period April to June 2020, using 
the levels of demand in March 2020 as a 
benchmark. This intervention was part of the 
state’s efforts to support industries and 
individuals to cope with the economic shocks 
brought in the wake of the outbreak of COVID-19. 

In respect of the mining industry, the state’s 
concession translated into a saving of GHS44 
million per month (approximately USD 8 million), 
excluding mining companies who obtain 
electricity from the Electricity Company of Ghana 
(ECG). It must be noted that the latter were also 
beneficiaries of the intervention.   

Interaction with Independent Power Producers
In line with its objective of diversifying the 
sources of supply of electricity and encouraging 
the inclusion of renewable energy in the power-
mix of member companies, the Committee 
engaged Independent Power Producers (IPP). 
Akin to the previous years, the Committee 
provided opportunities to some IPPs to deliver 
presentations at its meetings. These include 
Mainstream Renewable Power and NEK 
Umwelttechnik AG. Moreover, the Secretariat 
responded favourably to requests for information 
on the energy demands of the mining industry 
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from IPPs and other stakeholders.

Engagements with Ghana Grid Company
In order to pre-empt unplanned disruptions in the 
transmission of electricity to the mines, the 
Committee continued to engage regularly with the 
leadership of Ghana Grid Company (GridCo). 
GridCo equally took part in the quarterly meetings 
of the Committee to update members on their 
activities. These engagements ensured that the 
Chamber and its members were abreast of the 
operational situation of GridCo. Furthermore, 
members were also informed timeously of any 
developments on the national grid that could 
impact negatively on their operations.

Interactions with Volta River Authority
In view of the strategic importance of the Volta 
River Authority (VRA) in the generation of 
electricity, the Secretariat facilitates regular 
meetings between the former and producing 
member companies. The interactions between 
member companies and their main supplier tend 
to focus on issues relating to the tariff as well as 
the availability of generation plants and fuel. VRA 
also participated actively in the meetings of the 
Committee and leveraged the forum to brief 
members on its operations and challenges. In the 
year under review, VRA reviewed its tariff 
downwards. 

Finance and Budget Committee
The membership of the Finance and Budget 
Committee comprises representatives from the 
Represented, Affiliates and Contract Mining 
member companies. Whereas each of the 
Affiliates and Contract Mining Group has one 
r e p r e s e n t a t i v e  o n  t h e  C o m m i t t e e ,  t h e 
Represented member companies have a 
representative each. Typically, members of the 
Committee are persons who occupy managerial 
roles in the tax, finance, accounting and other 
related departments.

In 2020, the Committee held four (4) quarterly 
meetings to review the financial performance of 
the Secretariat. The Committee assisted the 
Secretariat with inputs on position or policy 
papers that bordered on fiscal and economic 
issues. Further, some members also participated 

in the Chamber’s meetings with parastatals that 
have supervisory roles over economic and tax 
policies. It also deliberated and proffered 
solutions to a range of fiscal issues that affected 
the operations of member companies. The main 
activities that were undertaken by the Secretariat 
with  the suppor t  of  the Committee are 
summarized below.

Interaction with Ghana Revenue Authority
The Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Sulemanu Koney, 
led a delegation of members of the Finance and 
Budget Committee (FNB) and staff of the 
Secretariat to interact with the leadership of the 
Ghana Revenue Authority (GRA) on 15th 
December, 2020. The GRA team was led by the 
Commissioner-General, Rev. Ammishaddai 
Owusu-Amoah and the discussions focused 
mainly on the frequency of unplanned audits 
undertaken by GRA and the associated negative 
impact on the productivity of the affected mines. 

While acknowledging that the audits enabled GRA 
to ascertain the exactitude of payments made by 
mining companies, the CEO also pointed out that 
the practice was weighing on the time cost of 
employees. The Chairman of the FNB, Mr. Edwin A. 
Acquaye, also stated that the practice sent 
negative signals to investors as the regularity of 
the impromptu audits  was indicat ive of 
wrongdoing by mining companies. The CEO, 
therefore, urged the GRA to streamline its audits 
and share an audit schedule with members. He 
mentioned that this approach would yield optimal 
outcomes for both GRA and producing member 
companies  of  the  Chamber  in  terms of 
economizing on the time cost of employees.

In response to the concerns raised by the 
Chamber, the Commissioner-General ascribed the 
situation to inadequate coordination among the 
various units of the Authority. He also mentioned 
that some of the audits were undertaken at the 
behest of the Ministries of Finance and Land & 
Natural Resources as well as parastatals such as 
the  Minerals  Commiss ion  without  pr ior 
notification to the GRA. He intimated that the 
Authority would synchronize its audit activities at 
the mines to obviate the problem. Further, he 
informed the Chamber’s delegation about the 
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establishment of a dedicated Tax Audit and 
Quality Assurance Unit, to resolve the concerns of 
taxpayers.

The other issues that were discussed bordered on 
the following themes:

! Multiplicity of Audits 

! Tax Audit and Quality Assurance Unit

! Dedicated Mining Unit and Training of GRA 
Officers

! Transfer Pricing Regulations

! VAT Refund and VAT Relief Purchase Order

! The mandate of the Mining Desk of Customs 
Division 

! Tax Appeals Board

! Surcharge of VAT on Supply of Electricity

Interaction with the International Monetary 
Fund
At the behest of the Ministry of Finance, the 
Secretariat participated in a meeting of the 
International Monetary Fund on 3rd October, 
2020. The pith of the discussions, which was part 
of the Article IV consultations of the Fund, was on 
actual and projected production volume of 
member companies and the drivers of the 
production trends. The Secretariat shared 
planned production data with the IMF. 

Engagements with Non-State Actors
In tandem with its vision of effectively 
representing the mining sector, the Secretariat 
places a premium on its relationship with non-
state actors such as Non-Governmental 
Organizations, Think-Tanks and academia. 
Accordingly, the Chamber endeavours to 
participate in events convened by these 
institutions as such engagements provide a 
medium for  the  exchange of  ideas  and 
dissemination of information on the minerals 
sector. 

In 2020, the Department represented the 
Chamber at some events hosted by non-state 
actors such as African Centre for Energy Policy, 
Natural Resource Governance Institute, Ghana 
Integrity Initiative and Star Ghana Foundation. 

M o r e o v e r,  t h e  D e p a r t m e n t  s u p p o r t e d 
postgraduate students and other researchers 
with data to fulfill the objectives of their study. 
Overall, the Secretariat interacted with about 
forty (40) undergraduate, masters and doctoral 
candidates as well as over fifteen (15) research 
institutions, including the University of Ghana 
Business School and Institute for Statistical, 
Social and Economic Research (ISSER)

Research Work
In 2020, the Department advertised a call for 
proposals for a study on positioning Ghana as the 
hub of mining support services in Ghana. Out of 
the thirteen (13) companies that responded to the 
advertorial, four (4) firms were short-listed for 
the final round of the selection process. The 
selected firm will be required to commence the 
study in 2021.

Analytical Reports
In keeping with the Chamber’s commitment to 
providing relevant and timely data to the mining 
industry’s stakeholders, the Department 
published a number of analytical reports. These 
publications, which are available on the 
Chamber’s website, usually address issues 
ranging from mineral production to contributions 
of the mining sector. Examples of such write-ups 
include Performance of the Mining Industry, 
Mining Industry Statistics and Data for Ghana, 
Publish-What-You-Pay and semi-annual reports 
on production parameters.

Advocacy Papers 
As part of its mandate, the Department analyses 
government policies and directives that have 
potential ramifications on the mining sector and 
proffers responses or recommendations to such 
developments. Typically, the Department 
collaborates closely with other units of the 
Secretariat and member companies in developing 
an industry response to policy prescriptions. The 
output of such collaborative engagements, which 
may take the form of an issue or position paper and 
briefing notes, becomes the blueprint document 
for the Chamber’s engagement with the relevant 
parastatal. In 2020, the papers that were 
developed by the Department include the 
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following:

Briefing Notes
Typically, briefing notes are prepared to inform 
duty bearers on developments and specific 
challenges in the mining sector. It is the main 
document that guides an interaction between the 
Chamber and a parastatal or government 
functionary. The Department prepared briefing 
notes for interaction with the following 
government agencies:
! Office of the President
! Ministry of Lands and Natural Resources
! Ministry of National Security
! Ghana Revenue Authority

 Issue and Position Papers
Issue papers are an aggregation of challenges 
that confront the operations of member 
companies and are classified based on the 
parastatal with the mandate to resolve such 
concerns. On the other hand, position papers 
reflect the Chamber’s stance on a specific policy 
directive by the government and its agencies. 
Some of the papers that were developed by the 
Department in 2020 include the following:
  
Treatment of Free Carried Interest in Mining 
Companies
The Secretariat responded to a policy brief on the 
treatment of free carried interest by the Ghana 
Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative 
(GHEITI), which recommended that the state’s 
10 per cent equity in mining companies should be 
converted into advanced guarantee payments. In 
its position paper, the Secretariat disagreed with 
the recommendation of GHEITI and proffered 
other ways of optimizing the state’s share in 

mining companies.

Fiscal Paper
It is a compilation of all fiscal-related issues that 
impinge on the operations of member companies. 
 
Ghana Extractive Industries Transparency 
Initiative
As a founding member of the Ghana Extractive 
Industries Transparency Initiative (GHEITI) and 
in line with its value of promoting transparency, 
the Chamber participated actively in the 
engagements of the Initiative in 2020. Some of the 
GHEITI-led activities that the Chamber took part 
in are as follows: 
! Launch of the 2017/2018 Reconciliation Report 

on the mining and oil/gas sectors 
! Launch of the Beneficial Owner Register by the 

Registrar-General’s Department
! Validation workshop for the study on the impact 

of GHEITI-induced reforms on revenue 
generation from the extractive sector.

Some members of the Multi-Stakeholder Group of GHEITI
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Background
The ECOWAS Federation of Chambers of Mines 
(EFEDCOM) seeks to advocate for and influence 
the promulgation of effective policies to promote 
sustainable and responsible mining in West Africa 
to ensure a vibrant mining industry which benefits 
all stakeholders. The current membership of 
EFEDCOM’s General Assembly is made up of 
members from Guinea, Ghana, Burkina Faso, Cote 
D’Ivoire, Togo, Nigeria and Mali, with Women in 
Mining Africa (WIMOWA) as an Associate 
member. The applications from the Chambre des 
Mines of Senegal and the West African Institute of 
Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (WAIMM) have 
been reviewed by the Executive Council and due to 
be ratified by the General Assembly.

Activities & Issues 
During the year 2020, the restrictions to mobility 
imposed by countries including that of the sub-
region disabled in-person meetings of the 
Federation. In the circumstances, the Federation 
held a virtual Executive Council meeting and an 
Annual General Meeting. 

In-Country Reporting 
EFEDCOM developed a template that collected 
key issues and concerns of its members relating to 
their respective Legal & Fiscal Regimes, Safety 
Health & Environment, Community Relations, 
Local Content, Energy & Power and Skills 
Development.

The collated information is a repository that 
guides the Federation in its policy formulation and 
interaction with key stakeholders on the 
aforementioned matters. 

COVID-19 Impacts
As a leading global frontier for mining operations, 
West Africa was not insulated from the ravages of 
the corona virus pandemic which hit the region in 
March. Its disruption of businesses and their 
supply chains is quite legendary. No doubt the 
mining industry in West Africa was adversely 
affected. However, the extent of impact varied 
from one country to the other.  

For example, in Burkina Faso six mines were 
affected and were therefore quarantined. 
Exploration activities in that country came to a 
halt. Recruitment into the industry was also 
stopped. 

In Cote D’Ivoire, the restriction in movement of 
goods and services affected production levels. To 
cope with this situation, companies pooled 
resources to ensure bulk supplies as well as 
exports to minimise transportation cost. 

The member Chambers of EFEDCOM made 
financial and material contribution to their 
governments towards the fight of the pandemic. 
Some of the contributions by the members of 
EFEDCOM are enumerated in the table below: 

It is important to emphasize that in addition to 
these contributions, members of EFEDCOM and 
their respective member companies have 
undertaken important interventions within their 
communities to protect life and reduce the effect 
of the pandemic on their operations for the benefit 
of their employees and the host communities.

1st Annual General Meeting of EFEDCOM 
The Federation hosted its first Annual General 
Meeting on 16th December, 2020, virtually. 
Members of EFEDCOM, representatives of the 
ECOWAS Commission Secretariat, Development 
partners and key stakeholders participated. The 
President of the General Assembly, Mr. Kwame 
Addo-Kufuor presented his presidential address 
and seized the opportunity to address the position 
of  EFEDCOM on issues affecting the industry. 

ECOWAS FEDERATION OF CHAMBERS OF MINES
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Member Country Value/Worth

Chambre des Mines du Guinee Guinea USD$955,263.00

Ghana Chamber of Mines Ghana USD$2Million

Chambre des Mines du Burkina Burkina Faso 200Million F CFA

Groupement Professionnel des
Miniers de Cote D’Ivoire

Cote d’Ivoire USD$1.3Million

Association Professionnelledes
Industries Extractivesdu Togo (APIET)

Togo 200Million F CFA
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Introduction
The Legal and Legislative Affairs Committee 
(LLAC) of The Ghana Chamber of Mines (the 
Chamber) has the mandate to continually review, 
examine, appraise and evaluate developments and 
happenings in the mining sector and where 
necessary, initiate or pre-empt all policy and legal/ 
legislative issues which are of relevance or 
consequential to and could potentially impact the 
mining industry in Ghana. Members are then 
required to advise the Chamber and make 
recommendations as to strategies the Chamber 
should employ to forestall  any negative 
consequences of such issues by taking concerted 
action through lobbying and advocacy. 

To carry out its mandate and accomplish the legal 
and legislative objectives/goals of the Chamber in 
2020, the LLAC carried out a number of 
programmes and activities during the year.   
 
Membership of Committee
In the year under review, representatives of 
member companies of the LLAC and their 
alternates were as follows:

· Juliet Manteaw-Kutin 
 (AngloGold Ashanti Ltd)  -  Chairperson                                        
· Michael Akafia/Paulo Adjei Okpoti 
 (Gold Fields Gh Ltd) - Member
· Robert Agbozo/ Richard Dery  
 (Newmont Gh Gold Ltd - Member
· Frederick Asare 
 (Golden Star Resources Ltd) - Member 
· Abdul Baasit Aziz Bamba 
 (Azizbamba &Ass. /Affiliates) - Member
· Chris Nyarko, 
 (Chamber's Secretariat) - Member 
· Sheila Minkah-Premo 
 (Apex Lawconsult)  - Secretary

Overview of Activities Undertaken
The LLAC held a number of meetings to discuss 
and review policy and legal issues of relevance and 
consequence to the Chamber and in particular to 
the mining industry during the period under 
review.  Some of the issues are summarised 
below.

Legislations Reviewed 
The Committee reviewed and considered several 
bills and laws during the year including those 
listed below.

The Minerals Income Investment Fund Act, 2018 
(Act 978) – The Committee discussed the recent 
amendments that were made to this Act.  

Special Import Levy (Amendment) Act, 2019 (Act 
1004) –This law amends the Special Import Levy 
(Amendment) Act, 2019 to extend the period of 
application of the Special Import Levy and to 
provide for related matters. Committee members 
reviewed this law. 

Income Tax (Amendment) Act, 2019 (Act 1007) – 
This law amends the Income Tax Act 2015 (Act 
896) to revise the rates of tax for the chargeable 
income for a resident individual for a year of 
assessment and provides a tax holiday for 
automobile manufacturers and assemblers. 
Committee members reviewed this law. 

State Interests and Governance Authority Act, 
2019 (Act 990) – The SIGA Act was passed to 
oversee and administer Government's interest in 
state-owned enterprises, joint venture companies 
and other state entities. The Committee reviewed 
this law whilst discussing its impact on the mining 
industry. Section 23 of the SIGA Act was 
reviewed, as this section requires some entities 
classified under the Act to pay some fees and 
charges categorised as 'monitoring fees'. 
Members deliberated on the reference to 
monitoring fees. It was noted that there was no 
reference to such fees in the Fees and Charges 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Instruments, 2019 
(L.I 2386). The next step will be to get feedback 
directly from SIGA on how much the fees will be. 
   
Companies Act, 2019 (Act 992) - The LLAC 
reviewed the new Companies Act (Act 992). The 
attention of members was drawn to sections of 
the sample forms on Beneficial Ownership. 

Corporate Insolvency and Restructuring 
(Amendment) Act, 2020 (Act 1015) – Members 
reviewed this Bill, which became an Act in April 
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2020. This law is intended to provide for the 
administration and official winding up of insolvent 
companies and other bodies corporate and for 
related matters.

Land Act, 2020 (Act 1036) – Parliament passed 
the Land Bill in the month of July 2020. The Land 
Act will guide and regulate land acquisition and 
administration in the country. The law which 
members discussed has revised most of the laws 
on land, with a few exceptions, harmonizing them 
into one enactment. This provides easy access to 
legislation on land and will help remove the 
overlaps and inconsistencies that are currently 
associated with land registration.

Legislative Instruments
Land Use and Spatial Planning Regulations, 2019 
(L.I. 2384) - Members of the Committee obtained 
and reviewed the L.I. to point out issues of 
relevance to the mining industry and for the 
attention and consideration of the Chamber.

Fees and Charges (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Instruments, 2019 (L.I 2389) – The Committee 
members reviewed this law and realized that it 
will have a negative impact on mining companies. 
This law was passed pursuant to the Fees and 
Charges (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 2018 
(Act 983) to regulate the fees and charges 
imposed  by  a l l  Government  Min istr ies , 
Departments and Agencies. The Minister for 
Finance is responsible for endorsing the fees and 
charges that  may be  imposed by  these 
Government bodies in accordance with Act 983. 
With the passing of this law, mining companies are 
required to pay to the Ghana Investment 
Promotion Centre (GIPC) new exorbitant charges 
for technology transfers. We helped the Chamber 
to advocate for its modification and reduction of 
the charges.

Minerals and Mining (Mining Operations – Tracking 
o f  E a r t h  M o v i n g  a n d  M i n i n g  E q u i p m e n t ) 
Regulations, 2020 (L.I 2404) - These Regulations 
are to provide for the registration and tracking of 
earth moving and mining equipment used in 
mineral operations. The law will ensure that the 
earth moving, and mining equipment are used only 
in the specific mineral right area that the 
equipment is registered for. Equipment that does 
not have the tracking affixed to it will be seized.

Bills in Parliament 
Tax Exemption Bill - The Chamber requested the 
LLAC to review this Bill and advise on its 
implications for the mining industry. Members 
were able to obtain a copy of the bill in the year 
under review and advised the Chamber on its 
implications for the industry.
Minerals Income Investment Fund (Amendment) 
Bill, 2020 – The general purpose of this Bill is to 
amend the Minerals Income Investment Fund, 
Act 2018 (Act 978) which was passed to maximize 
the value of minerals' income for the benefit of 
citizens of the country. Committee members in the 
course of the year reviewed this Bill and discussed 
the impact it would have on the mining industry. 

Petroleum Hub Development Corporation Bill, 
2020 – thPassed by Parliament on the 26  of 
October 2020, the purpose of this Bill is to 
strategically position Ghana as a hub for the 
petroleum downstream industry in the West 
African sub – region. 

Others  
Review of Minerals and Mining (Local Content and 
Local Participation) Regulations, 2019 – This law 
seeks to repeal part of the Minerals and Mining 
(General) Regulations,  2012 (L.I 2173), 
specifically Regulation 1 and 2. The main aim of 
the law is to deal with local content within the 
mining industry. Members of the LLAC reviewed 
this legislation during the year under review and 
noted that the Regulations appear to have gone 
beyond the ambit of the Minerals and Mining Act, 
2006 (Act 703) and there was a need to address 
this. 

Review of Minerals and Mining Legislative 
Instruments and the Minerals and Mining Act, 
2006 (Act 703) – Members of the LLAC reviewed 
some of the Regulations to Act 703 especially the 
Minerals and Mining (Support Ser vices) 
Regulations,  2012 (L.I 2174) to apprise 
themselves of the stipulations of the laws with 
respect to emerging minerals and mining-related 
issues and the intended review of the Minerals and 
Mining Act, 2006 (Act 703).

Environmental Guidelines for Mining in Forest 
Reserves in Ghana – Members reviewed a 
document called the Environmental Guidelines for 
Mining in Forest Reserves in Ghana. A series of 
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meetings organized by the Environmental 
Protection Agency (EPA) on Mining in Forest 
Reserves took place in 2020. The aim of these 
meeting was to transform the 2020 Guidelines on 
Mining in Forest Reserves into Regulations or 
Legislative Instruments (L.I.s).

Other Issues Addressed 
The Committee also considered other issues 
during its meetings including the following: 

Government's Right of Pre-Emption - At the 
instance of the LLAC, the Chamber wrote to the 
Ministry for Mines on the issue of re-triggering the 
right of Pre-emption and its implications for Ghana 
as an investment destination for mining. The 
Chamber submitted a proposal to the Minister 
responsible for Mines for consideration. In 
addition, the Chamber also held discussions with 
the Minister on the potential of local refineries in 
Ghana. 

Due Diligence on Gold Coast Refineries – The 
Chamber engaged the services of Bentsi-Enchill, 
Letsa and Ankomah (BELA) to conduct a due 
diligence report on Gold Coast Refineries that was 
being considered by government to refine gold. 
The Committee members were asked to review 
proposals from BELA and Norton Rose Fulbright 
LLP (a company selected by BELA to do some of 
the work in Europe) including their engagement 
letters/contracts. The matter has now however 
been stalled. 

Restricted Mining Lease – Members of the 
Committee deliberated on the issue of a letter 
received by some of their respective companies 
from the Minerals Commission requesting them to 
cede some of their concessions for community 
mining.  In collaboration with members of the 
LLAC, the Chamber obtained copies of some of the 
relevant letters from the mining companies and 
subsequently discussed the matter with key 
officials of the Minerals Commission and followed 
it up with a formal letter to the Minerals 
Commission. Members of the Committee 
concluded that mining companies could not cede 
off some of their concessions under the suggested 
conditions since this would be contrary to law. 

Supreme Court Case Against Mining Companies - 
Members reported on the status of actions their 

companies had taken with respect to the suit filed 
against them, the Attorney-General, the Minerals 
Commission by two Members of Parliament at the 
Supreme Court for working with non-ratified 
Mining Leases. The Chamber and Members of 
LLAC monitored the progress of the suit, which is 
still pending even though no action has been taken 
with respect to it for a long time.

High Court suit against some members of the 
Chamber – A suit was filed in the High Court by one 
David Addo against the Attorney General, the 
Minerals Commission and seven (7) mining 
companies all of which are members of the 
Chamber on the implications of the non-
ratification of their Mining Leases. David Addo 

rdsought among others for a declaration that the 3  
thto 9  Defendants are engaged in illegal mining of 

the natural resources of the Republic of Ghana due 
to the fact that they are working on mines whose 
leases have not been ratified by Parliament and a 
further declaration that all revenues and financial 
gains (proceeds) or minerals obtained by the 3rd 
to  9th  Defendants  as  a  resul t  o f  the i r 
exploitation/extraction of natural resources were 
obtained illegally. He also called for auditing and a 
recovery of proceeds from earnings made and for 
other reliefs. This case was adjourned a number of 
times and following a motion to strike out the suit 

ston the 21  day of August 2020 the case against the 
Defendants were dismissed by the court since the 
court expressed the view that the case raised 
issues about the interpretation of the Constitution 
and a suit was already pending in the Supreme 
Court on the issue. 

Lessons from Beiersdorf Ghana Limited Case - 
Members of the LLAC reviewed this case, which 
had implications for tax waivers for technology 
transfer agreements. The judgment indicated that 
if the company was not registered at the Ghana 
Investment Promotion Centre (GIPC), then a 
company couldn't benefit from tax waivers. 
Members therefore recommended that member 
companies should endeavour to register at the 
GIPC so they can benefit from tax waivers. An 
appeal was filed against the decision and the 
judgment came out late in December 2019. 
Members of the LLAC undertook to review the 
implications of the outcome of the judgment for 
the industry.
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Beneficial Ownership – Members deliberated and 
were unclear on whether high risk-mining 
companies listed on the American Stock Exchange 
and other International stock exchanges were 
supposed to fill out the Beneficial Ownership 
forms. Members found out that such companies 
were meant to complete the forms. The Beneficial 
Ownership forms made a provision for such 
companies to provide an index or a link to where a 
register of shareholders could be located. 

Minerals Commission's Letter to Companies to Set 
up Blocks of 300 Cadastral Units – Members of the 
Committee discussed this new directive of the 
Minerals Commission and noted that it will not 
augur well for the interest of their respective 
companies. 

Request from Supply Managers Committee on 
Anti-Trust Laws –  The Supply Managers 
Committee forwarded to Committee members a 
proposal they had put together for group buying 
and requested the LLAC to provide advice on 
whether it breached any anti-trust laws of Ghana. 
Members of the LLAC produced a Memorandum 
responding to the matter.  

Fees and Charges (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Instruments, 2019 (L.I 2386) – Members noted 
that the GIPC charges for the registration of 
technology transfer agreements were exorbitant 
and high. A memorandum was prepared for the 
Chamber to be forwarded to the Minerals 
Commission for further instructions. The 
Chamber was tasked to engage the Ministry of 
Finance before such fees were introduced in 
future. A memorandum was prepared and shared 
with Price WaterhouseCoopers (PWC) who 
provided comments. The Chamber followed up on 
the matter.  

Issues  relat ing  to  the  Minerals  Income 
Investments Fund Act –  Members of the 
Committee and the Chamber were tasked to 
follow up on issues relating to the Minerals 
Income Investments Fund Act and also to 
intensify advocacy on the need for a Natural 
Resource Governance Bill. There has been no 
movement on the drafting of this Bill as the 
Government's focus was on the Agyapa deal. 

Refinery Being Set up by PMMC and its Partners – 
Members reported that the facility being built by 
PMMC and its partners was nearly finished. 
However, PMMC was waiting for the arrival of 
some machines that had delayed due to the 
Coronavirus pandemic. PMMC also needed foreign 
experts to help set up the machines, who had not 
been able to come due to the closure of the Kotoka 
International Airport to passenger traffic. 
 
GHEITI Policy Proposal on Reforming the 
Treatment of Ghana's Free Carried Interest in 
Mining Operations – Committee members were 
required to provide comments on a Policy 
Proposal by the Ghana Extractive Industry 
Transparency Initiative (GHETI) entitled 
“Reforming the Treatment of Ghana's Free Carried 
Interest in Mine Operations (Policy Proposals)”. 
The Pol icy  Proposals  are  based on  the 
recommendation made for the Government of 
Ghana to consider and initiate reforms that 
provide greater certainty around the expected 
benefits from its free carried interest in mine 
operations. A memorandum was prepared by the 
Committee and sent to the Chamber for 
consideration and forwarding to the Minister of 
Lands and Natural Resources through the 
Minerals Commission. 

ECOWAS Federation of Chambers of Mines 
(EFEDCOM) Meetings - The Secretary of the LLAC 
informed members that EFEDCOM had held a 
virtual meeting earlier on in the year. However, due 
to the COVID – 19 pandemic, travelling around 
West Africa was difficult. Therefore, members 
were informed that an AGM for the year 

th2018/2019 would be held virtually on the 16  of 
December 2020. 

Issues Relating to Agyapa Royalties Transaction – 
Members deliberated and shared articles on this 
issue. The Secretary of the Committee drafted an 
opinion to the Chamber concerning the potential 
implications that the Agyapa transaction will have 
for mining companies. This opinion was shared 
with members to review. In addition, some 
members of the LLAC committee were supposed 
to partake in a meeting between the Chamber and 
the Ministry of Finance concerning the Agyapa 
deal. However, this meeting did not take place in 
light of the work done by the Special Prosecutor.  
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Membership of the Committee – Desmond 
Tamakloe representing Perseus Mining Ghana 

rdLimited was an observer at the 3  Quarter Meeting 
thheld on Tuesday the 27  day of October 2020. It 

was agreed that the Chamber would have to 
formalize his membership since Perseus was not 
originally a member of the Committee. This would 
have to be done with the approval of the Executive 
Committee. 

Areas of intervention with regard to members by 
the Secretariat of the Chamber – The LLAC 
members provided an opinion to the Chamber on a 
list of the areas of intervention by the Chamber's 
Secretariat on issues of concern to members. 

Meetings Attended and Other Activities 
The Committee held a number of meetings to 
consider legal issues and policies that were of 
currency, interest and relevance to the mining 
industry, and by extension the Chamber. 
Altogether the LLAC held four (4) quarterly 
general meetings. Some members also attended 
other meetings held by the Chamber's Secretariat 
or its other committees as well as meetings with 
other stakeholders of the mining industry in 2020. 
These included

·  The four General General Meetings –
Meetings were held on the following dates: 
May 12, 2020; August 18, 2020; October 27, 
2020 and December 15, 2020.

· Other Meetings and Activities – Members of 
the Committee attended meetings of other 
Committees of the Chamber and participated 
in other activities. Some of them are listed 
below:

§ Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the Ghana 
Chamber of Mines – thOn the 29  of May 2020, 
the Secretary of the LLAC represented the 
Committee at the 2019 AGM of the Chamber. 
The meeting was held virtually via Microsoft 
Teams. 

§ Workshop on Introduction to Beneficial 
Ownership Requirements – rd On the 23  of 
September 2020, the Secretary of the LLAC 
participated in a workshop hosted by the 
Registrar-General's Department (RGD) at 
Fiesta Royale Hotel, Accra. The workshop was 
held to sensitize the attendees of the 
extractive industry on the new requirement to 

provide data on the beneficial owner(s) of 
companies. 

§ Environmental Protection Agency Meetings – 
The Chamber had been invited by the 
Environmental Protection Agency to attend a 
series of meetings of the Liaison Group on 
Mining in Forest Reserves. These meetings 
were held at Peduase Valley Resort from the 

th th6  to the 7  of November 2020 and at the 
th thAccra Marriott Hotel from the 26  to the 29  

of November 2020. The aim of the meetings 
was to transform the Environmental 
Guidelines on Mining in Forest Reserves into 
Regulations or Legislative Instruments 
(L.I.s). The Secretary of the LLC participated 
in the meetings. 

§  A virtual Annual General Meeting EFEDCOM –
thwas held on the 16  of December 2020. The 

Secretary participated in this meeting.

Challenges and Way Forward
Members sometimes found it difficult to attend 
Committee meetings, which coincided with 
meetings, programmes, assignments, and 
engagements they had at their respective mining 
companies. Members and Affiliates were 
encouraged to appoint an alternative member who 
can attend meetings on their behalf. Due to the 
COVID 19 pandemic, most meetings for the year 
2020 were held virtually and attendance 
improved. 

Going Forward Through 2021
The Committee looks forward with fresh resolve 
to carry out the responsibilities and obligations of 
its mandate and continually apprise itself of the 
legal and legislative landscape in a bid to take pre-
emptive steps to respond to issues of relevance to 
the mining industry. This will be achieved by 
following, tracking, pursuing and addressing new 
issues referred to it and following-up on matters 
pending before it. Some of these are as follows:

· Monitor the charges/fees under the State 
Interest and Governance Authority (SIGA) 
Act (Act 990) 

· Track the changes introduced by the Fees and 
Charges  (Miscel laneous  Prov is ions) 
Instruments Act under the Fees and Charges 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 2018 (Act 
983)
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· Track the review of Laws on the Environment

· Track proposed review of the Minerals and 
Mining Act, 2006 (Act 703)

· Follow-up on the GHEITI Policy Brief on the 
treatment of the Government's free carried 
interest. 

· Review of the Anti – money laundering and 
Countering the Financing of Terrorism 
Guideline and Administrative Sanctions  

· Keep track of the Guidelines on Mining in 
Forest Reserves being transformed into a 
Legislative Instrument 

· Follow – up on the L.I. on Local Content 
(Minerals and Mining (Local Content and 
Local Participation) Regulations, 2019

· Keep an eye on the Agyapa transaction 

· Push for a draft Natural Resource 
Governance Bill 

· Keep track of the passage of the Tax 
thExemptions Bill under the 8  Parliament. 

The LLAC took decisions with respect to its 
activities in the year 2020. The Committee will 

hold its usual quarterly meetings and emergency 
meetings where need be. We will also continue to 
advise the Chamber as and when needed. 
Members of the Committee will follow up on 
pending laws and bills and continue advocacy on 
the exclusion of mining from the GIPC Act. We will 
also follow-up on proposals to review the Minerals 
and Mining Act, 2006 (Act 703) and some of its 
Regulations 
     
Conclusion 
In sum, the above is an overview of the activities of 
the LLAC of the Chamber in 2020. The Committee 
anticipates a vibrant, fruitful and progressive year 
ahead .  The  Chamber 's  Secretar iat  was 
represented on the Committee during meetings 
making feedback easier. The LLAC has also 
resolved to continue working with a unified sense 
of purpose, better team spirit and cooperation 
among its members and in greater concert with 
the other committees of the Chamber in 2021. The 
LLAC also stands committed to support and 
facilitate the work of the other committees of the 
Chamber with its expertise and follow up on all 
outstanding and pending issues. 
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RELEVANT LAWS TO THE MINING INDUSTRY PASSED IN 2020

(A) ACTS OF PARLIAMENT

IMPOSITIONS OF RESTRICTIONS ACT, 2020 
(ACT 1012)
The Imposition of Restrictions Act, 2020 (Act 
1012), was enacted to provide powers to the 
President of Ghana for the imposition of 
restrictions in accordance with the constitutional 
provision on fundamental human rights in the 
event or imminence of an emergency, disaster or 
similar circumstance to ensure public safety, 
public health and protection. This is in line with 
social distancing measures and restriction the 
Government of Ghana had put in place against the 
spread of the Coronavirus disease (COVID – 19) 
pandemic in the country. 

NOVEL CORONAVIRUS (COVID – 19) NATIONAL 
TRUST FUND ACT, 2020 (ACT 1013)
The Novel Coronavirus Covid-19 National Trust 
Fund Act 2020 (Act 1013) was passed into law by 

rdparliament on the 3  of April 2020. It was enacted 
to establish the Novel Coronavirus National Trust 
Fund and to raise money to complement the 
efforts of government to combat the Covid-19 
pandemic and also to design a programme to help 
the vulnerable and the needy with the amount of 
funds that would be raised.

CUSTOMS (AMENDMENT) ACT, 2020 (ACT 1014)
This law provides incentives for automotive 
manufacturers and assemblers registered under 
t h e  G h a n a  A u t o m o t i v e  M a n u f a c t u r i n g 
Development Program (GAMDP) and for related 
matters. The Act was enacted to amend the 
Customs Act, 2015 (Act 891) and to provide 
incentives for automotive manufacturers and 
assemblers registered under the GAMDP. The Act 
provides import exemptions for security agencies 
and officers of the security agencies as well as 
related matters. This law also prohibits the 
importation of salvaged motor vehicles and 
specific motor vehicles over 10 years of age into 
the country. 

CORPORATE INSOLVENCY AND 
RESTRUCTURING ACT 2020 (ACT 1015) 
The Corporate Insolvency and Restructuring Act, 
2020 (Act 1015) provides for the administration 
and official winding-up of insolvent companies and 
other bodies corporate. Act 1015 provides a legal 
regime for the administration of the business, 
property and affairs of a distressed company in a 
manner that provides an opportunity for the 
company to as much as possible continue in 
existence as a going concern. The Act focuses on 
the temporary management of the affairs, 
business and property of a distressed company as 
well as the placing of a temporary freeze on the 
rights of creditors and other claimants against a 
distressed company. 

SUPPLEMENTARY APPROPRIATION ACT, 2020 
(ACT 1018) 
The Supplementary Appropriation Act, 2020 (Act 
1018) provides for the withdrawal of sums of 
money  f rom the  Consol idated  Fund  for 
s u p p l e m e n t a r y  a p p r o p r i a t i o n  t o  m e e t 
Government's expenditure for the financial year 

stending 31  December 2019 in accordance with 
clause (8) and (9) of the Constitution.  

NARCOTICS CONTROL COMMISSION ACT, 
2020 (ACT 1019)
The Narcotics Control Commission Act, 2020 (Act 
1019) establishes the Narcotics Control 
Commission, a body corporate with perpetual 
succession. The Commission is responsible for 
ensuring public safety by controlling and 
eliminating trafficking in prohibited narcotic drugs 
and preventing the illicit use of precursors and 
coordinating the treatment and rehabilitation of 
drug addicts. The Commission focuses on offences 
related to narcotic drugs and plants cultivated for 
narcotic purposes and related matters. Act 1019 
treats drug dependence as a public health issue 
rather than focusing on law enforcement, 
incarceration, punishment and repression. Act 
1019 addresses the weaknesses in the Narcotic 
Drugs (Control, Enforcement and Sanctions) Act, 
1990 (P.N.D.C.L 236). 
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CHARTERED INSTITUTE OF MARKETING, 
GHANA ACT, 2020 (ACT 1021) 

The Chartered Institute of Marketing, Ghana Act, 
2020 (Act 1021), empowers the Institute to set 
standards for the practice of marketing and to 
regulate the practice of the marketing profession 
in the country. To achieve these noble objectives, 
the Act further provides 11 functions of the 
Institute. The Institute can provide training and 
conduct examinations in accordance with 
international best practice to improve the skills 
and competencies of all those working in and 
aspiring to work in marketing. The Institute can 
also set the agenda for the practice of marketing 
and promote the role and value of marketing as a 
critical tool for business development.

MINERALS INCOME INVESTMENT FUND 
(AMENDMENT) ACT, 2020 (ACT 1024)
The Minerals  Income Investment  Fund 
(Amendment) Act, 2020 amends the Minerals 
Income Investment Fund, Act 2018 (Act 978) and 
clarifies the parameters for the operation of the 
Minerals Income Investment Fund. The law 
enables the Minerals Income Investment Fund to 
hold direct or indirect equity in a Special Purpose 
Vehicle (SPV) in any jurisdiction, including cross 
border transactions, in furtherance of the objects 
of the fund. Any such SPV will be free to operate as 
a regular commercial company with powers to 
procure the listing of an SPV on any reputable 
stock exchange that the board considers 
appropriate.  The amendments seek to clarify the 
parameters within which the fund can operate so 
as to correctly demonstrate the original intention 
of Act 978 and to address issues over the mineral's 
royalty portfolio of the country.  

COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE TAX 
(AMENDMENT) ACT, 2020 (ACT 1025) 
The law was passed to allow for a reduction of the 
electronic service tax rate from 9% to 5% and to 
provide some relief for households and businesses 
that now rely on electronic communication 
services such as Internet Data and airtime 
bundles. 

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS AND DEATHS ACT, 
2020 (ACT 1027)
This law amends the Registration of Births and 
Deaths Act, 1965 (Act 301). The law was passed to 

provide for the decentralization of the Births and 
Deaths Registry in line with Chapter 20 of the 1992 
Constitution and the Local Governance Act, 2016 
(Act 936). The Bill will allow for the use of 
emerging technologies to improve the collection, 
collation and storage of births and deaths 
information to build a robust system critical for 
national development. 

AIRCRAFT ACCIDENT AND INCIDENT 
INVESTIGATION AND PREVENTION BUREAU 
ACT, 2020 (1028)
The Aircraft  Accident Investigation and 
Prevention Bureau Act, 2020 bolsters Ghana's 
quest of becoming an aviation hub in West Africa. 
The Act establishes an autonomous body to 
investigate, prevent, regulate and oversee the 
management of aircraft accidents that may occur 
in the country. The Aircraft Accident Investigation 
and Prevention Bureau will be able to carry out 
investigations and produce results that should be 
acceptable and meet international standards and 
practices of the International Civil Aviation 
Organisation (ICAO).

REVENUE ADMINISTRATION (AMENDMENT) 
ACT, 2020 (ACT 1029) 
The Revenue Administration (Amendment) Act, 
2020 amended a number of Sections in the 
Revenue Administration Act, 2016 (Act 915), 
which is the principal enactment for the 
administration and collection of revenue by the 
Ghana Revenue Authority (GRA). Act 1029 
addresses a shortfall in tax liability without 
payment of a penalty and other related matters. 

NATIONAL SECURITY AND INTELLIGENCE 
AGENCIES ACT, 2020 (ACT 1030) 
The National Securities and Intelligence Agencies 
Act repealed the Security and Intelligence 
Agencies Act, 1996 (Act 526) to establish the 
required national security architecture to address 
emerging national security challenges. The law 
will provide for matters relating to the National 
Security Council, the establishment of Regional 
and District Security Councils and specify the 
Agencies responsible for the State taking 
cognizance of some significant matters not 
recognised under Act 526. 
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CORPORATE INSOLVENCY AND 
RESTRUCTURING (AMENDMENT) ACT, 2020 
(ACT 1031) 
This law is to provide for the administration and 
official winding-up of insolvent companies and 
other bodies corporate and for related matters. 
The law provides a legal regime for the 
administration of the business, property and 
affairs of a distressed company in a manner that 
provides an opportunity for the company to as 
much as possible continue in existence as a going 
concern.

DEVELOPMENT FINANCE INSTITUTIONS ACT, 
2020 (ACT 1032) 
This law regulates development finance 
institutions which are non-deposit taking to 
provide medium to long-term financing for key 
sectors of the economy, such as agriculture, 
manufacturing and small and medium-sized 
enterprises. Act 1032 promotes economic growth 
and transformation. 

CRIMINAL OFFENCES (AMENDMENT) ACT, 
2020 (1034) 
This law categorizes the offence of corruption as a 
felony. The law is to introduce stiffer punishment 
to deter public officers from engaging in corrupt 
practices. The law states that persons found guilty 
of engaging in any form of corrupt acts could 
proceed to jail for not less than 12 years and not 
more than 25 years. 

COCOA BOARD (AMENDMENT) ACT, 2020 (1035) 
The Cocoa Board (Amendment) Act, 2020 amends 
the Ghana Cocoa Board Act, 1984 (P.N.D.C.L 81). 
The law seeks to amend the definition for 
"Minister" by amending section 39, to place 
oversight responsibilities for the Ghana Cocoa 
Board within the mandate of the Minister 
responsible for Agriculture, rather than the 
Minister responsible for Trade.

LAND ACT, 2020 (ACT 1036) 
Parliament passed the Land Bill into law in the 
month of July 2020. The Land Act will guide and 
regulate land acquisition and administration in the 
country. The Law has revised most of the laws on 
land, with a few exceptions, harmonizing them into 
one enactment. This provides easy access to 

legislation on land will help remove the overlaps 
and inconsistencies that are currently associated 
with land registration.

CYBERSECURITY ACT, 2020 (ACT 1038) 
The Cybersecurity Act, 2020 (Act 1038) is aimed 
at safeguarding children against cybercrime as 
well as generally protecting citizens against 
criminal acts and abuses. Act 1038 establishes the 
Cyber Security Authority and protects the critical 
information of the country. Act 1038 also 
regulates cyber security activities, provides for 
interception of communication and aims to 
develop the cyber security of the nation.

(B)  SUBSIDIARY LEGISLATION

LEGISLATIVE INSTRUMENTS

MINERALS AND MINING (MINERAL 
OPERATIONS TRACKING OF EARTH MOVING 
MINING EQUIPMENT) REGULATIONS 2020 
(L.I. 2404)
This law is to provide for the registration and 
tracking of earth moving and mining equipment 
used in mineral operations and to ensure that the 
earth moving and mining equipment are used only 
in the specific mineral right area that the earth 
moving and mining equipment are registered for. 

MINERALS AND MINING (LOCAL CONTENT 
AND LOCAL PARTICIPATION) REGULATIONS, 
2020 (L.I. 2431)
This law seeks to repeal part of the Minerals and 
Mining (General) Regulations, 2012 (L.I. 2173) 
that is Regulations 1 & 2. Its main aim is to deal 
with local content within the mining industry in 
accordance with Act 703.   L.I. 2431 has 122 
Regulations and addresses several issues. 

LEGAL PROFESSION (PROFESSIONAL 
CONDUCT AND ETIQUETTE) RULES, 2020 (L.I. 
2423)
This law was passed in exercise of the power 
conferred on the General Legal Council by section 
23 and 53 of the Legal Profession Act, 1960 (Act 
32) and with the approval of the minister 
responsible for Justice. It sets out additional rules 
for lawyers in their responsibilities to their clients, 
the courts and the general public with respect to 
their conduct. 
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COURTS REGULATIONS, 2020 (L.I. 2429)  
This law was passed by the Attorney General by 
section 42(4) and 47of the Courts Act, 1993 (Act 

th459) on the 8  of October 2020. The purpose is to 
expand the jurisdiction of the District Courts and 
Circuit Courts in respect of claims with stated 
monetary value. The monetary value of claims 
before the Circuit Court was increased to Two 
Million Ghana Cedis (GHS 2 million) and that 
before the District Court to Five Hundred 
Thousand Ghana Cedis (GHS500,000.00).

EXECUTIVE INSTRUMENTS

DECLARATION OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
EMERGENCY CORONAVIRUS DISEASE (COVID 
19) PANDEMIC INSTRUMENT, 2020 (E.I. 61) 

rdThis law was enacted on the 23  of March 2020. 
This law is in pursuance of the Public Health Act, 
2012 (Act 851) which declared COVID 19 a public 
health emergency and makes room for several 
actions to be taken to protect people.

ESTABLISHMENT OF EMERGENCY 
COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEM INSTRUMENT, 
2020 (E.I 63)
This law was enacted under the Electronic 
Communications Act 2008 (Act 776) to enable the 
executive arm of Government to establish an 
emergency communications system to trace all 
contacts of persons suspected of or actually 
affected by a public health emergency and identify 
the places visited by persons suspected of or 
actually affected by a public health emergency.

IMPOSITION OF RESTRICTIONS 
(CORONAVIRUS DISEASE (COVID-19) 
PANDEMIC INSTRUMENT, 2020 (E.I. 64) 
Th is  law enables  the  Execut ive  arm of 
Government to impose restrictions to curb the 
spread of COVID-19. 

IMPOSITION OF RESTRICTIONS 
(CORONAVIRUS DISEASE (COVID-19) 
PANDEMIC (NO. 2) INSTRUMENT, 2020 (E.I. 65) 
This law enabled the President to impose further 
restrictions in specified areas deemed to be 

hotspots of COVID-19 including Accra, Tema, 
Kasoa and Kumasi. It also made further room for 
contact tracing for follow-up on persons infected 
by the disease. A number of exempted institutions 
and persons are listed in the schedules. Under the 
Second Schedule Part A item number 7 are 
“Mining Workers.”

IMPOSITION OF RESTRICTIONS 
(CORONAVIRUS DISEASE (COVID-19) 
PANDEMIC (NO. 3) INSTRUMENT, 2020 (E.I. 
66) 
This law seeks to extend the closure of the borders 
by air, land and sea to human traffic for a further 
period.

IMPOSITION OF RESTRICTIONS 
CORONAVIRUS DISEASE (COVID 19) 
PANDEMIC (NO.10) INSTRUMENT, 2020 (E.I 
67)
This Instrument was made in exercise of the 
power conferred on the President under the 
Imposition of Restrictions Act, 2020 (Act 1012) 

rdon the 23  of March 2020. The restriction imposed 
applied to the entire country and it was for a period 
of about three weeks. The Instrument also 
imposed restrictions on travel to Ghana and public 
gatherings including conferences, workshops, 
funerals, festivals, political rallies, sporting 
events, gatherings for religious purposes, night 
clubs, drinking spots and event centres as well as 
private parties and other gatherings.

CONSTITUTIONAL INSTRUMENTS     

PUBLIC ELECTIONS (REGISTRATION OF 
VOTERS) (AMENDMENT) REGULATION, 2020 
(C.I 126) 
These Regulations allowed the Electoral 
Commission to compile a new voter's register by 
using only the Ghanaian passport or Ghana Card as 
the documents for citizenship identification. C.I 
126 makes the Ghana Card and the Ghanaian 
passport the only legal identification documents 
for registering people under the new biometric 
voters' register. Under the C.I. 126, those who do 
not have the Ghana Card or Ghanaian passport can 
still register provided they are able to get two 
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LIEBHERR-GHANA Ltd. (LMG) takes pride in announcing the arrival of LIEBHERR MOBILE and CRAWLER CRANE Division. The new 
DIVISION will undertake the sales of new and used Equipment, Mobile and Crawler Cranes, all backed with Aftersales Support. LMG is also 
responsible for Mobile and Crawler Cranes sales and aftersales in Nigeria, Cameroon, Democratic Republic of Congo, Republic of Congo and 
the Central African Republic. Liebherr Ghana was established in 1998 and provides 24/7/365 sales and service to over sixty Mining Excavators 
(>100 tonnes), a crane fleet having the lifting capacity up to 500 tonnes. The third Division in LMG is domestic and commercial appliances, 
marketing high end refrigerators, wine and cigar coolers. The cranes are manufactured by Liebherr-Werk Ehingen GmbH, the leading 
manufacturer of mobile and crawler cranes and  a subsidiary of the Liebherr Group.
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Global Economic Developments
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The demand for gold jewellery decreased by 33.5 per cent, from 2,122.7 tonnes in 2019 to 1,411.6 
tonnes in 2020, due to a synchronized downturn in demand in the main markets for the item. In 
China, which is the largest consumer of gold jewellery, the COVID-19-induced restrictions on social 
activities contributed to shifting consumer sentiment away from gold jewellery. As well, retailers 
reduced their inventory of gold jewellery and consolidated their point of sales in response to the 
lower demand for the product. These demand-curtailing factors combined with the ongoing 
demography-linked reduction in appetite for gold jewellery to reduce the country’s consumption of 
the product by 36.2 per cent, from 681.8 tonnes in 2019 to 435.1 tonnes in 2020. Similarly, the 
demand for gold jewellery in India was abated by the economic shock brought about by the 
pandemic. Although the Dhanteras occasioned a surge in demand in the fourth quarter of 2020, it 
was insufficient in offsetting the real income-induced abatement in demand for gold jewellery. As a 
result, demand in the second-largest market for gold jewellery declined from 544.6 tonnes in 2019 
to 315.9 tonnes in 2020, representing a downturn of 42 per cent. 

In the Middle East and Turkey, the simultaneous increase in the price of gold and reduction in real 
income combined with steep depreciation in the local currencies to make gold jewellery relatively 
unaffordable. Expectedly, consumers responded to these market developments by shifting their 
preference away from gold jewellery. In the Middle East, for instance, the demand for gold jewellery 
decreased from 169.9 tonnes in 2019 to 115.9 tonnes in 2020, representing a decline of 32 per cent. 
Likewise, the demand for gold jewellery in Turkey reduced by 29 per cent to 26 tonnes in 2020 from 
36.7 tonnes in 2019. 

In the same vein, consumption of gold jewellery in the Americas, Europe and Japan weakened by 
12 per cent, 21 per cent and 19 per cent respectively in 2020 due to the pandemic-induced currents 
that exerted downward pressure on the purchasing power of consumers. On account of the broad 
contraction in demand for gold jewellery, its share in the aggregate demand for gold declined by 10 
percentage points to 38 per cent in 2020. As well, gold jewellery was displaced by investment 
demand as the largest class of demand for gold.
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the central banks was 234.6 tonnes. However, the trend reversed sharply in the second half of the 
year, with some lenders of last resort reducing their stock of gold reserves to either equilibrate their 
local gold market or inject liquidity into their ailing economies. 
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Figure 21.0: All-In Sustaining Cost of Member Companies of the Chamber

Source: Based on data from the Ghana Chamber of Mines (2021)

1
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Health and Safety Performance of Ghana’s Mining Industry in 2020
According to the Minerals Commission, the aggregate count of injuries in Ghana’s mining sector 
decreased from 554 in 2019 to 308 in 2020. This represents a downturn of 44.4 per cent in the number 
of incidents recorded over the period. Apart from fatal and serious injuries, the outturn of the other 
classes of incidents was lower compared to their equivalent in 2019.
 
The frequency of Near Miss, which is statutorily defined as a class of incidents that do not result in loss 
of shift, injury, death, or damage to equipment, declined by 59.5 per cent to 132 in 2020 from 326 in 
2019. Similarly, the case count of First Aid Injuries plummeted by 29.9 per cent,from 197 in 2019 to 
138 in 2020. First Aid Injuries refer to incidents whose occurrence do not culminate in the loss of shift. 
On the other hand, Serious Injuries, which refers to an incident that leads to loss of shift of more than 
fourteen (14) days, increased from 28 in 2019 to 33 in 2020. This translates into a growth rate of 17.9 
per cent.  Likewise, the number of persons that were involved in incidents that resulted in their death 
rose from 3 in 2019 to 5 in 2020 as denoted in Figure 22.0.

Figure 22.0: Frequency of Incidents in Ghana’s Mining Industry

Source: Based on data from the Minerals Commission (2021)
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Company 2019 2020 % Change
Gold Fields Ghana Limited 519,072

526,256 1.4%
Newmont Ghana Gold Limited 643,067 480,247 -25.3%
Newmont Golden Ridge Limited 422,099 371,476 -12.0%
AngloGold Ashanti Iduapriem Mine 274,665 274,537 -0.05%
Asanko Gold Mine Limited 251,044 249,904 -0.5%
Abosso Goldfields Limited 208,381 222,953 7.0%
Golden Star Wassa Limited 156,166 167,648 7.4%
Chirano Gold Mines Limited 201,037 166,276 -17.3%
Perseus Mining (Ghana) Limited 179,574 158,090 -12.0%
AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Mine - 127,195 -
Adamus Resources Limited 84,197 70,701 -16.0%
FGR Bogoso Prestea Limited 47,533 29,833 -37.2%
Total Gold Production 2,986,835 2,845,115 -4.7%

Manganese(Tonnes)
Ghana Manganese Company 5,383,014 2,357,515 -56.2%

Statistical Appendix
Appendix One: Production of Member Companies of the Chamber

Source: Ghana Chamber of Mines (2021)
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Company 2019 2020 % Change
Gold Fields Ghana
Limited

720,369,121 927,742,233 29%

Newmont Ghana
Gold Limited

889,522,223 859,811,831 -3%

Newmont Golden
Ridge Limited

594,777,021 660,412,008 11%

AngloGold Ashanti
Iduapriem Mine

390,021,741 485,448,023 24%

Asanko Gold Mine
Limited

343,187,228 418,130,426 22%

Abosso Goldfields
Limited

288,346,709 400,796,046 39%

Golden Star Wassa
Limited

217,382,101 297,471,686 37%

Chirano Gold Mines
Limited

281,559,113 295,101,472 5%

Perseus Mining
(Ghana) Limited

245,169,396 247,554,013 1%

AngloGold Ashanti
Obuasi Mine

- 229,976,665 -

Adamus Resources
Limited

119,272,938 123,375,468 3%

FGR Bogoso
Prestea Limited

66,820,357 52,849,521 -21%

Total Gold
Production
Revenue

4,998,669,392 4,156,427,948 20.3%

Ghana Manganese
Company

415,194,770 141,801,025 -65.8%

Total Mineral
Revenue

5,140,470,417 4,571,622,718 12.4%

Source: Ghana Chamber of Mines (2021

Appendix Two: Mineral Revenue of Producing Member Companies (USD)
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Company 2019 2020 % Change
FGR Bogoso Prestea
Limited

1,937 2,393 23.5%

Chirano Gold Mines 1,082 1,326 22.6%
Adamus Resources
Limited

1,095 1,226 12.0%

Perseus Mining (Ghana)
Limited

985 1,157 17.4%

Asanko Gold Mines
Limited

1,112 1,115 0.3%

Gold Fields Ghana
Limited

958 1,017 6.1%

Abosso Goldfields
Limited

809 1,008 24.6%

Golden Star Wassa
Limited

938 1,003 6.9%

AngloGold Ashanti
Iduapriem Limited

890 985 10.7%

Newmont Ghana Gold
Limited

820 980 19.5%

Newmont Golden Ridge
Limited

718 757 5.4%

AngloGold Ashanti
Obuasi Mine

1,316

Appendix Three: All-In Sustaining Cost (USD per Ounce)

Source: Ghana Chamber of Mines (2021)
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Labour,
Electricity,
Fuel, etc.

Dore Freight, Third
Party Treatments,
Refining Charges,
By-Product Credits

Reclama�onand

Remedia�on

Expense,

Explora�on Costs,

Sustaining Capital

Expenditure

Mining Cost

Ore Processing Cost

Mine Site General and 
Administra�ve Cost

Dore/Concentrate 
Expense

Cash Opera�ng Costs

Produc�on Taxes

Corporate/ Head Office 

Expenses

Sustaining Expenditure

All-In Sustaining Cost

Appendix 4: Composition of All-In Sustaining Cost

Source: Based on formula of World Gold Council (2021) 
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Appendix Five: Gold Purchased by 
Licensed Gold Exporting Companies (Ounces)

Company Name 2019 2020 % Change
Brenley QuartzCompany Ltd 19,001 325,952 1,615%

De-Apidago Company Limited - 110,129 -

Golden Empire Legacy Limited 123,273 101,528 -18%
Bullion City Limited - 86,012 -

Vimstar Company Limited 231,917 77,094 -67%

Kyei & Amankwa Consulting Ltd 37,451 76,388 104%
Rafmoh Gold Limited 9,527 51,592 442%

H.A. Exploits Gold - 51,088 -

Cosmos Edge Investment - 48,017 -
Asanska JewelleryLimited 22,459 47,824 113%

Ampsel CommoditiesLimited - 36,532 -

Blaze Metals 41,655 33,156 -20%
Arima Intra Ghana Limited 5,267 23,878 353%

Prestige Metal Logistics Ghana Ltd - 18,416 -

A.G.B Company Limited - 10,101 -
Jorly Minerals Limited 12,001 9,883 -18%

Vaipra Impex - 9,815 -

Karls Group - 9,172 -
SWB4 Company Limited 6,335 8,402 33%

Gold Crest Jewellery Limited - 7,481 -

BH Minerals - 6,087 -
Goldridge Ghana Limited 26,351 3,945 -85%

Fiore InternationalLimited 178 3,918 2105%

OAR Ghana Limited - 3,265 -
AU Resources Ghana Ltd 96,286 2,831 -97%

Gold RecoveryGhana Limited 815 2,348 188%

M&C Logistics and Trading Limited 778 2,187 181%
Laus Minerals - 2,041 -

JRG Refinery - 1,882 -

Magnate Precious Metals - 1,707 -
Stelna Solutions Limited 955 1,405 47%

ASAP VASA Company Limited 2,875 630 -78%

Gold Coast Refinery Limited 176,905 305 -100%
Helvent InvestmentLimited - 151 -

Unnamed Company - 110 -

YH Company Limited - 31 -
Saboo's Forwarders - 16 -

Able Grand Resources Co. Ltd 1,400 - -100%

Athena International Limited 74,698 - -100%
Covenant Minerals Limited 89,760 - -100%

E. A. R Logistics 14,233 - -100%
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Geospence Ghana Ltd 853 - -100%
Guldrest Resources Co. Ltd 2,971 - -100%

Microgold Trust Limited 95,579 - -100%

Monex Mining Company Ltd 238,933 - -100%
Napari Company Limited 99,864 - -100%

O. M. Minerals Ghana Ltd 1,617 - -100%

Premetex Ghana Ltd 31,317 - -100%
Samaska Company Limited 122,633 - -100%

Total 1,587,888 1,175,318 -26%

Source: Precious Minerals Marketing Company (2021)



Name of Company 2019 2020 % Change
Brenley Quartz
Company Ltd

28,120,553 562,824,572 1,901%

De-Apidago Company
Limited

188,997,382 -

Golden Empire Legacy
Limited

181,579,638 167,906,118 -8%

Bullion City Limited 157,396,192 -
Vimstar Company
Limited

330,737,836 131,723,925 -60%

Kyei & Amankwa
Consulting Ltd

55,393,812 128,554,190 132%

Rafmoh Gold Limited 14,286,504 90,548,289 534%
Cosmos Edge
Investment

89,911,742 -

H.A. Exploits Gold 84,578,162 -
Asanska Jewellery
Limited

31,333,152 83,091,048 165%

Ampsel Commodities
Limited

68,030,732 -

Blaze Metals 61,758,705 53,642,410 -13%
Arima Intra Ghana
Limited

7,318,206 44,519,920 508%

Prestige Metal Logistics
Ghana Ltd

34,842,889 -

Vaipra Impex 18,588,751 -
Karls Group 17,465,515 -
A.G.B Company Limited 17,081,366 -
Jorly Minerals Limited 17,941,560 16,398,417 -9%
SWB4 Company Limited 9,077,131 15,763,741 74%
Gold Crest Jewellery
Limited

13,321,471 -

BH Minerals 11,379,350 -
Goldridge Ghana Limited 38,353,235 7,211,372 -81%
Fiore International
Limited

262,838 6,795,050 2485%

OAR Ghana Limited 6,125,859 -
AU Resources Ghana
Ltd

129,151,455 5,263,924 -96%

Gold RecoveryGhana
Limited

1,118,658 4,262,903 281%

Laus Minerals 3,802,346 -

Appendix Six: Export Revenue of Licensed Gold Exporting Companies (USD)
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Statement of Council's responsibilities
The Council is responsible for preparing financial statements for each financial period which give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Chamber at the end of the financial year and of the excess of income 
over expenditure of the Chamber for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the Council is 
required to:       
       

!  Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently  
!  Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent     
!  State whether the applicable accounting standards have been followed     
!  Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it  is inappropriate to 

 presume that the Chamber will continue in business     
       

The Council is responsible for ensuring that the Chamber keeps accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Chamber and which enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. They are responsible for 
taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Chamber, and to prevent 
and detect fraud and other irregularities. 
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Independent auditors' report 
To members of The Ghana Chamber of Mines
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28th May
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Statement of Profit or loss and Comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes 2020 2019

GH¢ GH¢

Revenue 4 10,131,235   7,959,325         

Investment income 5 1,250,425      274,163            

Other income 6 1,849,473
      

126,886
            

Tertiary education levy 7 2,482,509
      

-
                    

15,713,642
   

8,360,374
         

General & administrative expenses 8 (9,108,054)
    

(7,673,148)
        

Surplus before taxation 6,605,588
      

687,226
            

Taxation 9 (312,607)

       

(68,541)

            

Other comprehensive income                  -                       -   

Total comprehensive income 6,292,981 618,685
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Statement of Financial position
As at 31 December 2020

Notes 2020 2019

GH¢ GH¢

Non current asset

Property and equipment 10 6,804,405           7,112,551 

6,804,405                7,112,551 

Current Assets

Receivables 11            548,330             398,445 

Held to maturity investments 12 7,200,000
      

-
                    

Cash and bank 13 132,397             360,072 

7,880,727             758,517 

Total assets 14,685,132           7,871,068 

Funds and equity

Stated capital 3

                     
                     3 

Accumulated fund 12,671,058           6,378,077 

12,671,061           6,378,080 

Current liabilities

Other payables 14 984,329

         

943,292

            Accruals 15 236,575

         

            276,232 

Taxation 9 312,607               68,541 

Other long term employee benefits 16 480,560

         

            204,923 

2,014,071

      

          1,492,988 

Total equity and liabilities 14,685,132           7,871,068 

…………………………………. …………………………

Council Member Council Member

Date: Date: 

The financial statements on pages 121 to 146 were approved for issue by the Council  on ………….... 2021 

and signed on its behalf by:

27 / 05 / 2021 27 / 05 / 2021

27 / 05 
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Stated Accumulated 

Capital Fund Total

GH¢ GH¢ GH¢

Balance as of 1 January 2020 3                       6,378,077           6,378,080 

Surplus -        6,292,981           6,292,981 

Balance as of 31 December 2020 3                      12,671,058         12,671,061 

Balance as of 1 January 2019 3                       5,759,392           5,759,395 

Surplus -           618,685               618,685 

Balance as of 31 December 2019 3                       6,378,077           6,378,080 



Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019

GH¢ GH¢

Operating activities

Surplus before taxation 6,605,588      687,226            

Non-cash adjustment to reconcile profit before tax

to net cash flows:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 343,865         348,906

Working capital adjustments:

Change in  receivables (149,885)       (20,207)

Change in accounts and other payable 41,037           (3,181,486)        

Change in accrued charges (39,657)          96,563              

Other long term employee benefits 275,637         32,519              

7,076,585      (2,036,479)        Net cash flows from operating activities

Tax paid (68,541)          (167,253)

Investing activities

Redemption/ (purchase) of investment (7,200,000)    1,300,000

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (35,719)          (59,850)

(7,235,719)    1,240,150         

--------------- -----------------

Increase in cash and cash equivalents (227,675)       (963,582)           

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 360,072         1,323,654

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 132,397         360,072            
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Notes to the financial statements       
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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2.1.1

2.1.2

2.1.3

2.1.4
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Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in 
hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity 
of three months or less in the statement of financial 
position.

For the purpose of the statement cash flows, cash and 
cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents 
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdraft.

2.2.3

2.2.4

2.2.5

2.2.6

Impact of the initial application of Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions Amendment to IFRS 
16. In May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 
16) that provides practical relief to lessees in 
accounting for rent concessions occurring as a 
direct consequence of COVID-19, by introducing a 
practical expedient to IFRS 16. The practical 
expedient permits a lessee to elect not to assess 
whether a COVID-19-related rent concession is a 
lease modification. A lessee that makes this 
election shall account for any change in lease 
payments resulting from the COVID-19-related 
rent concession the same way it would account for 
the change applying IFRS 16 if the change were 
not a lease modification. The practical expedient 
applies only to rent concessions occurring as a 
direct consequence of COVID-19 and only if all of 
the following conditions are met:
a) The change in lease payments results in revised 

consideration for the lease that is substantially 
the same as, or less than, the consideration for 
the lease immediately preceding the change;

b) Any reduction in lease payments affects only 
payments originally due on or before 30 June 
2021 (a rent concession meets this condition if 
it results in reduced lease payments on or 
before 30 June 2021 and increased lease 
payments that extend beyond 30 June 2021); 
and

c) There is no substantive change to other terms 
and conditions of the lease.
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The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost 
of an item of property, plant and equipment any 
proceeds from selling items produced before that 
asset is available for use, i.e. proceeds while 
bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. Consequently, 
an entity recognises such sales proceeds and 
related costs in profit or loss. The entity measures 
the cost of those items in accordance with IAS 2 
Inventories.
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The Annual Improvements include amendments 
to four Standards.       

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ 
a contract comprises the ‘costs that relate directly 
to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to a 
contract consist of both the incremental costs of 
fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct 
labour or materials) and an allocation of other costs 
that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an 
example would be the allocation of the depreciation 
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment 
used in fulfilling the contract).      



 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2020

133



 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2020

134



 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2020

135



 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2020

136



 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2020

137



Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

4 Revenue 2020 2019

GH¢ GH¢

Membership subscription 8,608,504      6,417,454         

Image Building Fund (IBF) 1,522,731      1,541,871         

10,131,235   7,959,325         

2020 2019

5 Investment income GH¢ GH¢

Income from fixed deposits 1,250,425      274,163            

2020 2019

6 Other income GH¢ GH¢

Interest on savings and deposits 36,232           21,734              

Interest on staff loans 7,372              11,289              

Hiring of conference room 26,755           25,133              

Exhibition income 429,114         68,730              

Impaired investments 1,350,000      -                     

1,849,473      126,886            

2020 2019

7 Tertiary Education Fund Levy GH¢ GH¢

Contributions 2,482,509 -

The levy represents contributions by members to support University of Mines and Technology

(UMaT) with a building, learning eqipment and student scholarships.
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8 General & administrative expenses 2020 2019

GH¢ GH¢

Human resource and training 5,415,993      4,614,912         

Office management 1,329,662      1,419,432         

International travels 141,592         121,772            

Audit fees 85,832           80,026              

Depreciation 343,865         348,906            

GHEITI 8,750              2,863               

Exchange loss 443,991         429,561            

7,769,685      7,017,472         

2020 2019

Image building fund expenses GH¢ GH¢

Donation 421,845 77,803 

Publicity and advertising 570,706 254,723 

Protocol 67,520 63,580 

Press soiree - 27,408 
Others - 89,037 

UMaT - Environmental Sciences Chair 145,000 143,125 

1,205,071 655,676 

2020 2019

Tertiary education fund expenses GH¢ GH¢

UMaT student bursaries 133,298         -                     

133,298         -                     

Total 9,108,054      7,673,148         

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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9 Current tax payable

Year of assessment Balance Charge for Balance

1/1/20 the year Payments 31/12/20

2019 68,541 -             (68,541) -

2020 -  312,607       -  312,607

68,541 312,607 (68,541) 312,607

Profit before tax 6,605,588 687,226

Tax computed at applicable tax rate of 25% 1,651,397
 

171,807
           

Tax effect of non-taxable income (3,615,804)
 

(2,021,553)
        

Tax effect of non-deductible expense 2,277,014 1,918,287

Total tax expense 312,607 68,541

Effective tax rate (%) 5 10

10. Property & equipment At Additions/ Disposal/ At

2020 1 Jan. transfer transfer 31 Dec.

Cost GH¢ GH¢ GH¢ GH¢

Leasehold land and buildings 6,627,368
   

-
             

- 6,627,368
         Motor vehicles 445,395

      
-

             
-

               
445,395
           Furniture, fittings & equipment 763,196

      

35,719

         

-

                   

798,915

           
7,835,959 35,719 - 7,871,678

At Charge for At

Depreciation 1 Jan. the year Disposal 31 Dec.

GH¢ GH¢ GH¢ GH¢

Leasehold land and buildings 170,435

      

132,547

       

-

                   

302,982

           Motor vehicles 312,124

      

70,156

         

-

                   

382,280

           Furniture, fittings & equipment 240,849

      

141,162

       

-

                   

382,011

           
723,408 343,865 - 1,067,273

Net book value

At 31 December 2020 6,804,405

At 31 December 2019 7,112,551

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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10. Property & equipment - continued

2019 At At

Cost 1 Jan. Additions 31 Dec.

GH¢ GH¢ GH¢

Leasehold land 6,617,768 9,600             6,627,368

Motor vehicles 445,395       -               445,395            
Furniture, fittings & equipment 712,946 50,250

7,776,109     59,850           7,835,959         

At Charge for At

Depreciation 1 Jan. the year 31 Dec.

GH¢ GH¢ GH¢

Leasehold land 38,080 132,355
         

170,435

Motor vehicles 232,302
       

79,822
           

312,124
            

Furniture, fittings & equipment 104,120 136,729 240,849

374,502 348,906 723,408

Net book value

At 31 December 2019 7,112,551

2020 2019

11 Receivables GH¢ GH¢

Members receivables 569,881

         

449,685

            Provision for bad and doubtful debt (569,881) (449,685)

-

                  

-

                  Staff Receivables 140,804

         

221,686

            Prepayment 31,568 123,585

Other receivables 375,958 53,174

548,330 398,445

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

763,196
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2020 2019

GH¢ GH¢

7,200,000 -  

2020 2019

GH¢ GH¢

132,362 360,042

35 30

132,397 360,072

2020 2019

GH¢ GH¢

74,125 29,000

910,204 914,292

984,329 943,292

2020 2019

GH¢ GH¢

149,575 194,855

87,000 81,377

236,575 276,232

2020 2019

GH¢ GH¢

480,560

           

204,923

            

Discount rate

Salary increase

12 Held to maturity investments

Fixed Deposits

13 Cash and bank balances

Current account balances

Petty cash account

14 Payables

Members Companies

Sundry creditors

15 Accruals

Accrued charges

Audit fee

16 Other long term employee benefits

Long term benefits accrued

2020 2019 2018

13.5% 14.7% 14.7%

7.0% 6.0% 6.0%

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

The policy on other long term employee benefit for junior staff is to enjoy their one month salary for 
every five years spent. Management and senior staff are given benefits  in kind and 10 days for every 
year served  at the time of retirement. 

The range of actuarial assumptions applied in calculating the liabilities for other long-term employee 
benefits is as follows:
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17 Financial risk management      
The Chamber's activities expose it to a variety of risks, including, financial risk, credit risk, foreign 
currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Chamber's overall risk management programme focuses 
on the identification and management of risks and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on its 
financial performance, Investment policies are in place which help manage liquidity, and seek to 
maximise return within an acceptable level of interest rate risk.      
 
This section summarises the way the Chamber manages key risks:      
 
The Chamber controls and manages the financial risks connected to the business segments with the 
objective of limiting these risks.      
       
The identification, analysis and valuation of financial risks as well as the decision concerning the 
application of financial instruments to manage these risks are carried out essentially by the Chamber's 
Management  and the Finance and Budget Committee.      
       
The Chamber's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: Market risk (including currency risk and  
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Chamber's overall risk management programme 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on its 
financial performance, but the Chamber does not hedge any risks.      
 
Market risk      
       
Foreign exchange risk      
"The Chamber operates locally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar bank accounts denominated in foreign currency.  
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities. "      

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019

GH¢ GH¢

1,616 2,654Assets

The following table details the Chamber's sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the cedi against 
the US Dollar. A 10% sensitivity rate is used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in 
foreign exchange rates. For each sensitivity, the impact of change in a single factor is shown, with other 
assumptions unchanged.      

31-Dec-20 Scenario 1 Scenario 2

Amount 10% increase 10% decrease 

GH¢ GH¢ GH¢

6,292,981 6,922,279       5,663,683         
12,671,061 13,938,167 11,403,955Funds and equity



Assuming no management actions, a series of such rises would increase surplus for 2020 by GH¢629,298 
while a series of such falls would decrease surplus for 2020 by GH¢629,298.  Also a series of such rises 
would increase the funds and equity  by GH¢1,267,106 whilst a series of such falls would decrease funds 
and equity by GH¢1,267,106.      
      
The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year:      

2020 2020 2019 2019

GH¢ GH¢ GH¢ GH¢

Selling Buying Selling Buying

US Dollar 5.7631 5.7573
        

5.5365 5.5309
 

"The Chamber has exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that member companies are unable to pay 
subscriptions in full when due.Other areas where credit risk arises include cash and cash equivalents, 
deposits with banks and other receivables."      
       
The Chamber has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The Chamber raises debit notes for 
subscriptions to member companies at the beginning of each year. This is based on its planned activities 
and programmes for the year. The amount of subscription payable by each member company is based on 
the category of the company namely  Represented Members, Affiliates,  Contract Miners and Associated 
Members. Limits on the level of subscription payable are approved annually by the Council Members.      
 
Management information reported to the Council includes details of provisions for impairment on loans 
and receivables and subsequent write-offs. No collateral is held for any of the above assets.  All 
receivables that are neither past due or impaired are within their approved credit limits. All receivables 
past due by more than 180 days are considered to be impaired, and are carried at their estimated 
recoverable value.      
 
The Chamber manages the credit quality of financial assets using internal credit ratings. The table below 
shows the credit quality by class of asset for all financial assets exposed to credit risk, based on the 
Chamber's internal credit rating system. The amounts presented are gross of impairment allowances.      

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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High grade

 Standard 

grade 

Past due but 

not impaired

Individually 

impaired Total

GH¢ GH¢ GH¢ GH¢ GH¢

Cash and Bank 132,397
       

             -                  -                    -   132,397
            

Receivables 516,762
       

             -                  -             569,881 1,086,643
         

Investments 7,200,000              -                  -                    -   7,200,000
         

7,849,159              -                  -             569,881           8,419,040 

High grade

Standard 

grade

Past due but 

not impaired

Individually 

impaired Total

GH¢ GH¢ GH¢ GH¢ GH¢

Cash and Bank 360,072

       

             -                  -                    -   360,072

            Receivables 274,860

       

             -                  -             449,685 724,545

            Investments -              -                  -                    -   -

                     

634,932              -             449,685           1,084,617 

Age of impaired member receivables

2020 2019

GH¢ GH¢

569,881 449,685365 days

2020

Totals

Neither past due nor 

impaired

Totals

2019

Neither past due nor 

impaired

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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18  Liquidity risk      
The liquidity risk is the risk of the Chamber to remain solvent at any time to fulfil due obligations in time to 
have the possibility of obtaining necessary financial means from investors. There is an extensive need for 
liquid funds in managing the Chamber.                                                                                                                                         
 
The Chamber is exposed to daily calls on its available cash for settlement of the Chamber's programs and 
administration expenses.   Liquidity and financial flexibility at any time is granted through existent liquid 
funds and the available financing margin. Based on the results of the Chamber's strategy and the 
Chamber planning processes, day-to-day liquidity planning is effected, thus offering a current status of 
the estimated casted development of the liquidity. Medium and long term financing needs are determined 
by means of this forecast of the expected cash flows.      
 
"Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash balances, and the availability of 
funding from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.The table below analyses the financial 
liabilities into the relevant maturity grouping base on the remaining  period at the reporting date to the 
contractual maturity date."      
 
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flow, whereas the Chamber 
manages the liquidity risk based on a different basis (see note above for details), not resulting in a 
significantly different analysis.      



MEMBERSHIP REGISTER

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2020

147



ADAMUS RESOURCES LIMITED
Accra office 

Registered Office : 18 Coleman Street,
  Behind Fidelity Bank
  Dzorwulu, Accra
Digital Address :  GA122-2410
Telephone : 0302 77 68 71
Fax : 0302 77 68 71
Nkroful Site :  P.O. Box 31 
  Esiama, Western Region 

ANGLOGOLD ASHANTI  LIMITED
Accra Office
Registered Office : Gold House, Patrice Lumumba Road
  Roman Ridge, Accra
  P. O. Box 2665, Accra
Telephone :  (0302) 743401, (0302) 743400
Fax : (0302) 778155
E-mail :  easubonteng@anglogoldashanti.com
Website :  www.AngloGoldAshanti.com

AngloGold Ashanti Iduapriem Mine
Registered Office : P.O. Box 283, Tarkwa
Telephone : (0302)652000  /0277 551777/
  0277 551 888, 0244 322 049 /  
  0244 322 066
Fax :  (0312) 3 20372
E-mail :  sadjei@anglogoldashanti.com

AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Mine  
Registered Office : P.O. Box 10, Obuasi
Telephone :  0302 652000
Fax :  032 2440352
Email  :  easubonteng@anglogoldashanti.com.gh  

ASANKO GOLD GHANA LIMITED 
Accra Office 
Registered Office : 4 Sir Arku Korsah Rd, Airport Res. Area 
P.O. Box CT 6153 Cantonments Accra
Telephone : (0302) 761454 - 0243 690 224
Fax :  (0302) 761 454
Email :  frederick.attakumah@asanko.com   
Website :  www.asanko.com
 
Esaase Project  : P.O. Box 50 Nkawie-Toase, 
  Ashanti Reg. 

R E P R E S E N T E D   M E M B E R S  -  L E V E L    A

REGISTER OF MEMBERS 
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CHIRANO GOLD MINES
Accra office 

Registered Office : Block A, 2nd Floor  
  Office No. 1 (A.S. 1) 
  Marvel House # 148 Giffard Road
  Cantonments, Accra 
Telephone : (0302) 786079
Fax.(0302) 786078
Email :  terence.watungwa@kinross.com
Website :  www.kinrossgold.com 

Bibiani Site : P.O. Box 57, Bibiani 
Telephone :  0244 332 734 - 8
Fax :  0244 391 447

  
GHANA MANGANESE COMPANY LIMITED
Accra Office 
Registered Office : No. 10 3rd Circular Road
  Cantonments, Accra 
  P.O. Box M. 183, Accra 
Telephone : (0302) -  799 983 / 0244 334 017
Fax :  (0302) - 799 981
Website :  www.ghamang.com.gh

Nsuta Site : P.O. Box 2, Nsuta Wassaw
Telephone : (03123) - 03030 
Fax :  (03123) - 20443 
Email :  wmensah@ghamang.com.gh 

GOLD FIELDS GHANA 
Accra Office
Registered Office : # 7, Dr Amilcar Cabral Road
  Airport Residential Area, Accra 
  P.O. Box KA 30742, Airport, Accra
Telephone : (302) 770189, 770190, 770191
Fax :  (302) 770187   
Email  :  nina.klufio@goldfields.com.gh 
  www.goldfields.com

 
Gold Fields Tarkwa Mine 
Tarkwa 
Registered Office : P.O. Box 26, Tarkwa
Telephone : (03123) 22400 / 22409 / 20449 
Fax : (03123) 20254 / 20327
Email :  stephen.osei-bempah@goldfields.com.gh
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Abosso Goldfields Limited
Damang

Registered Office : P.O. Box 208 Tarkwa
Telephone :  (03123) 22419 / 22417
Fax : 0277 900001 / 0277 900002
Email :  michiel.vandermerwe@goldfields.com.gh
 
 
GOLDEN STAR RESOURCES 
Accra Office 
Registered Office : House No. 19, Deila Court, 
  Patrice Lumumba St. Accra 
  PO. Box KIA16075, Airport, Accra
Telephone :  (0302) 210810 
E-mail :  gboakye@gsrgh.com  
 

Golden Star Wassa Ltd
Akyempim, via Tarkwa

Registered Office : Private Mail Bag, Akyempim
Telephone :  0277 740 850
Fax : (3123) 20295

 
NEWMONT GHANA LIMITED
Accra office 
Registered Office : 40/41 Senchi Street
  Airport Residential Area, Accra
  Private Mail Bag, Airport Post Office
Telephone : 030 7011852, 030 7011855
Fax : 0302 518 783
Email :  ghanacommunications2@newmont.com
Website :  www.newmont.com 

Kenyase Mine 
Kenyasi, Ahafo
Registered Office : 40/41 Senchi Street
  Airport Residential Area, Accra
  Private Mail Bag, Airport Post Office
  Box 59, Kenyase, Ahafo
Telephone :  030 7011852, 030 7011855
Email :  ghanacommunications2@newmont.com
Website :  www.newmont.com
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Akyem Project     
New Abirem, Eastern Region :  PO Box 251, Nkawkaw
Telephone : 030 7011852
Fax : 030 7011855
Email :  ghanacommunications2@newmont.com
  www.newmont.com 

PERSEUS MINING (GHANA) LTD.
Accra Office 
Registered Office : 4 Chancery Court, 147A 
  PO Box CT 2576 Cantonments, Accra
Telephone : (0302) 760530 / 767924
Fax : (0302) 760528
Email :  stephen.ndede@perseusmining.com 
Website :  www.perseusmining.com  

Site Office : Ayanfuri and Nanankwa
Telephone :  0244 318 605 / (0322) 085030

                                

AFRICAN MINING SERVICES GHANA
Accra office 
Registered Office : No.13, Patrice Lumumba Road    
  Airport Residential Area
  PMB - K.I.A.
Telephone : (0302) 611 733
Fax : (0302) 763274
Email :  enquuiries@amsgh.com 

Tarkwa Site  : P. O. Box 221, Tarkwa
Telephone : (03123) -20348/20410/20797/
  03123-20798/20799
Fax : (03123)-20793/20794/20795
Email :  jfynn@amsgh.com 

AFRICAN UNDERGROUND MINING SERVICES
Accra Office
Registered Office : No. 13, Patrice Lumumba Road
  Airport Residential Area
  PMB - K.I.A
Telephone :  (0302) 763875
Fax :  (0302) 763274
Email :  enquiries@aumsgh.com 

CONTRACT MINING MEMBERS



ENGINEERS AND PLANNERS
Registered Office : C 211 21 Abelemkpe St. 
  P.O. Box CT 4792 Cantonments
Telephone : (0302) - 764649 / 765547
Fax  : (0302) - 734030
Email :  aahmed@engplanners.com

PW MINING INTERNATIONAL 
Registered Office : 10 Abidjan Avenue, East Legon 
  P. O. Box CT-2475, Cantonments, Accra
Telephone : (0302) 518112/ (0302) 518113/ (0302) 
518116
Fax  : 0302 518117
Email :  pwg@pwmil.com
Website :  www.pwmil.com 

RAMOTH SERVICES LTD.
Registered Office : HME Yard, AGA Obuasi Mine
  PO Box KS 4755 Kumasi 
Telephone : 0244 929 045 / 0244 882 174 
  0244 612 665 / 03220 26976
Email : info@ramothservices.com 

ROCKSURE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
Registered Office : No. 6 Addis Ababa Road
  East Legon, Accra
  P. O. Box 12846 
  Accra North - Ghana
Telephone : (0302) 549444
Email : info@rocksureintl.com 

THONKET PLANT POOL
Adum
Registered Office : Box 1196
  Adum, Kumasi
Telephone : 0507307301
Email :   thonket@gmail.com

UNDERGROUND MINING ALLIANCE
AMS Office
Registered Office : Airport Residential Area
  PMB- KIA, Accra 
Telephone : (0302) 611 333
Email :  enquiries@aumsgh.com
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AZUMAH RESOURCES GHANA LIMITED 
Accra Office
Registered Office : House No. 5 Kinshasha St. 
  East Legon
  PO Box CT 452 
  Cantonments, Accra 
Telephone : 0244 314 075/0244 314 700 / 0556 771 236
Emails :  paulatta@yahoo.com 
  hector.nyinaku@azumahresources.com.au
  info@azumahresources.com.au  
Site Office : Kalsegra Camp
  P.O. Box ND 24
  Nadowli , UWR 

CARDINAL RESOURCES GHANA
Bolgatanga
Registered Office : Durugu Residential Area, 
  Kumbosco, Bolgatanga
  P.O. Box 350
  Bolgatanga, Ghana
Telephone :  + 233 382 021 838
Email :  info@cardinalresources.com.au

MENSIN GOLD MINING LTD.
Accra Office 
Registered Office : Plot No. 11A 
  Adjetey Loop, Adentan   
  P.O. Box CT 1909 
  Cantonments Accra  
Telephone : (03220) 85000 / 0540112102
Email  :  info@mensingold.com.gh  

Bibiani Site  :   P. O. Box 98, Bibiani, 
  Western Region 
Telephone : (03220) 85000

          
PELANGIO AHAFO (G) 
 West Legon, Accra  
Registered Office : P. O. Box CT 8409 
  Cantonments, Accra   
Telephone : (0302) 400 377
Email :  tk@pelangio.com  

AFFILIATE MEMBERS GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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EXPLORATION   MEMBERS



AFRICAN ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH & CONSULTING COMPANY GHANA LTD 
Registered Office : G648/3 Samora Machel Street 
  Asylum Down, Accra 
  P.O. Box OS 303 
  Osu, Accra-Ghana 
Telephone : 0244 730 395 / 0208 982 430
Email  :  aercghana@yahoo.com  

AEL MINING SERVICES LIMITED
Accra Office
Registered Office : No.6 Odoi Kwao Street 
  Near National Banking College. 
  Airport Residential Area, Accra
  P.O. Box KIA 30384 Accra
Telephone : (0302)-773849 / 763770/762633
Fax : (0302)-773849
Email :  josephine.tawiah@aelms.com 

Site Office : P.O. Box 58
  Bogoso, Western Region 
Telephone : (0362)-20469 ext 490/1

AIA GHANA
Accra
Registered Office : Suite 214/215, Christman House
  P.O. Box CT 3701
  Cantonment Accra
Email :  info@sngpedabo.com 
Telephone : 0261874542

ANTRAK LOGISTICS 
Tema Office 
Registered Office : Mensah Utreh, Harbour Area, Tema
  P.O. Box 148, Tema 
Telephone : (0303)-218500 
Fax : (0303)-218501
Email :  info@antrak-logistics-gh.com

Airport Office : Aviance Cargo Village
  P.O. Box CT 3001 
  Cantonments, Accra 
Telephone : 0302 774225
Fax : 0302 776893
Email :  sales.ghana@bollore.com
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AFFILIATE   MEMBERS



BARBEX TECHNICAL SERVICES
Accra Office
Registered Office : No. 3 St. John Methodist Church Rd.
  Tantra Hill, Accra 
  P.O. Box  GP 208, Accra
Telephone ; (0302) 420050/ 0302 - 410176
Fax : (0302) 420051
E-mails  : henrytabi@barbexonline.com
  piller@barbexonline.com

Site Office (Tarkwa) : GAG Teberebie Site
Telephone :  0544-350616

B5 PLUS
Head Office
Registered : Kpone Police Barrier Tema
  Box 853 Kpone
Telephone : 0243 549 523
Email :  auditor@b5plus.com 

CARMEUSE LIME PRODUCTS LIMITED
Registered Office : Carmeuse Lime Products (Gh) Ltd.
  Sofokrom House 
  P.O. Box 1163, Takoradi
Telephone : (03120) - 92199/ 91145
Fax : (03120) - 46072
Email  :  carmeuse@carmeuseghana.com 

CHAMPION OIL
Adabraka
Registered Office : Dakwa House, Adabraka
  Box AD 218 
  Adabraka
Telephone : 024-4958357
Email :  championoil06@yahoo.com 

CUMMINS GHANA LIMITED
Registered Office : Former KTS Yard, South Odorkor, Accra 
  Winneba Road
  P. O. Box WJ 773 
  Weija Accra
Telephone : (0302) 301 451
Fax : (0302) 301 201
E-mail : frederick.aryeetey@cummins.com 
  ghana.distributor@cummins.com
  Isaac.budu@cummins.com 
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DHL GLOBAL FORWARDING  
Registered Office : 53 Patrice Lumumba Road, 
  Airport Residential Area 
  P.O. Box DTD 36 
  Cantonments, Accra 
Telephone : (0302)-742 444 / 020 222 4047
Fax : (0302)-774798
Email  :  salesdgfghana@dhl.com 

DRA GHANA LTD
Accra
Registered Office : Box MD 1027
  Madina
  25 Bathur St, 
  East Legon
Telephone : (0302) 554223
Email :  augustine.okyere@draglobal.com 

ELECTROFAX ENGINEERING SERVICES
Registered Office : Comm.25, Block # 55B & 55A Link Str. Tema 
  PO Box 46, Tarkwa   
Telephone : (03123) 20074  /  20178
Fax : (03120) 28704
Email :  thomasasarebaffour@ymail.com

FLUICONNECTO GHANA
Registered Office : Plot 38, Block 15, Section 001, Abelemkpe
  Location HMD Forewin, Accra
  Accra
Telephone : +233 244 987 297
E-mail : sales.gh@hyspec.com

GASO PETROLEUM LTD 
Registered Office : F22/5 Danquah Circle Accra 
 : PO Box CT 7697 Cantonments, Accra 
Telephone : 0244 343 126
E-mail : Isaac.asante@gasopetroleumgh.com
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GHANA OIL COMPANY LTD
Head Office
Registered : Junction of Kojo Thompson & Adjabeng Roads,
  House No. D659/4
  Accra
  P.O. Box GP 3183
  Accra
Telephone : (+233) 30-2688-215 / 0540-127100 
  050 162 3383
Email :  info@goil.com.gh 

GOLDER ASSOCIATES (GH) LIMITED
Registered Office : 33A Senchi Street
  Airport Res. Area
  P.O. Box Ka16092
  K.I.A. Accra.
Telephone : (0302) - 779124
Email :  reginald_hammah@golder.com 
  rhammah@golder.com  

INTERPLAST  LIMITED
Registered Office : Plot No. 109, Spintex Road
  P.O. Box AD 330
  Adabraka, Accra.
Telephone : (0302) - 812799/ (0302) - 819000
Fax : (0302) - 813490
Email :  kumar@interplast.com 
  pipes@interplast.com

 
INTERTEK MINERALS LTD

Registered Office : P.O. Box 311 Tarkwa  
Telephne : (0312) 320386 / (0312) 320246
Email :  minerals.ghana@intertek.com 

KAL Tire Mining Tire Group 
Registered : P. O. Box 1152, Takoradi 
Telephone :   (03120) - 24439/ (03120) - 24296
Fax :  (03120)-24313 / (03120)-22007
Email :  john.menya@kaltire.com 
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KEK INSURANCE BROKERS
Registered Office : KEK House, Airport Res. Area, Senchi St.
  P.O. Box AN 6681
  Accra-North
Telephone : (0302) - 764023/764390/764210 
Fax : (0302) - 760614
Email :  kek_insurance@ighmail.com
Website :  http/www.ghanaclassifieds.com/kek 

          
KNIGHT PIESOLD CONSULTING
Registered Office : 20, Second Close, Airport Res. Area, 
  P.O. Box CT4122, Cantonments-Accra
Telephone : 0302 783060 / 0302 784288
  0302 783066
E-mail : accra@knightpiesold.com

KPMG
Registered Office : 13 Yiyiwa Drive Abelenkpe
  GA 123 6302
  PO Box GP 242 Accra 
Telephone : 0302 770454
  0302 771500
Email : info@kpmg.com.gh 

LIEBHERR MINING GHANA LIMITED
Registered Office : No. 1A Dr. Amilcar Cabral Close 
  Airport Residential Area, Accra 
  Private Mail Bag
  KIA - Accra
Telephone : (0302) 743 777
Email :  info.1mg@liebherr.com 

LOGISTICS DIRECT LIMITED
Registered Office  : 4 16, AFGO Cargo Village KIA
  Private Mail Bag, K. I. A., Accra
Telephone : (0302) 770418/770419
Fax : (0302) 762257
Email  :  info@logisticsdirect.com.gh 

MANTRAC CO.
Registered Offfice : Ring Road West, Accra
  P.O. Box 5207, Accra-North
Telephone : (0302)-221980, 225822, 232385
Fax : (0302)-221950
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MAXAM GHANA LIMITED
Head Office
Registered Office : House No. 29,  2nd Circular Road
  Cantonments 
  P.O. Box CT 9053 Cantonments, Accra 
Telephone : (0302) 797 257

Site Office Location : Former SGMC Tech Office  
  Coronation Hill 
  P.O. Box 88, Tarkwa
Telephone : (03123) - 20536
Fax : (03123) - 20400
Email :  sfrimpong@maxam.net 
 

MESTO MINERALS  
Registered Office : No. 5 Akosombo Street
  Airport Residential Area  
  P.O. Box CT 5857 Cantonments Accra
Telephone : (0302) 77 00 24  / 765 939
Fax : (0302) 77 00 25   
 
Email :  mikedjan-sampson@metso.com

MIWATEK GHANA
Abelemkpe 
Registered Office : Ashikakle st. Abelemkpe
  Box LG395 Legon
Telephone :  027790138665
Email :  hermang@miwatek.co.za 

NEXANS KABELMETAL (GH.) LTD. 
Registered Office : Heavy Industrial Area, Tema 
  P.O. CO 157 
  Tema, Ghana
Telephone :  (0303) 304102 / 3  
Fax :  (0303) 302 184
Email :  Selasi.kpodo@nexans.com 
 

ORICA GHANA LIMITED 
Registered Office : No. 83 Osu Badu Street 
  Airport West
  PMB CT 472 
  Cantonments, Accra 
Telephone :  (0302)-767 728/ 0556 778 134
Email :  Jeffrey.akurang@orica.com 
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PANAFRICAN MINING & EQUIPMENT SERVICES  GH.  LTD 
Tarkwa Site Office     
Registered Office : Akyempim Tarkwa Takoradi Road
  P.O. Boxc N61 
  Nsuta Wassaw Tarkwa
Telephone : 0302 - 215 840
Email :  m.kudjoe@panafricangroup.com 

PRICEWATERHOUSE COOPERS
Registered Office : UNA HOUSE, Airport City
  PMB CT42 Cantonments
  Accra Ghana
Telephone : (0302) - 761500
  (0302) - 761544
Email :  Kingsley.owusi-ewli@gh.pwc.com
  pwc.ghana@gh.pwc.com 
 

RANA MOTORS & METAL WORKS ENGINEERING CO. LTD. 
Registered Office : Graphic Road 
  P.O. Box AN 7617 
  Accra North 
Telephone : (0302) - 226 839 
Fax : (0302) - 226 793
Email :  vibi_chandra@ranamotors.com 

REROY CABLES LTD. 
Registered Office : Tema Heavy Industrial Area
  PO Box 8503 Accra North 
Telephone : 0201283350/0302257587
  0302 631 338
E-mail : Corporate.secretary@reroycable.com
  info@reroycable.com

RIEPCO GHANA LIMITED
Registered Office : Opposite Cocoa processing, Tema, 
  P.O. Box 985, Tema
Telephone : (0303) - 206365 / 206945
Telex :  2355 RIEPCO GH
Fax : (0303)- 207700
Email :  ctdarko@riepco.com 
  ctdarko@yahoo.co.uk 
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RIKAIR LIMITED 
Registered Office : House No. C638/3 
  C5th Crescent Asylum Down
  P.O. Box 58 Trade Fair Centre, Accra 
Telephone : (0302) - 231 444 / 0542 770 207
Email :  tina.buahin@rikair.com
  info@rikair.com;  

SAHARA NATURAL RESOURCES LTD. 
Registered Office : 27 Julius Nyerere Road, North North 
  PO Box AB 64, Abeka Accra 
Telephone : 0244 380 007
E-mail : munks@saharanr.com

SANDVIK MINING & CONSTRUCTION GHANA LIMITED
Registered Office : Opposite Mary Mother of Good Council school
  Hse No. C556/14 RMS Street, Airport, Accra 
GP Address : GA-154-6433
Telephone : (0302) - 761042/765802 
Fax : (0302) - 765804
Email :  nuhu.salifu@sandvik.com
  Samuel.brewu@sandvik.com  
 

SECOROC GHANA LIMITED
Accra Office 

Registered Office : P. O. Box 10071 
  Accra-North
Telephone : (0322) 540369
Email :  janet.adanusa@epiroc.com 

Site Office (Obuasi) : P. O. Box 119, Obuasi
Telephone : (03220)- 40297/  0208712330
Fax :  (03220) 40385

 
SERVACO PPS  
Postal Address : PO Box CO 1384, Community 4 Tema
Telephone : (303) 207 709
  (303) 207 710 
E-mail:  sattram@servaco.com.gh  
  sales@servaco.com.gh    
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SGS LABORATORY
Registered Office : Cocoshe Building Block B, 
  4th Floor, Street No. B24A
  Agostinho Neto Close, Airport Residential Area 
  P. O. Box 732
  Accra - Ghana
Telephone : (0302) - 773994, 774535
Fax : (0302) - 764714
Email :  david.wilson@sgs.com   

SMT GHANA
Accra
Registered Office : Volvo House 90/91, Fadama Street
  South Industrial Area 
  PO Box KIA 9228 Accra
Telephone : +233 30 268 33 51
E-mail :  info.ghana@smt.network

Tarkwa : Tamso Sector 7 Teberebie Junction
  PO Box 417 Tarkwa
Telephone : +233 31 232 1604
Email :  info.tarkwa@smt.network

 
STELLAR LOGISTICS GHANA LIMITED
Head Office
Registered Office : Behind Weatherford, 
  1 Cape Coast  Rd, Takoradi 
  P.O. Box TD 200 Takoradi
Telephone : (03120) 22239
  (03120) 222 37
Email  :  ajara.sanule@stellar-africa.com 

 Accra Office  : Grand Oyeeman Building, 
  Airport Residential Area, Accra 
  PMB CT 201
  Cantonments
Telephone : 0540 120013
Email  :  millicent.tutu@stellar-africa.com

Tema Office : Hull Blyth Buidling Gateway House, 
  Community 1 
Telephone : 0544 315 302
Email  : Peter.Taylor@stellar-africa.com 
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SUPERMARITIME GHANA LIMITED
Registered Office : Industrial Area, Community 1, Tema
  P.O. Box 151
  New Town, Tema.
Telephone : (0303) - 202874/ 202036
Fax : (0303) - 206777
Email :  krale@supermaritime.net 
    

TOTAL PETROLEUM GHANA LTD. 
Registered Office : Total House, 25 Liberia House, Accra 
  P.O. Box GP 553, Accra 
Telephone : (0302) 664921 - 4
  (0302) 664925
Email  :  paawesi.ackon@total-ghana.com 
  Sunil.gandhi@total-ghana.com 
  totalgh.inquiry@totalmkt-gh.com 

VEHRAD TRANSPORT & HAULAGE
Registered Office : Plot 6A 16/17 Heavy Ind. Area, Tema 
  P.O. Box GP 2683 Accra 
Telephone :  (0302) - 202369, 205521
  (0302) - 205524
Email :  vehrad@africaonline.com.gh 

VEOLIA GHANA LIMITED 
Registered Office : Capital Place, 11 Patrice Lumumba Rd
  Airport Residential Area, Accra 
  P.O. Box KN 1367 
  Kaneshie Accra 
Telephone : 054 0121 674 / 024 4511492 
Email :  fred.anane@veolia.com 

VIVO ENERGY 
Registered Office : Shell House, High Street, Accra
  P.O. Box 1097, Accra
Telephone : (0302)- 428282
  (0302) - 662087
Email  :  kobina.budu@vivoengery.com 

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2020

163



WAYOE ENGINEERING & CONSTRUCTION LTD. 
Registered Office : Plot B.997/11/1 Takoradi Apona Ahanta 
Highway
  PO Box MC 2861
Telephone : 0544 355 774
E-mail : info@wayoeltd.com
  stephen@wayoeltd.com  

WEIR MINERALS WEST AFRICA
Tema
Registered Office : Plot # Industrial 9/1A
  Akasanoma Road, 
  Industrial Area Tema
  PO Box CT 3170 Cantonments
Telephone : 030-964501/0303965652
Email :  andrew.ayirebi@mail.weir 

WEST AFRICAN FORGINGS LTD. 
Registered Office : Heavy Industrial Area A/44/1, 
  Steel Work Road (next to Tema Steel.)
  P.O. Box 320, Tema
Telephone : (0303) -302011/302386
  0243 486 570
  (0303)-304908
Email :  himesh.wafor@gmail.com 

ZEN PETROLEUM 
Registered Office : 13 Patrice Lumumba Rd, 
  Airport Residential Area, Accra 
  P.O. Box CT 3692 Cantonments  Accra
  Tel. (0302) 216 660 
Email  :  info@zenpetroleum.com  
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ASSOCIATE MEMBER INSTITUTIONS

ENERGY FOUNDATION
Registered Office : No.5, East Legon, Accra 
  P.O. Box CT 1671 
  Cantonments Accra
Telephone : (0303) - 938 222, 937 247
Fax : 0302- 515 613
Email :  info@ghanaef.org 

GHANA ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION
Registered Office : Kwabenya, Accra
  P.O. Box LG 80, Legon, Accra
Telephone : (0302)-400310/400549
Fax : (0302)-400807
Email :  akahoed@yahoo.com

GHANA GEOLOGICAL SURVEY AUTHORITY
Registered Office : No.12, 7th Ave, adj. to Ecobank (GH)  
  P.O. Box M.80, Accra. 
Telephone : (0302) - 679239, 679237
Fax : (0302)- 679238
Email :  ghgeosur@ghana.com 

GHANA INTEGRATED ALUMINIUM DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Accra
Registered Office : G 077 06981
  3rd Floor, Africa Trade House.
  Liberia Road, West Ridge
Telephone : (0302) 943448

METAL DESIGN PROGRAMME (KNUST)
Registered Office : KNUST, Kumasi
  Department of Industrial Ark
  College of Art and Built Environment
  KNUST, Kumasi

MINERALS COMMISSION
Registered Office : No.9 Switchback Rd. Cantonments
  P.O. Box M.248, Accra.
Telephone : (0302) - 772783, 772786,773053  
Fax : (0302) - 773324
Email :  mincom@mc.ghanamining.org



PRECIOUS MINERALS MARKETING COMPANY
Registered Office : Diamond House
  Accra Central,
  Diamond House,
  Kinbu Road.
Telephone : +233 20 981 4844
E-mail : enquiries@pmmc.gov.gh
Digital Address :  GA-143-2548

UNIVERSITY OF MINES & TECHNOLOGY, TARKWA  
Tarkwa
Registered Office : P.O. Box 237, Tarkwa
Telephone : (03123) 20492, 20324, 20280
Telephone(Residence) :  (03123) 20309, 20324, 20280
Fax : (03123) 20306                                                   

THE WEST AFRICAN INSTITUTE OF MINING, METALLURGY & PETROLEUM (WAIMM)
Registered Office : GS-0135-8077, Sampa Valley, Weija Accra 
  PO Box WJ899, Weija Accra 
Telephone : 0302 919575/ 0507242841
E-mail : lawrenceomensah@waimm.org

WOMEN IN MINING
Registered Office : #9 Sir Arku Korsah Road, 
  Airport Residential Area
  P.O. Box AN 6398
  Accra North
Telephone : 0302) -939-551
Email :  georgette@georgettebarnes.com 
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